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1.  Performance Report 

The purpose of this section of the Annual Report is to provide a summary of 

the purpose and activities of Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

(WSHFT) the Trust’s priorities and objectives for 2020/2021, the key risks to 

achieving these objectives and how we have performed in relation to these 

during the year. 

1.1 Welcome from the Chairman and Chief Executive 

For all of us, 2020/21 has been a year like no other. The far-reaching impacts 

of the pandemic have spread like the virus itself, affecting almost every aspect 

of our personal and professional lives. 

The coronavirus crisis has been testing, tiring and at times traumatic, 

particularly for the thousands of people working in our hospitals. 

Covid-19 is a vicious illness. Struggling to breathe is an horrific symptom. 

More than 20% people admitted to hospital with the disease die. 

The tragedy of their loss is particularly difficult for families who cannot spend 

as much time as they would wish with their loved one because the virus is so 

contagious. 

Staff too must contend with the trauma of such high mortality and bear the 

burden of being the patient’s only contact and comfort as their symptoms 

worsen.  

Our teams have cared for the most severely unwell patients from behind an 

impersonal veil of protective equipment that masks smiles, makes every task 

more difficult and communication harder. 

At the same time, around 10% of our workforce contracted Covid-19. Two 

colleagues tragically paid the ultimate price and we grieve alongside their 

loved ones for their loss. 

Many of our people continue to experience debilitating symptoms associated 

with Long Covid and the toll on mental health and wellbeing has proved high.  

Despite this, the dedication shown by our staff throughout the year has been 

truly exceptional.  

Their response to the crisis has been incredible and we are extraordinarily 

proud of everything they have achieved.  
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We must remember, pandemic pressures at work have not been experienced 

by staff in isolation.  

They are compounded by the many legitimate concerns we have all carried 

for our family and friends this past year. 

The virus separated us from our loved ones, support networks and all the 

social activities that help boost our wellbeing.  

COVID brought us much closer together 

While Covid forced us apart as never before, professionally it has also brought 

us much closer together. 

Indeed, as we draw these reflections, we are writing as chief executive and 

chairman not of Western Sussex Hospitals (WSHFT) but University Hospitals 

Sussex NHS Foundation Trust, created on 1 April 2021. 

It was the Covid crisis, and the closer collaboration and team-working it 

necessitated, that ultimately convinced us to pursue a merger with Brighton 

and Sussex University Hospitals (BSUH). 

After nearly four years of shared leadership, our joint response to the 

emergence of a highly infectious novel coronavirus made clear the benefits of 

drawing on the best of both Trusts.  

Colleagues, teams and departments from WSHFT and BSUH rallied together 

to expand our wealth of expertise and do battle with the virus 

The crisis showcased what our staff excel at; an unwavering commitment to 

patient care, resilience, adaptability, teamwork and, in particular, innovation. 

In just a few short weeks, the layout of our hospitals was transformed into 

Covid red and green areas as we introduced stringent new infection control 

measures. 

Every service reassessed the way patients accessed care and adapted their 

working practices as we learned more and more about the disease and its 

transmission. 

We rapidly developed new procurement and supply functions, developed 

workforce hubs to redeploy staff and introduced virtual consultations for 

thousands of patients. 

All this was achieved in a matter of weeks as wave one struck, peaking in 

mid-April 2020.  
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A set of fresh challenges 

These important measures to keep our patients and staff safe need to stay in 

place as long as Covid-19 is circulating in our communities. 

This, in turn, presents its own set of fresh challenges. In response to a 

national directive, all non-urgent hospital activity was paused during wave 

one, causing waiting lists to increase dramatically. 

As the summer months returned to us a sense of normality, our greatest 

concern was for the thousands of people whose care had been disrupted in 

the preceding months. 

The scale of the challenge was, and continues to be, unprecedented.  

Long waiting lists are made worse by infection prevention protocols that 

reduce how many patients we can see at the very time we need to expand 

capacity. 

As the country ate out to help out in August 2020, we continued to draw on 

the expertise of our people to deliver care in new ways to ensure we could 

see as many people as safely as possible. 

More than 162,000 virtual appointments were held for outpatients, therapies 

and fracture clinics and ‘virtual waiting rooms’ were set up to reduce the need 

for patients to attend hospital in person. 

We introduced home testing kits for patients awaiting certain diagnostic 

endoscopy procedures. This helped us prioritise patients in most urgent need 

and also spared hundreds of others from unnecessary invasive 

colonoscopies. 

By October, thanks to the incredible resilience and ingenuity of our staff we 

were back to providing more than 90% of our pre-Covid hospital activity. 

The threat of winter loomed large, however, and concerns about a second 

wave were soon realised as a new variant, first detected in Kent, began to 

ravage communities in Sussex. 

The second wave 

Hospital admissions climbed sharply and in January 2021 they peaked at 

three times worse than we had experienced in the first wave.  

As the country locked down for a third time and Covid cases exploded, the 

teamwork and ingenuity of our staff brought us back from the brink. 
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We expanded critical care departments and converted dozens of wards into 

new isolation areas for infectious patients. 

Hundreds of staff worked additional shifts or were redeployed into new areas 

and departments to assist wherever the need was greatest.  

For example, colleagues from paediatrics, outpatients and therapies 

supported staff in critical care, A&E and inpatient wards.  

We also saw staff from all over the organisation helping set up and run our 

vaccination hubs, including even some who returned to practice from 

retirement to support the Trust’s response. 

The hubs were incredible, providing a much-needed dose of optimism at an 

incredibly bleak time.  

Tragically, many more patients lost their lives during the second wave - again, 

in very difficult circumstances for them, their families and our staff. 

The cruelty of Covid will be its legacy. But so too will be the disruption and 

delay the pandemic has caused to the care of hundreds of thousands of 

people in need of non-Covid hospital services.  

While urgent treatment, trauma and cancer care continued, many so called 

‘less urgent’ procedures were postponed – but, for all those waiting, we know 

their health remains a most urgent concern. 

Addressing their needs is now our first priority. The challenge, however, is 

immense. For every hospital in the country, waiting lists have never been 

longer and demand continues to rise. 

Our staff are exhausted and emotionally drained. But the creation of our new 

organisation gives us fresh impetus to put our patients first and innovate in 

order to meet the challenge head on. 

We are drawing on the best from both legacy Trusts and bringing together our 

clinical teams to problem-test and devise fresh solutions.  

Their ingenuity was key to our Covid response and it remains pivotal to our 

recovery. Our 20,000 staff are our greatest asset.  

We are confident that their exemplary commitment to clinical excellence 

showcased throughout 2020/21 will ensure University Hospitals Sussex 

recovers services for patients as swiftly as possible. 

 



 

Page 10 

 

 

…………………………………………………………. 14 June 2021 

Dame Marianne Griffiths,  

Chief Executive 

 

 

……………………………………………………………. 14 June 2021 

Alan McCarthy, MBE, DL 

Chairman 
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1.2 UHSussex: Becoming one Trust 

In April 2021, after a long period of collaborative working, Western Sussex 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WSHFT) merged with Brighton and Sussex 

University Hospitals NHS Trust (BSUH) to form University Hospitals Sussex 

NHS Foundation Trust (UHSussex).  

The Trust is one of the largest in the country, providing hospital services from 

five main locations including Brighton, Haywards Heath, Worthing, Shoreham 

and Chichester. University Hospitals Sussex employs around 20,000 staff, 

caring for 1.8 million people in Sussex, with a budget of £1.2 billion. 

 

1.3 About the Trust 

Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust served a population of 

around 450,000 people across a catchment area covering most of West 

Sussex. 

Prior to our merger with Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust 

on 1 April 2021, the Trust ran three hospitals: 

 St Richard’s Hospital in Chichester 

 Southlands Hospital in Shoreham-by-Sea 

 Worthing Hospital in the centre of Worthing 

St Richard’s and Worthing hospitals provide 24-hour A&E, acute medical care, 

maternity and children’s services, while Southlands specialises in day-case 

procedures and diagnostic and outpatient appointments, and is home to the 

Trust’s eye care unit opened in June 2017. 

In addition to our three hospitals, we provide a range of services in other 

community settings, including: 

 Bognor War Memorial Hospital 

 Crawley Hospital 

 Health centres 

 GP surgeries 

 Sexual health clinics 

Western Sussex Hospitals was created in 2009 by a merger of the Royal 

West Sussex and Worthing and Southlands Hospitals NHS Trusts, and has 

been an NHS Foundation Trust since 2013. 
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Our services are delivered through four clinical divisions – Medicine, Surgery, 

Women and Children and Core Services – and two enabling ones: Corporate, 

and Facilities & Estates. 

As an NHS Foundation Trust, we also benefit from a membership of more 

than 14,000 staff, patients and members of our community, who are able to 

help guide our future plans and priorities through a range of channels 

including our Council of Governors. 

As well as representing the views of local people, our governors act as a 

“critical friend” to the Trust, holding the organisation to account and monitoring 

performance. 

Our year in numbers 

 10,110 Substantive staff members 

 211 Volunteers  

 508,283 Outpatient appointments  

 104,699 Virtual/telephone appointments 

 66,662 Inpatients treated 

 130,838 A&E attendances  

 14,131 Children’s A&E attendances  

 4,470 Babies delivered 

Further information in respect of the Trust’s operational and financial 

performance can be found at Section 1.4 

COVID-19  

2020/21 was a year like no other. The latter part of the 2019-20 financial year 

was spent preparing for the pandemic which required our hospitals to rapidly 

reconfigure its provision in order to respond to the crisis.  

Our preparation for Covid-19 started in January before the first positive case 

was announced on the 31 January 2020.  

In response to growing community cases and increasing numbers of 

hospitalised patients, WSHFT rapidly:  

• stopped all non-emergency elective surgery  

• followed national guidance to discharge patients when ready  

• increased virtual appointments to keep people at home 

• increased critical care capacity after advice to “double and then 

double again” 

• secure 24/7 mental health provision to keep people out of A&E  
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• divided our hospitals into “red” and “green” areas to treat Covid and 

non-Covid patients separately  

• redeployed staff from halted services to support where needed and 

created the workforce hub to find and fill gaps.  

Elective surgeries were paused on 20 March 2020 as staff redeployed to 

Covid areas and made room for the surge in Covid patients.  

Electives were resumed over the summer period but paused again from 12 

January 2021 to prepare for the second wave.  

Overall, 39,111 elective and non-urgent operations were carried out over the 

course of the year compared to 64,805 completed in 2019-20. Despite a much 

higher surge in Covid patients during the second wave, our teams maintained 

more elective care during this period. 

During December and January 2021 the number of patients we were treating 

with Covid-19 sharply increased to more than three times that of the wave 1 

peak. The wave 1 peak was on the 13 April with 81 Covid patients in our 

hospitals. The wave 2 peak was on 19 January with 268 Covid patients. 

COVID in numbers 2020- 21 

 

 2,077 Covid patients treated 

 193 Covid patients cared for in intensive and critical care units  

 1,619 Covid patients discharged/recovered (78%) 

 452 Covid patients sadly died (22%) 

 39,111 elective operations performed in 2020-21 despite high Covid 

numbers  

 104,699  virtual appointments held 

Vaccination 

 

The WSHFT vaccination programme commenced at Worthing Hospital on 22 

December. Learning from colleagues at the Royal Sussex County Hospital, 

which was in the first 50 hospital hubs to go live for vaccinations, the team hit 

the ground running, administering several hundred doses of the Pfizer vaccine 

from day one.  

 

As with the pandemic response, the set-up of the hospital hub brought 

together colleagues from many different departments.  

 

Our teams created new clinical spaces, set up new IT systems, established 

new booking processes and developed new patient pathways. The team 
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worked at speed to provide a safe, sustainable vaccination service, the model 

for which was adopted by partner organisations across the region.  

 

Two weeks later, the hub at St Richard’s Hospital opened to provide the same 

service for local health and care workers.  

 

Since we first opened the vaccination hub, we have administered 43,798* 

doses to healthcare workers and patients across Sussex from vaccination 

hubs in Worthing and St Richard’s.  

 

 First doses administered 26,793*  

 Second doses administered 17,005* 

 Total vaccinations administered 43,798* 

*Figures correct up to 31 March 2021. 

Merger – the creation of University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation 

Trust 

 

Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WSHFT) and Brighton and 

Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust (BSUH) have been working together 

for four years under a joint management contract that expired on 31 March 

2021.  

During this time, BSUH became the fastest improving acute hospital Trust in 

England, emerging from special measures and earning a Care Quality 

Commission rating of Good overall and Outstanding for caring. WSHFT 

meanwhile maintained its own Outstanding status and also became the first 

non-specialist acute Trust to achieve Outstanding ratings in all key inspection 

areas.  

As the end of the joint management contract approached and having worked 

increasingly closely together to respond to the global Covid-19 pandemic, the 

Trust board explored options for an ongoing relationship. We looked at 

developing a group structure, in which the two Trusts would operate 

independently alongside each other while remaining under a single 

leadership. 

 

However, as a result of regulatory and financial changes within the NHS and 

the recent successful joint-working between the Trusts, it became clear the 

best interests of patients and staff would be better served by pursuing a full 

merger.   
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We developed a strategic outline case, which was approved by NHSEI in 

September 2020. Six months of intense planning ensued as we followed a 

rigorous process to assess the case for change to enable us to complete the 

formal merger on 1 April 2021 as the joint management contract expired. 

 

Benefits 

 

The case for the merger was strong. We identified a broad range of benefits 

that would advantage patients, staff and communities across Sussex, 

including:  

• Building on our Outstanding reputation and delivering excellent care 

to the communities in Sussex 

• Strengthening leadership, governance and structures, enabling us 

to move forward quickly and keep improving care for patients 

• Creating greater ‘economies of scale’ as a larger and more 

influential NHS Trust 

• Increase our potential to use the same processes and equipment to 

support the smoother running of services 

• Creating more career opportunities across our hospitals for our 

people 

• Continuing our closer collaboration and sharing of resources as we 

restore services and manage our ongoing response to the Covid 

pandemic 

• Improving continuity of care and better access to services 

• Increasing support for services under pressure due to national 

challenges, such as increasing demand, workforce availability and 

financial pressures. 

 

The new Trust would employ nearly 20,000 people across five main hospital 

sites in Sussex, with an operating budget of more than £1 billion. It would run 

seven hospitals in Chichester, Worthing, Shoreham, Haywards Health and 

Brighton and Hove, as well as numerous community and satellite services.  

It would be responsible for all district general acute services for patients 

across Brighton and Hove, West Sussex, Mid Sussex and parts of East 

Sussex. It would also provide specialised and tertiary services across Sussex 

and parts of the South East, including neuroscience, arterial vascular surgery, 

neonatology, specialised paediatric, cardiac, cancer, renal, infectious 

diseases and HIV medicine services. 

The driving force behind our plans was our ambition to continually improve the 

care we provide.  
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Our clinical boundaries 

Against a backdrop of our pandemic response, we undertook to develop the 

full business case for merger while protecting frontline staff and services. We 

committed to not making any immediate changes to our clinical services as a 

result of the merger. We also published a set of clinical boundaries that would 

guarantee security of services including continuing to invest in: 

• Access to emergency medical care and A&E services 24 hours a 

day, seven days a week on the Princess Royal, Royal Sussex 

County, St Richards and Worthing Hospital sites 

• Maternity services at the Princess Royal, Royal Sussex County, St 

Richard’s and Worthing Hospital sites 

• A teaching hospital in conjunction with Brighton and Sussex medical 

school 

• Outpatient, day case and rapid diagnostic services across the Trust 

including on our non-acute sites 

• Tertiary service provision as part of a network of tertiary care 

providers across the regional and nationally 

• Trauma services as part of a Trauma Network that includes a Major 

Trauma Centre on the Royal Sussex County Hospital site along with 

all the supporting services this requires 

• A wide range of cancer services across Sussex, including the 

Sussex Cancer Centre on the Royal Sussex County Hospital site 

• A specialist centre for paediatric are, combined with a neonatal 

intensive care service and paediatric cancer services from the 

Royal Alexandra Children’s Hospital 

• Hyper Acute Stroke Units and other stroke services as part of a 

Sussex-wide stroke provision 

• Specialist renal care, including dialysis and other services for East 

and West Sussex 

• The system-wide benefits of the 3Ts development in line with 

Sussex Integrated Care System Long Term Plan. 

Engagement and feedback 

With NHSEI’s approval of our outline business case, we sought to gather the 

views of staff, patients, public and partners, launching an online survey in 

October 2020. The survey asked for thoughts on the vision and values of the 

proposed Trust as well as hopes and fears and opinions on a selection of 

name options. The survey attracted responses from more than 3,000 

employees across WSHFT and BSUH as well as more than 700 responses 

from patients, partners and public. 
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The responses were highly consistent and led to the identification of six new 

Trust values: compassion, communication, teamwork, respect, 

professionalism and inclusion. 

The survey feedback also helped us define a series of vision statements in 

line with our five strategic themes:  

• Sustainability - Living within our means providing high quality 

services through optimising the use of our resources. 

• People - To be the employer of choice and have the most highly 

engaged staff within the NHS. 

• Patient - Providing outstanding, compassionate care for our patients 

and their families, every time. 

• Quality - Excellent outcomes ensuring no patient comes to harm 

and no patient dies who should not have. 

• Systems and partnerships - Delivering timely, appropriate access to 

acute care as part of a wider integrated care system. 

There was also a great deal of consistency amongst the responses to the 

concerns and benefits questions, with staff identifying key benefits as: 

improved continuity of care, better career development opportunities and 

strong, consistent leadership. They raised concerns around job security, terms 

and conditions and the size of the Trust.   

Similarly, the public hoped the merger would lead to better care, better access 

and reduced travel, but were concerned about the bigger geography, 

reduction in services and the implications for staffing.  

Finally, the survey asked respondents to select their preferred option for the 

name of the new Trust. Due to the importance of our partnership relationships 

and based on survey and other feedback, the Trusts agreed that the new, 

merged Trust would be called University Hospitals Sussex.  

Developing our full business case and clinical strategy 

Following the survey, our dedicated merger team worked to develop our full 

business case, while we continued to work with teams to launch our clinical 

strategy development programme.  

Our new five year clinical strategy will identify where we can make the best 

improvements for our patients and develop new services that ensure fewer 

people in Sussex have to travel elsewhere for high quality hospital care. We 

will work closely with the rest of the Sussex Health and Care Partnership to 

realise the strategy. 
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This clinical strategy work also cements our commitment to continuing to 

invest in all the services we currently provide, including emergency, specialist, 

tertiary and trauma care. We are committed to developing our vibrant local 

hospitals and maintaining the services we know local people treasure, such as 

A&E and maternity care. By coming together as one Trust, we will have the 

experience, expertise, funds and influence to safeguard and improve hospitals 

services in Sussex. 

Approval 

On 9 March 2021, NHSEI issued its risk rating for the merger, with an overall 

rating of Amber/ Green and describing the strategic reasons for the merger as 

both ‘clear’ and ‘strongly supported’.  

On 18 March 2021, the Trust boards of both WSHFT and BSUH and the 

WSHFT Council of Governors (CoG) met to review the business case and 

vote on the proposal to submit the official application to merge. Both the 

boards and the CoG approved the proposal to apply to merge and the 

application was submitted to NHSEI on 19 March 2021. 

On 22 March 2021, we received a letter from the Secretary of State for Health 

and Social Care providing support for the proposal to merge.  

On 24 March 2021 we received approval from NHSEI to proceed with the 

merger. 

On 1 April 2021 our new Trust, University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation 

Trust, was formed. 

 

The headquarters of the Foundation Trust are:  

Chief Executive’s Office 
Worthing Hospital 
Lyndhurst Road 
Worthing 
West Sussex BN11 2DH 
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1.4 Performance Analysis 

1.4.1 Patient First 

The Trust Board recognises that much of the strength of our hospitals lies in 

the skill, enthusiasm and innovation of our staff and has actively sought to 

build an organisational culture that empowers these teams and individuals to 

make lasting changes that benefit our patients and the community. 

To do this we have developed Patient First – our leading, long-term approach 

to transforming the way we deliver services for the better. 

Patient First is a programme based on standardisation, system redesign and 

ongoing development of care pathways, built on a philosophy of incremental 

and continuous improvement led by frontline staff empowered to initiate and 

lead positive change. 

We describe the structure and focus of Patient First visually in the form of a 

triangle. 

 

The patient, first and foremost, is at the apex of the triangle, to make explicit 

the commitment that everything we do, no matter how large or small, should 

always contribute to improving outcomes and experiences for the people we 

care for in our hospitals. 

This is the ‘True North’ of our organisation – the one constant towards which 

we must always set our direction of travel in order to achieve our vision. 

The middle tier of the triangle identifies our four strategic themes on which we 

need to focus to create the organisation our patients want us to become: 
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 Sustainability 

 People 

 Quality improvement 

 Systems and partnerships 

How it is delivered 

Patient First is supported by five pillars what will support the strategic themes 

and help us achieve the targets we have set under each: 

 Strategy deployment 

 Kaizen Office 

 Capability building 

 Patient First Improvement System (PFIS) 

 Improvement Initiatives 

The Patient First Improvement Programme uses the methodologies of the 
Lean and Six Sigma improvement framework, which has been proven 
throughout the world as a highly successful system for enabling sustained 
progress towards strategic goals.  
 
This approach has enabled us to identify a True North metric and associated 
objectives for each of the strategic themes – essentially a point of focus and 
measurement that will make the strongest direct contribution to moving us 
forward towards our Patient First goal: 

True North Domain Metric Objective Executive Lead 

Patient 
Friends and 

Family Test 

Family & Friends 
Recommend Rate 
>96% 

 

Maggie Davies 

(Chief Nursing Officer) 

Sustainability 
Budget 

Management  
Breakeven 

Karen Geoghegan  

(Chief Financial Officer) 

People 
Staff engagement 

score 

Top Acute Trust  in 

the country 

Denise Farmer 

(Chief Workforce Officer) 

Quality 
Avoiding harm 

99% harm-free care 

on Patient Safety 

Thermometer 

Maggie Davies 

(Chief Nursing Officer) 

Quality 
Preventable 

mortality 

HSMR among best 

20% in the country 
George Findlay 

(Chief Medical Officer) 
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The culture of change needed to achieve service transformation on this scale 

requires a significant degree of support, which is what the triangle’s five 

underlying pillars have been created to provide – all working collectively but 

each with a specific focus of its own. 

Strategy deployment identifies and reviews the True North objectives for 

each strategic theme and is responsible for cascading these throughout the 

Trust to enable all improvement initiatives to support these common goals. 

The Kaizen Office is the Trust’s centre of excellence for the Lean techniques 

underpinning Patient First, home to a dedicated team tasked with enabling a 

consistent and sustainable Trust-wide approach to improvement over the long 

term. 

Capability building is about equipping our staff with the skills to deliver 

continuous improvement, with training available for every staff member, 

beginning at induction and going all the way through to Lean practitioner level. 

The Patient First Improvement System (PFIS) is a Trust-wide Lean 

Management system which will empower front-line staff at all levels to make 

changes aligned to the True North goals and give back ‘time to care’ by 

removing wasteful activities and improving processes. 

Improvement initiatives are specific, larger projects aligned to True North 

metrics and breakthrough goals, managed by Lean-trained staff and 

supported by the Kaizen Office. 

Patient First in 2020/21 

Patient First continues to be recognised across the Trust as giving clinical 

teams fast-track methods of problem solving, creating better leadership, 

raising standards and helping staff release more time to care for patients. 

The Kaizen Office also provides support to improvement projects across the 

Trust that have enabled us to make major advances in the quality and safety 

Systems & Partnerships Patient flow 

A&E waits under four 

hours for 95% of 

attenders  

Pete Landstrom 

(Chief Delivery Officer) 

Systems & Partnerships Patient flow 

Referral-to-treatment 

time less than 18 

weeks for 92% of 

patients  

Pete Landstrom 

(Chief Delivery Officer) 
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of patient care, for example tackling excess noise at night, which is detailed 

further in the Quality Improvement section.  

Progress against our Patient First True North objectives is described in detail 

below and within section two of this Annual Report.    

Whilst Covid-19 had an impact on our ability to provide PFIS training we are 

pleased that wards and divisions applied PFIS tools and techniques as they 

made rapid changes and tested their efficacy ensuring high quality care and 

safe practices were implemented.  2021/22 will see the relaunch of our PFIS 

team training.   

 

1.4.2 Trust True North Objectives 

The Patient – True North objective: an overall score of over 97% for patient 

satisfactions when measured through the Friends and Family Test. 

Our Friends and Family Test (FFT) patient feedback has consistently ranked 

the Trust higher than the national average. For 2020/21 we sought to build on 

our past achievements and enter the top 20% of NHS Trusts for FFT 

recommendation score. To do this we have set a ‘True North’ long-term goal 

to achieve 97% recommendation for FFT feedback, and reduce ‘not 

recommend’ rates. 

From March 2020, NHS England and Improvement temporarily suspended the 

submission of FFT data from all settings due to the Covid-19 pandemic.  

Whilst there was the suspension of the national Friends and Family Test we 

continued with our own, more detailed inpatient surveys completed by patients 

using hand-held tablets shortly before their discharge (Real Time Patient 

Experience Surveys: RTPS).  

The Trust also supports completion of the national inpatient survey 

commissioned by the CQC every year for hospital admissions where feedback 

is taken from a representative sample of patients. This is designed to be a 

one-off snapshot of experience or views that can be compared with other 

Trusts and is based on a lengthy structured questionnaire. 

Other means of monitoring experience included feedback from complaints and 

PALS enquiries, comments placed on social media and the NHS Choices 

website, and those submitted to Healthwatch West Sussex.  

These processes enabled us to maintain our focus on delivering high quality, 

safe and effective care. 
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Our People – True North objective: to be in the top acute Trust in the country 

for staff engagement. 

Improving staff engagement is the strategic objective for the People domain of 

Patient First and our long-term objective is to achieve a staff engagement 

score that places the Trust as the top acute trust in the country. In the medium 

term, we want to increase the number of staff who would recommend the 

Trust as a place to work.  

2020/21 has required different approaches to staff engagement to be 

adopted.  However, the introduction and extensive use of MS Teams across 

the organisation provided an opportunity to engage with staff more widely.    

Weekly Executive-led briefings were held throughout the year to update staff 

on the impact of the pandemic on the hospitals and how this was being 

managed.  This was supplemented with preparations in readiness for the 

Trust’s planned merger with Western Hospitals Foundation NHS Trust from 1 

April 2021.    The use of technology has enabled staff to engage on important 

topics and to post questions of importance to them.   ‘Live’ attendance at the 

weekly briefings now exceeds circa 1,000 participants and provides a platform 

for staff unable to attend to catch up on the events at a later date.    

A series of workshops and surveys with staff in the autumn informed the 

development of a set of refreshed organisational values for University Hospitals 

Sussex NHS Foundation Trust and the People Strategy for 2021/22. 

Staff engagement, as measured through the annual staff survey, was 7.2 (out 
of 10) in 2020.   In particular staff advocacy about the trust as a place to work 
improved by 1% to 76% and as a place to receive care and treatment by 2% 
to 84%.  Given the context within which the staff survey was conducted (Sep-
Dec 2020), this is very encouraging. 
 
The Trust has a comprehensive plan to further improve scores by identifying 

key focus areas gathered as part of the annual survey, internal merger survey 

and focus group workshops and by using a targeted approach to drive 

correlated low scoring questions at Divisional level.   

Quality Improvement – True North objective: to be in the top [best] 20% of 

trusts for preventable mortality and provide 99% harm free care. 

Reducing preventable mortality and improving outcomes 

The primary indicator for our ‘reducing preventable mortality and improving 

outcomes’ goal is hospital mortality. The Trust uses Dr Foster’s HSMR risk-

adjusted mortality tool to monitor this. 
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Our measure for 2020/21 achievement: to remain in the top 20% of NHS 

organisations for HSMR. 

Our HSMR score improved from 107.48 in 2011/12 (ranked 112 of 141 acute 

trusts; 79th centile) to 94.9 in 2018/19 (ranked 51 of 133 acute trusts; 38th 

centile).  Following a deterioration in 2019/20 (104.7 for the 12 months up to 

and including December 2019) over 2020/21 our HSMR has improved to 92.4 

(for the 12 months up to and including December 2020, ranked 23rd of 124 

acute trusts) putting the Trust in the 19th centile nationally and achieving our 

target for the year. 

Avoiding harm 

The Trust used the national NHS Patient Safety Thermometer to monitor 

overall harm-free care until the end of 2019/20 when national data collection 

stopped.  Local data was monitored in 2020/21 for falls, venous 

thromboembolism and pressure damage; nationally produced NHS Patient 

Safety Thermometer replacement data will be used for oversight as soon as it 

is available.  

Our measures were 

 2020/21 achievement: 30% reduction in in-hospital falls (from a 

baseline of 2016/17) – target of 30% achieved. 

 2020/21 achievement: 81% reduction of hospital-acquired category 3 

and above pressure damage (from baseline of 2018/19) – target of 

30% exceeded. 

 2020/21 achievement: 65% reduction in avoidable hospital-associated 

VTE (from 2018/19 baseline) (data to November 2020 only) – target of 

50% exceeded. 

Sustainability – True North objective: to deliver high quality healthcare in a 

sustainable way. 

Our long-term sustainability objective is to live within our budget. The Trust has 

a proven track record in delivery of a surplus financial performance position. In 

2021/21 the Trust has faced multiple risks to meeting our financial targets, the 

traditional delivery of healthcare has been challenged by Covid-19, requiring 

the Trust to redesign the way it runs its hospitals and delivers healthcare to the 

population it serves. The Trust has also operated under 3 different financial 

frameworks during 2020/21 each one requiring the Trusts’ to amend their 

financial plans, their contracting approach and refine how Covid-19 costs are 

recorded. The requirement of each financial framework has been the delivery 

of a break-even position. The Trust delivered a financial year end position of 
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£5k surplus from a performance perspective, surpassing this target of 

breakeven. The plan for 2021/22 is to continue to meet the target of breakeven 

for the year, and support recovery of elective services; as intended by the new 

interim financial framework.  

Systems and Partnerships – True North objective: to have 95% of A&E 

patients waiting less than four hours to be admitted or discharge and to 

reduce referral to treatment below 18 weeks for 92% of patients.  

Our long-term systems and partnerships objectives are to have 95% of A&E 

patients waiting less than four hours and to achieve a referral to treatment 

(RTT) time below 18 weeks for 92% of patients. In the medium term, we are 

concentrating our improvement efforts on reducing the numbers of patients 

who visit A&E and wait over four hours and then aren't eventually admitted to 

hospital, and are committed to ensuring no patients wait more than 52 weeks 

for elective treatments.  

As with all NHS Trusts these aims were materially impacted by the 

Coronavirus in 20/21. 

The Trust reduced it’s routine elective capacity in accordance with National 

clinical guidelines, but maintained care for patients with the most urgent 

clinical needs, and responded to significant numbers of Covid patients. As a 

result of the reduction in elective capacity the Trust performance for RTT 

reduced to 56.6% by March 2021. 

In A&E the Trust saw, treated, admitted or discharged 91.8% of patients within 

4 hours across the year (including Bognor MIU). The Trust has worked 

collaboratively with partners, continued to develop our estate to support A&E 

and continued to enhance our internal process improvements which will 

continue to mature and deliver improvements into 2021/22. 

Risk Management 

The Trust has an established risk management framework, which has been 

judged by the Trust’s internal auditors as effective.  This framework 

incorporates a Board Assurance Framework (BAF) which is used to record 

and track the management of the Trust’s strategic risks against each of the 

Trust’s true north objectives.  Each strategic risk has an executive lead and is 

overseen by a specific Committee of the Board. Throughout the year regular 

reporting of these risks has been provided through the Board Committees to 

the Board and at each Board meeting the Board confirmed the Board 

Assurance Framework fairly represented the Trust’s strategic risks.  The 

Board also confirmed the Trust’s risk appetite statements which are used to 

drive the respective risk’s target scores.  During the year the BAF records that 
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the Trust has been managing 13 significant risks, and at the year end the 

Trust had three highly scored key risks remaining, these related to 

 Being unable to deliver ongoing efficiencies and flex our resources in 

an agile way resulting in an increasing or unmanaged deficit and 

inefficient, unaffordable and unsustainable services; 

 

 Being unable to consistently meet the health, safety and wellbeing 

needs of our staff as we recover and restore services in line with Covid-

19 restrictions; and 

 

 Being unable to deliver and demonstrate consistent compliance with 

operational and NHS constitutional standards resulting in an adverse 

impact on patient care and financial penalties and the Trust’s reputation 

and the reputation of the Trust. 

 

For each of these risks there is a detailed series of actions which will continue 

through 2021/22. The delivery of these actions and the impact on these risks 

is monitored through the appropriate oversight Committee of the Board.  

 

The Trust took action during the year which saw its BAF financially related risk 

reduce but the risk relating to the Trust’s ability flex its resources did not 

reduce to the same level reflecting the level of uncertainty over the demands 

on the Trust to deal with the Covid-19 pandemic and the changing financial 

framework the NHS is subject too.   

 

The Trust has taken a number of actions to enhance its processes to support 

the wellbeing of its staff. However, given the relentless pressure the pandemic 

has placed on the Trust’s services and the prolonged period of the national 

incident the Trust has assessed the long term risk to staff wellbeing as 

increasing.  The Board has established a dedicated People Committee will 

track the effectiveness of its plans to mitigate this risk alongside receiving 

direct information from staff feedback / surveys on the efficacy of the 

wellbeing programmes developed to support the Trust’s staff.  

 

During the year in respect of the compliance with regard to the key 

constitutional targets the Trust took action and has prioritised the treatment of 

patients according to their clinical needs.  Like the majority of NHS providers, 

the Trust has taken action to support the NHS and the Country with their 

measures to deal with Covid-19 which has impacted on the Trust’s ability to 

reduce further this risk. 
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During 2020/21 the Trust has responded positively to the national 

requirements placed on it with regards to countering Covid-19. The Trust has 

been supported through the established bronze, silver and gold incident 

control processes which included a robust capturing of issues and risks and 

the follow through on actions to mitigate these.  These processes were 

considered by Internal Audit to be robust and effective and have placed the 

Trust in a strong position to adapt its control environment to respond to the 

changing nature of the county’s and national health service response to 

Covid-19.   

 

Further detail in respect of the Trust’s risk management framework can be 

found in the Trust’s annual governance statement which is at section 2.7 of 

this report. 

 

1.4.3 Regulatory standards 

Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust utilises an extensive 

Performance Framework to ensure sustained delivery of key measures based 

on the principles of the Balanced Scorecard. This framework ensures scrutiny, 

assurance, and where necessary, remedial actions and follow through to 

compliance recovery. The layering of this framework ensures oversight occurs 

through 

 Directorate review of departmental/ward delivery  

 Divisional Management Board review of associated Directorates  

 Divisional Strategy Deployment Reviews (SDRs) undertaken by the 
Trust Executive 

 Monthly performance review by Finance and Performance Committee 
and Trust Board 

 

Each layer of review and action considers both the key targets and outcomes/ 

objectives used to assess operational performance under the Single Oversight 

Framework, and a wider set of balanced scorecard indicators that have been 

selected to provide a more complete view of operational risks and 

interdependencies. The review process is underpinned by an extensive suite 

of business intelligence tools designed to show outcomes, but also the drivers 

of potential compliance risks such as changing demand profiles. 

 

This governance framework was adjusted as part of covid prioritisation 

process as the Trust adopted its Gold command framework to respond to the 

national Covid-19 pandemic as instructed to do so by NHS England. However, 

through this period the Trust maintained its scrutiny of performance via its 

established Gold command, and continued to submit performance reporting in 
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accordance with National mandated standards. The routine governance 

framework is being restored 2021/22. 

 
The operational performance of WSHFT is measured against key access 

targets and outcomes objectives set out in the Single Oversight Framework 

drawn up by NHS Improvement, the regulator of health care organisations. 

These are:  

 

 A&E maximum waiting time of 4 hours from arrival to 
admission/transfer/ discharge  

 Maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral to treatment (RTT) in 
aggregate − patients on an incomplete pathway  

 All cancers – maximum 62-day wait for first treatment from:  
 urgent GP referral for suspected cancer  
 NHS cancer screening service referral  

 Maximum 6-week wait for diagnostic procedures  
 

 
 
Performance summary: 
 

A&E 
Nationally it has been a challenging environment throughout 2021/20 with 

emergency demand affected by Covid-19. Trust performance for the year was 

91.8%, below the National target of 95%, but still amongst the best performers 

Nationally, and an improvement of 2% compared to 2019/20. As the Trust has 

come out of the respective waves of the pandemic, the Trust has 

recommenced its programme of work to improve performance through 

recognised improvement methodologies and clinical pathway improvements 

throughout the patient emergency pathway 

 

Additionally, the Trust has continued to engage and co-ordinate aligned 

resilience plans in the wider Local Health Economy, through the Sussex ICS 

chaired Local A&E Delivery Board, and wider regional acute partners for 

escalation to target reduced delayed transfers of care, to free up bed capacity 

and enhance patient flow. 

 

Operational Performance Metrics Threshold Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb MAR YTD

OP1
A&E: maximum waiting time of four hours  from arriva l  to 

admiss ion/transfer/discharge
95% 97.0% 96.5% 96.7% 95.0% 91.5% 89.9% 91.4% 92.0% 89.9% 82.9% 90.4% 91.0% 91.8%

OP2
Maximum time of 18 weeks  from point of referra l  to treatment 

in aggregate – patients  on an incomplete pathway
92% 70.6% 60.6% 49.0% 42.3% 47.5% 54.9% 60.4% 64.6% 64.3% 60.0% 57.6% 56.6% 57.6%

OP3A
Al l  cancers  : 62-day wait for fi rs t treatment fol lowing urgent GP 

Referra l
85% 75.4% 67.9% 75.4% 82.9% 75.5% 65.2% 72.9% 69.0% 61.1% 66.7% 58.3% 66.7% 69.3%

OP4 Maximum 6-week wait for diagnostic procedures 1% 65.7% 68.6% 62.7% 54.6% 54.5% 49.4% 39.4% 34.4% 39.0% 41.0% 45.3% 39.8% 48.9%
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Referral To Treatment (RTT) 
The Trust’s RTT performance has been variable across the year with a 

reported performance of 56.6% March-21. The impact of Covid-19 National 

guidance regarding the suspension of routine elective cases impacted on RTT 

throughout most of the year, with restoration and recovery undertaken 

between waves, and has continued in 2021/22. 

 
 
Cancer 62-day Performance 
The impact of coronavirus in March 2020 and into 2020/21 impacted 

materially on cancer performance. Cancer 62 day performance was 69.3% 

compared to 80.9% the preceding year. The Trust experienced an increase in 

62 day waits as a result of the initial wave of covid to September-20, but has 

plans to restore to pre-covid levels in the first 6 months of 2021/22 

 

A focus on improving the waiting times for diagnostics, in a safe environment 

will also contribute to the improvement in this standard. 

 
Diagnostic 6-week waiters 
In line with all Trusts, the Trust’s performance fell to an average of 48.9% 

2020/21 against the 1% national target. The Trust observed significant 

capacity pressures in imaging modalities and endoscopy due to the reductions 

and impacts of the covid-19 response. This has improved to 39.8% in March-

21 with recovery plans in place for endoscopy and imaging the largest areas 

within the diagnostic modalities. 

 

1.4.4 Financial Performance 

The key highlights for the Trust’s financial performance during the period from 

1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 were: 

• Against an extremely challenging operating environment the Trust 

delivered a retained surplus of £5k.  The Trust delivered a financial 

risk rating of 1 at year end, this being the top possible rating. 

• Cost improvement programme savings of £5m (1% of turnover) 

• Expenditure on capital schemes of £35m, including medical 

equipment, increasing ward capacity and patient flow, estates 

backlog maintenance and the centralisation of the patient meal 

service. The capital programme was supported by the Trust’s 

dedicated hospital Charity, Love Your Hospital, and the League of 

Friends. 
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The Trust saved £5m by streamlining processes, improving productivity, 

smarter procurement and reducing waste.  

As commented elsewhere in the annual report the impact of Covid-19 affected 

the Trust’s activity and saw an increase in costs as the Trust adapted to the 

changing needs placed on our Hospitals.  Rigorous cost control was 

maintained and the Trust was fully reimbursed for these extra costs.  

As at the end of March 2021, the Trust is reporting a surplus of £5k after 

adjustment for impairments and donated assets as summarised in the table 

below. 

Financial Performance for 2020/21 £m 

Net Surplus/(Deficit) (£9.083) 

Add back:  

Impact of Donated Assets £0.312 

Impairment of Fixed Assets £9.116 

Impact of Centrally Procured Inventories (£0.340) 

Retained Surplus/(Deficit) £0.005 

The impairments of £9.116m relate to net changes in the asset value following 

the annual revaluation. 

Long-term liabilities 

The affordability of long-term loans is considered by the Trust Board prior to 

approval.  Further information on the Trust’s long-term borrowings is available 

within Note 30.1 to the accounts. 

Financial outlook 

On 1 April 2021, Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust acquired 

the assets, liabilities and operations of Brighton and Sussex University 

Hospitals NHS Trust, forming University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation 

Trust through merger by acquisition under section 56A of the NHS Act 2006. 

The new Trust, University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust, has 

developed and submitted a revised financial plan for 2021/22 reflecting these 

new arrangements and a target position of break-even. Prior to 25th March 

2021, both Trusts’ had prepared a preliminary financial plan for 2021/22 to 

deliver a break-even position. It should be noted that in the Full Business 

Case for the merger, the forecast for 2021/22 was a break-even position and 

maintaining a Use of Resource Rating of 1. 
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Summary 

From a financial perspective 2020/21 was a positive year with the Trust 

achieving its True North objective of ‘delivering high quality healthcare in a 

sustainable way’ by delivering a surplus position for the year. This performance 

was achieved whilst also responding to the fast changing challenge of the 

Covid-19 pandemic, which saw operational priorities reviewed and adjusted 

throughout the year in response to the changing healthcare needs of the 

population that the Trust serves. 

Going concern 

International Accounting Standards (IAS1) require the Trust Board to assess, 

as part of the accounts preparation process, the Trust’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. 

In carrying out its assessment, the directors have taken account of the 

requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual. In 

particular, that the accounts should be prepared on a going concern basis 

unless the Trust Board either intend to apply to the Secretary of State for the 

dissolution of the trust without the transfer of the services to another entity, or 

have no realistic alternative but to do so. The directors have also taken into 

account revised guidance from The Public Audit Forum to auditors, and 

subsequent guidance published by NHS England and NHS Improvement on 

1st April 2021 which states that for NHS bodies the assessment of going 

concern “should solely be based on the anticipated future provision of 

services in the public sector.” 

There has been no application to the Secretary of State for the dissolution of 

the trust. Moreover on 19th March 2021, the Trust Boards of Western Sussex 

Hospitals and Brighton and Sussex Hospitals made a joint application to NHS 

Improvement for their merger by way of the acquisition of Brighton and 

Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust by Western Sussex Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust under section 56A of the NHS Act 2006. The Grant of 

Application for the Acquisition took effect on 1 April 2021. On this date, 

Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust acquired the assets and 

business of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust. The newly 

merged trust is known, from 1st April 2021, as University Sussex Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust. 

In preparation for the merger, the trust undertook long-term financial modelling 

covering the five-year period April 2021 to March 2026. This financial 

modelling demonstrated that there is no adverse impact on either organisation 

from merging and that University Hospitals Sussex is able to deliver a 
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sustainable financial position and maintain a positive cash position from the 

point of merger. The modelling also considered a range of sensitivities and 

demonstrates that University Hospitals Sussex is able to respond to emerging 

financial and operational pressures and can continue to maintain a positive 

cash position. 

or 2021/22 the current financial funding arrangements will remain in place for 

the first half of the year, with additional funding available to support Elective 

Recovery / Mental Health Services / transformation of Community Services 

post Covid-19. Additional funding has also been received for the continuing 

costs of Covid-19. 

For the second half of the year the Trust has assumed that income will 

continue at a value equal to the income blocks, which were integral to the 

financial frameworks in place in 2020/21 and underpin the financial framework 

which has been rolled forward in April 2021 to September 2021. Assumptions 

have been made regarding increased activity trajectories to support 

restoration and recovery, taking into account resource availability and close 

working with System partners. Additional funding is available from the Elective 

Recovery Fund and the Trust has been prudent in assuming a cost neutral 

basis for activity delivery, with no contribution from this activity being included 

to deliver the full year plan.  

The Trust has produced its financial plans based on these assumptions which 

have been approved by the Trust Board. The Trust, in conjunction with the 

Sussex ICS, has submitted a breakeven plan, both individually and 

collectively for the first half of the year. The assumptions include an 

operational efficiency target of £6m for the first half of the year, which forms 

part of the Trust’s annual efficiency plan of £24.4m for the full year, c. 2% of 

the Trust’s cost base. This compares to efficiency targets of c.4% delivered by 

both legacy Trusts in years pre-Covid. In 2020/21, the Trust delivered 

efficiency savings of 1.1%. The Trust is therefore reasonably assured of the 

achievability of this financial target. 

The Trust has prepared its financial plans and cash flow forecasts for the 

coming year on the assumption that funding will be received from the 

Department of Health and Social Care consistent with the revised funding 

arrangements in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. Discussions to date 

indicate that this funding will be forthcoming. These funds are expected to be 

sufficient to enable the Trust to meet its obligations as they fall due and will be 

accessed through the nationally agreed process published by NHS 

Improvement and the Department of Health and Social Care. Interim support 

is part of the framework and can be accessed if it were required, but there is 

currently no such identified requirement 
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Taking into account the financial forecast for University Hospitals Sussex NHS 

Foundation Trust, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the trust 

will have access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence 

for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the accounts. For this 

reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 

accounts. 

Governance ratings 

The Trust is assessed under the Use of Resource Rating, which is driven by 

assessments on liquidity, capital service cover, income and expenditure 

margin, variance to plan and agency expenditure. The highest rating that can 

be achieved is a score of 1. A score of 2 indicates no significant financial 

concerns and a score of 3 requires an increased level of monitoring. The Trust 

scored a 1 in all four quarters of 2020/21. 

There were no formal interventions by the regulator during the year 2020/21. 

Other financial information 

Accounting policies for pensions and other retirement benefits are set out in 

Note 1.3 Employee Benefits. 

Details of senior employees’ remuneration can be found within the 

Remuneration Report. 

Post balance sheet events.   On 1 April 2021, Western Sussex Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust acquired the assets, liabilities and operations of Brighton 

and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust, forming University Hospitals 

Sussex NHS Foundation Trust through merger by acquisition under section 

56A of the NHS Act 2006. 

The Trust spent £1.24m on external consultancy services in 2020/21. 

Note 37 to the accounts sets out, in relation to the financial instruments, an 

indication of the financial risk management objectives and policies of the Trust 

and the exposure of the entity to price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and cash 

flow risk, where material for the assessment of the assets, liabilities, financial 

position and results of the Trust. 

Income disclosure  

The income from the provision of goods and services for the purposes of the 

health service in England is greater than the income from the provision of 

goods and services for any other purposes. Income from goods and services 

not for the purposes of the health service in England is required to at a 
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minimum cover the full cost of delivery of the goods and services.  Any 

surplus from these activities is reinvested and supports the provision of goods 

and services for the purposes of the health service in England.   

 

1.4.5 Efficiency programme delivery  

Quality-led improvement remained a key priority for Western Sussex, 

supporting the NHS Long Term Plan to develop workforce, technology and 

innovation-led efficiencies.  Improvements to patient experience – including 

safety and effectiveness – means we can deliver consistent high-quality care 

in more cost-effective ways; improving the flow of patients through our 

hospitals. 

The impact of Covid-19 from early 2020 onwards limited the Trust’s capacity 

to develop and deliver new efficiency schemes, which meant that the overall 

size and scope of the programme in 2020/21 was smaller than in previous 

years. However, WSHFT alongside BSUH were part of the few Trusts 

nationally that were able to deliver Efficiency Programmes in such challenging 

circumstances, and delivered the 1.1% cost saving against budget that was 

set prior to the pandemic response.  Overall, £5m savings were delivered 

against the opening plan of £4.8m 

All schemes were subject to rigorous quality and safety checks to ensure 

quality standards were maintained or improved, and that they did not 

negatively affect the Trust’s response to Covid-19 or its capacity to recover 

and restore non-Covid services. Quality impact assessments for each scheme 

are developed by staff working in the relevant areas, and signed off at 

executive level before implementation.  

The Procurement team worked with Divisions to deliver non-pay savings of 

£1.2m through cost avoidance. In addition, the Medicine Division delivered 

significant pay saving contributions of £1.3m through recruitment resulting in 

medical agency being exited within A&E SRH, A&E Worthing, Respiratory and 

Rheumatology areas.  The introduction of Microsoft Teams during the 

financial year provided an additional £156k non-pay mileage saving, and work 

is taking place to embed and extend this benefit into the 2021/22 financial 

year.  

The Trust’s response to the covid surges has also enabled significant 

changes in how patients have been cared for, encouraging the adoption of 

new ways of working and patient pathway improvements.  Whilst initiated 

through pandemic conditions, a number of these changes will be evaluated 
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and embedded into clinical and operational practice moving forward, 

sustaining the positive impact on our patients where possible.  

Whilst operational teams remained focussed on managing the covid response 

in early 2021, efficiency planning for the coming year took place where 

possible to minimise impact to front-line staff.  Building on the small number of 

tactical schemes that will deliver from April 2021 onwards, a focus on 

restoration and recovery forms a significant part of the 2021/22 programme.  

A key opportunity for 2021/22 will also be the realisation of benefits following 

the merger of BSUH and WSHFT, where the increased scale of University 

Hospitals Sussex will enable us to go further and faster on improvements to 

the quality of patient care whilst at the same time enabling productivity and 

efficiency benefits.   

 

1.4.6 Our Capital Plan 

Development of the Trusts capital plan followed an extensive prioritisation 

process and Board approval in March 2020.  During the year the Trust 

successfully delivered 187 separate investments totalling £35,812k.  These 

covered a wide range of investments linked to clinical divisional priorities 

(including service developments), medical devices, backlog maintenance in the 

estate and IM&T infrastructure and systems.  This represents a significant 

programme of work, funded from: 

 £15,189k of internally generated capital resources (net of loan 

repayments); 

 £7,597k cash from historic reserves; 

 £7,472k Public Dividend Capital (PDC), ring-fenced for specific 

investments; 

 £2,481k PDC for medical equipment required for the Covid-19 

pandemic; 

 £2,337k of PDC to support IM&T developments, including digital 

Histopathology and patient facing systems; 

 £375k transfer from Sussex Partnership Trust; and 

 £361k of charitable funding. 

Highlights include investments in: 

 A new 20-bed respiratory ward, Worthing hospital (£3,545k); 

 A new Urology Investigation Unit, Worthing hospital (£2,150k; 

 A new multi-faith centre, Worthing hospital (£686k); 

 A joint investment with Sussex Partnership Trust in a dedication mental 
health assessment and treatment facility, Worthing hospital (£375k); 
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 Further investment in ‘Changing Places Toilet’ facilities, Worthing 
hospital (£190k); 

 Investments in our Emergency Departments, Worthing and St Richards 
hospitals (£3,700k); 

 Investments in diagnostics (£1,630k); 

 A new MRI scanner, St Richards hospital (£1,700k); 

 Continued investment in productive ward storage systems that is 
benefiting wards and departments across the Trust (£117k); 

 Replacement of more than 104 items of aging and new medical 
equipment (£5,271k); 

 Investment in our estates backlog maintenance (£4,235k); and 

 Supporting the modernisation of the Trusts IM&T infrastructure, 
hardware and software systems including, a significant investment in 
cyber security and a many clinical systems that will improve efficiency 
and how we do things (£8,849k). 

 

1.4.7 Environmental Sustainability 

Environmental sustainability, our Green Plan and Net Zero has been 

highlighted as a key priority for the Trust. Looking ahead to 2021/22 we will be 

tracking progress against our Environmental Strategy as a corporate strategic 

initiative. During 2020/2021 we have continued to work in partnership with 

colleagues from neighbouring Trusts and placed significant effort formalising 

our structures within our Environmental Strategy Steering Group (ESSG).  

The Trust recognises and is signed up to the NHS campaign ‘For a greener 

NHS’ and its two key targets; 

1. The NHS Carbon Footprint (the carbon emissions the NHS has direct 
control over) aims to be Net Zero by 2040. To achieve this an ambitious 
80% reduction of carbon emissions by 2028 to 2032 has been defined. 

2. The NHS Carbon Footprint Plus (the carbon emissions the NHS can 
influence) aims to be Net Zero by 2045. With an 80% reduction target of 
the carbon emissions by 2036 to 2039. 
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The ESSG will oversee the direction and delivery of the Environmental 

Strategy against these two targets. Membership is broad from across all 

divisions and the action work-streams have been shaped around the NHS 

Carbon Footprint Plus. Work-streams set clear actionable objectives which 

ensure continual improvement, effective ongoing management and adaptation 

in developing a culture with green sustainability at the core and the 

commitment to meet net zero carbon emissions. 

Our aim to increase carbon awareness and literacy amongst our staff, 

empowering and equipping them with the knowledge and tools to implement 

effective change to achieve net zero within their work remits.  

Our approach to deliver will follow key principles 

• Measure  

• Avoid  

• Re-use  

• Alternatives  

• Communicate  

During 2020/21 The Green Group continued to develop and implement the 

Trust’s environmental strategy, adapting to the challenges that Covid-19 

placed on operational demands and resources. Some highlights include; 

1. Utilities usage reductions: 
a. 3% reduction in utility usage across during 2020/2021 
b. The borehole provided SRH Laundry with over 4,500m3 of water. 
c. New windows have been installed across 3 sites improving the 

thermal efficiency of the building, improving the aesthetic and 
making the area more comfortable for its occupants. 

d. We have continued to rollout LED lighting across the estate 
 

2. Green Travel Plan 
a. Conducted a staff wide survey on commuting habits in order to 

review the car parking permit strategy. 
b. Continued to promote the usage of offsite parking and minibus 

service to staff. Reviewing offsite permit flexibility allowing more 
options for staff holding an out of hours permit. 

c. Introduced a new timetable and app giving minibus users live 
access to vehicle locations and expected arrival times. 

d. Commissioned the production of an Umbrella Travel Plan by an 
external consultant to undertake a parking review for WSHFT and 
BSUH. 
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3. Waste  
a. Successfully managed and adapted to meet the exponential growth 

of waste management requirements generated through Covid 19 
crisis. 

b. Introduced waste segregation training as part of mandatory 
training, adapting to an online delivery method. 

c. Engaged with our contractors to challenge recycling/recovery rates 
requesting a video of the journey of our waste.  

d. Developing a strategy for a project to fully evaluate our waste 
processes including the trial introduction of a chilled compactor for 
offensive waste streams. 

e. Utilised the team of Porters to conduct waste audits to assess and 
improve clinical waste segregation compliance at ward/department 
level.  

f. Designed new stickers informing users of how the waste is recycled  
for bins and produced an education leaflet for staff. 

 
4. Green Plan 2021 and Net Zero 

a. Aligning our strategy to meet the requirements set out in “Delivering 
a Net Zero NHS” published in October 2020. 

b. Engaging with clinical leads for inclusion in strategy and formation 
of clinical work stream to capture existing good practice and 
projects and formalise approach going into 2021/22.  

c. Producing Carbon Footprint process document for full reporting of 
our NHS Carbon Footprint Plus from 2021. 

 
5. Business Services 

a. Completed P4CR assessment of 2018/19, 2019/20 purchasing 
data and utilising to highlight hotspots and present local level 
trends.   

b. Included an environmental impact assessment stage as part of the 
PID process. 

c. Conducting a review into the uptake of online meeting software and 
its impact on cross site travel.  

 
6. Trust Green Ambassadors  

a. Nearly 100 staff have signed up to be Green 
Ambassadors for the trust,  

b. The GAs have been submitting project ideas 
to be delivered in 2021/2022 

c. The ambassadors challenged the GSG on our 
electricity tariff and from April 2021 we will 
purchase 100% REGO certificated electricity. 

d. Supported the Energy work-stream by 
completing Demand Surveys of their work 
environment 
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e. Assisted with delivering the Green Group 
message via the Patient First, People First 
Newsletter. 

f. Many have established local action groups 
within their teams. 

 
1.4.8 Statement on equality and equity of access 

WSHFT is committed to offering services that are equitable and provide 

equality of access.  As part of this commitment the Trust within its service 

change and business case process undertakes a review on the equality and 

equity of access as part of the needs assessment and associated service 

configuration processes. The Trust as lead for the Sussex Acute Collaborative 

Network within the Sussex ICS plays an active role with Sussex ICS who, in 

accordance with Operating Framework 2021/22 are embarking on a 

programme of work to review equity of access by geographic and 

demographic profile of the Trust catchment populations, with the aim to build 

stronger and more collaborative strategies to address health inequalities. 

The Trust has built the voice of the patient into each of its transformation 

programmes to check that any changes improve equality and equity of 

access.  Also the Trust monitors patient and carer feedback as described in 

the section 1.4.9 below and uses this to assist in monitoring the equality and 

equity of access to our services and takes steps where feedback highlights 

deficiencies. 

1.4.9 Patient Care 

Care Quality Commission standards 

Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with 

the Care Quality Commission and its current registration status is “registered 

without conditions”.  

In 2019/20, the Trust was 
inspected by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) and was 
rated ‘Outstanding’ for the 
second time and the Trust 
became the first non-specialist 
acute trust in the country to be 
rated ‘Outstanding’ in all the 
key inspection areas 
assessed, as well as the first-
ever acute trust to be rated 
‘Outstanding’ for the safety of 
its services.  
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The CQC Chief Inspector of Hospitals, Professor Ted Baker, endorsed our 

Patient First approach to improvement as being a key differentiator that 

secured the outstanding ratings in each assessed domain.  Prof Baker 

commended the positive attitude of staff and their innovative solutions to 

continually enhance the care they provide and to improve the patient’s 

experience of the Trust’s services. The CQC was also impressed by our 

willingness to identify our weaknesses and empower frontline staff to make 

the changes that will enable us to overcome them. 

The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against 

Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust during 2020/21.  

Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has not participated in any 

special reviews or investigations by the CQC during the reporting period. 

Due to the limitations of the pandemic regular monthly meetings have 

continued with CQC but predominantly virtually. These meetings have 

provided a valuable arena for providing quality assurance during both the first 

and second waves of Covid-19 to the CQC.  In addition, led by the division of 

medicine, a detailed CQC engagement visit assessing the key lines of enquiry 

in relation to emergency medicine was held in October 2020. A further 

engagement visit in relation to outpatients and ophthalmology is planned for 

May 2021. 

We also continue to monitor performance against CQC standards through 

monthly internal reporting across a wide range of important measures. Patient 

experience concerns and complaints are monitored by the Trust’s PALS and 

patient experience teams, and patient safety incident data is recorded, 

monitored and actioned by the electronic incident and reporting systems. 

Thematic reviews are completed following the reporting and investigation of 

any serious incident. 

The Trust’s Triangulation Committee identifies any new and or emerging 

patient safety or staff concerns within the organisation. The aim of the group 

focuses on the triangulation of complaints, incidents, safeguarding reviews, 

inquests and litigation and the themes correlated from the Trust’s Freedom to 

Speak Up Guardians, with the primary objective of the group being to 

evidence shared learning within the organisation. At each committee a 

number of ‘deep dive’ presentations are discussed, focusing on case reviews 

where significant learning has been identified for the organisation. The 

ensuing action log details how the learning will be cascaded and shared within 

the divisions and to further close the learning loop, at the end of each quarter, 

the divisions demonstrate how this shared learning had been achieved. 
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How we learn 

We have robust systems in place for reviewing incidents, complaints, mortality 

reviews and inquests within our clinical divisions.  Each clinical division has a 

clinical governance lead to coordinate this activity and help the Divisions to 

track and complete the actions arising out of each of these areas. The 

divisions also use safety huddles, the “Theme of The Week”, Patient Story 

newsletters and staff meetings to help communicate changes made in 

response to learning. 

When harm occurs, talking to the person affected or their family/carer 

provides crucial context to any investigation. We continue to develop and 

encourage an open and honest approach to supporting patients who have 

been harmed, or their families, as candour and transparency are core values 

for Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.  In 2020/21 the Trust 

remains 100% compliant in the Health & Social Care Act – Regulation 20 – 

Duty of Candour. 

Learning from incidents 

The Trust Patient Safety Team is currently undertaking an improvement 

project regarding the Datix incident reporting system.  The improvement 

programme has taken two years to plan, and has involved a variety of 

stakeholder feedback methods and engagement / training days. The revised 

system will enable the Trust to analyse safety themes and data more 

effectively, developing safety dashboards enabling robust reporting and a 

shared learning and solution focused model of care.  

Due to the pandemic, our two day Serious Incident (SI) Investigator training 

programme accredited by the Royal College of Physicians and sponsored by 

the Kent Surrey and Sussex Quality and Patient Safety Collaborative (KSS 

AHSN) continued as virtual ‘modular training ‘in 2020/21.  The programme 

was facilitated by the head of patient safety and provided training on how to 

investigate SIs using a Human Factors approach, the Duty of Candour and 

involving the patient, their family and carers.  The programme was extremely 

well received with a recommendation that all staff investigating serious 

incidents should attend the training in the future.  

With the publication of the NHS Patient Safety Strategy 2019, a further 

revised training programme is planned for 2021/22 with an annual training 

programme under development.  Trends and themes from incidents, 

complaints, inquests and deaths (mortality) are also shared at the monthly 

Trust Triangulation Committee, with the learning translated into the Patient 
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Safety and Learning Newsletter, for use by the teams in safety and 

improvement huddles. 

Further regional learning events were held in and December 2020 and 

February 2021.  Hosted by the WSHFT Patient Safety Team, all Sussex 

healthcare providers and commissioners were invited to attend.  Focusing on 

the shared learning from SI investigation, infection prevention and control and 

the learning from inquest, the events were extremely well attended with 

positive feedback received. In addition, a family member also attended the 

learning event in February to give powerful insight into their experience of 

inquest. 

In 2019, following the Care Quality Commission’s inspection, the domain of 

Safe was rated as “Outstanding”. WSHFT are the first acute non-specialist 

hospital to receive this rating.  Feedback in the published CQC report 

particularly focused on the SI training provided, the quality of SI investigations 

and immediate actions taken, the sharing of the lessons learned and 

opportunities for improvement, and the involvement of patients, families and 

carers within the Duty of Candour process. In line with the recommendations 

detailed in the new NHSE Patient Safety Strategy; WSHFT has now identified 

a Patient Safety Specialist for the organisation. 

Responding to Complaints 

Our Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) is usually the first port of call 

for anyone who has a problem they need the Trust to look into or resolve. 

PALS responders are able to offer advice on how and where to complain, 

investigate concerns and help bring resolution if things have gone wrong. Our 

complaints team investigates more complex concerns that require a formal 

investigation about past events. 

Full details of PALS and complaints activity are included in the Quality Report 

section of this Annual Report, but some key figures are as follows: 

 3,642  concerns have been dealt with via our PALS service at the time 

of reporting (22/3/21) and this rate of activity is a reduction of 1,726 

cases compared to the previous year 

 360 formal complaints have been received during 2020/21 at the time 

of reporting (22/3/21). This is a decrease of 175 compared to 2019/20.  

 This reduction in number of contacts has largely been due to the 

visiting restrictions in place and reduced activity as a result of the 

Covid-19 pandemic.  
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The number of formal complaints referred to the Parliamentary Health Service 

Ombudsman (PHSO) for independent review by the complainant (these may 

relate to complaints made to the Trust in earlier years even though received in 

the reporting financial year) was 7, the same as the previous year. Of these 7, 

5 remain under review and 2 were not upheld (at 31 March 2021).  

Quality improvement 

Our continuing focus on quality improvement was a major factor in the Care 

Quality Commission’s assessment of the Trust as an Outstanding healthcare 

organisation. 

Continuous improvement is a key strand of the philosophy behind our Patient 

First programme and is guided by the Trust’s Quality Strategy. 

The Quality Strategy sets out the four broad areas in which our improvement 

efforts can have the strongest positive effect on outcomes and experiences for 

patients.  

Within the period covered by the Quality Strategy, the Trust sets out annual 

priorities under each of the four key areas of focus.  

Below is a summary of the work undertaken in respect of the Trust’s key 

quality priorities for 2020/21 and the work planned for 2021/22. Progress 

against the 2020/21 objectives is described in more detail in the Quality 

Report. 

Avoiding harm: Falls prevention 

Falls are a significant cause of patient harm in our hospitals and in 2020/21 

we undertook work to ensure that the success of previous years falls 

reduction programme was maintained, aiming specifically to see no increase 

in falls compared to the previous year. We have successfully delivered this 

goal during this period.  

Over 2021/22 we will specifically aim to ensure that current position is 

maintained with no increase in falls and also will try to reduce our falls causing 

harm by a further 5% in order to contribute to the overall breakthrough 

objective for reducing patient harm. 

Avoiding harm: Elimination of severe pressure damage  

Whilst a high proportion of our patients with pressure ulcers are admitted to 

hospital with existing skin damage, we had seen a significant rise in hospital 

acquired pressure damage since 2015/16.  We have worked to understand 

and deliver improvements with ward teams over recent years. During 2020/21, 
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we worked to deliver an improvement in this area with a goal to reduce 

category 3 and above by 30%. We successfully delivered this goal with a 79% 

reduction compared to the 2018/19 baseline. 

During 2021/22, we will work to maintain this achievement with a specific goal 

of 5% reduction in all reported pressure ulcers in order to contribute to the 

overall breakthrough objective for reducing patient harm.  

Avoiding harm: Reduction in hospital-associated venous thromboembolism 

(VTE) 

The development of VTE [which includes deep vein thrombosis (DVT) and 

pulmonary embolism (PE)] is often an unavoidable consequence of a patient’s 

illness. However, we have seen a significant rise in the reporting of VTE since 

2015/16. Whilst the number of cases that have been deemed avoidable had 

remained static, there was a need to fully understand the nature of our 

challenge and to ensure we have reliable processes in place in order to 

eliminate avoidable harm. During 2019/20 the reduction in avoidable VTE was 

a key breakthrough improvement objective which successfully delivered a 

reduction in avoidable VTE of 58.8% 

During 2020/21 we aimed to maintain the reduction in avoidable hospital-

associated VTE cases delivered in 2019/20 and are pleased that we have 

delivered this goal with a 65% reduction year to date, with the March data 

being validated at the time of drafting this report. During 2021/22 we aim to 

build on this success with a further 5% reduction in order to contribute to the 

overall breakthrough objective for reducing patient harm.  

Improving patient experience: Patient experience of discharge 

We want all our patients to have a safe and positive experience of being 

discharged from our hospitals; we know this issue has a substantial impact on 

our patient experience of care and it is therefore one of the key pillars of our 

Patient Experience Strategy. 

The Trust has now progressed its work further on discharge with an aim to 

significantly improve the discharge experience for all patients.  Our patient 

feedback survey data shows that patients are dissatisfied with the discharge 

planning process and how this is communicated to them.  Patient discharge 

has therefore now become a breakthrough objective in 2021/22.  Real-time 

patient experience survey data, complaints and PALS data is being 

triangulated to analyse themes.   Inpatient dissatisfaction was 53% for 

2020/21 in the inpatient survey.    An improvement programme has been 

designed and led by the Kaizen team with executive leads and being 

facilitated by the Patient Experience team, to work collaboratively with 
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multidisciplinary teams to promote early discharge work and identify driver 

wards to understand opportunities for improvement.  A team of volunteers is 

also carrying out weekly virtual surveys on discharge with patients who have 

recently left hospital to understand issues and provide support where required 

which will also feed into the improvement programme going forward. 

Improving patient experience: Reducing noise at night 

Sleep is important for healing; sleep deprivation is recognised as a major 

concern for patients in hospital and has been shown to lead to induced stress, 

increased pain sensitivity, high blood pressure and poor mental health.  The 

two most recent National Inpatient Surveys carried out in 2017 and 2018 

(published in 2018 and 2019 respectively) confirmed that noise at night, 

particularly from other patients, was a major area requiring 

improvement.  National trends are similar, with the CQC reporting around 40% 

of patients are affected by noise from other patients at night time, a figure 

which has been static for some time. 

For 2019/20 we set ourselves a goal to improve noise at night satisfaction 

from 54% to 65% as measured by our inpatient real time patient experience 

surveys.  We narrowly missed this target and therefore continued this 

programme of work in 2020/21, building on our positive successes and aiming 

to embed approaches put in place as business as usual.  We aimed to deliver 

and maintain patient satisfaction scores at 65% through 2020/21 however the 

volume of data was very limited due to the Covid-19 impact on patient 

experience volunteers not being able to conduct the surveys with patients and 

they were paused for most of the year.  For those surveys carried out, 

satisfaction in 2020/21 was 57%.      

Monitoring of Quality Priority Improvements 

The Trust has a robust Quality Governance Structure which was overseen at 

Board level by the Quality Assurance Committee and at Executive Level 

through the Quality Board chaired by the Medical Director. The Trust’s annual 

quality improvement objectives are set out in the Quality Report and progress 

against these key metrics was presented to both the Quality Board, Quality 

Assurance Committee and Trust Board. 

1.4.10 Research as a driver for improving the quality of care and patient 

experience 

Clinical research is considered a core part of NHS services with the huge 

contribution of clinical research to improving outcomes emphasised as a key 

feature of the national response to the Covid-19 pandemic.  While prior to the 

pandemic there was already significant evidence that organisations which 
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support high quality clinical research and innovation improve clinical outcomes 

for all their patients, not just those taking part in specific research trials, NHS 

clinical research has been at the forefront of learning about the spread of 

Covid-19 and developing and testing medications, new treatments and 

vaccines.   At Western Sussex, our ambition continues to be delivery of high 

quality patient care through innovation and continuous quality improvement, 

education and research.  The Trust’s 2019 CQC report demonstrated how 

research, embedded in everyday clinical practice across the organisation, is 

making a significant contribution to improving quality and experience for our 

patients and clinical research has been a key part of the Trust’s response to 

the current global pandemic in 2020/21.  

The numbers of new participants taking part in clinical research at Western 

Sussex has continued to grow with 2558 patients and staff members taking 

part in 2020/21 predominantly in trials for Covid-19. Western was amongst the 

very first organisations in the country and the first in Kent, Surrey and Sussex 

to open and enrol participants to the RECOVERY trial, a globally important 

study testing medicines for those most severely affected by Covid-19. In the 

early days of the pandemic little was known about how to treat or care for 

people with Covid-19 and the RECOVERY trial has already been able to 

recommend two medicines effective in improving outcomes and reducing 

mortality whilst also demonstrating several medicines that are not of benefit to 

patients with Covid-19. Clinical, support service and research teams have 

worked collaboratively across the breadth of the organisation to support 

participation in 7 nationally prioritised Urgent Public Health Covid-19 trials and 

alongside also delivered a broad portfolio of other COVID and non-COVID 

related clinical trials, providing opportunities for patients and staff to 

participate in important research across a range of clinical services. 

The Trust has also had ongoing support from the local patient Research 

Champions group who continued to meet virtually and have been able to 

contribute their expertise to the rapid design of several new Covid-19 specific 

research studies developed within the organisation. These studies are vital to 

understanding more about the impact of the virus, for example the long term 

recovery of people severely affected by Covid-19 and its impact on local 

healthcare provision. 

The Trust has continued to support the growth of their innovative clinical 

academic programme, developed in 2017/18 for nurses, midwives and allied 

health professionals (NMAHPs) across the Trust.  The programme has 

increased opportunities to bring the latest research evidence into everyday 

practice to enhance patient care.  The Trust has developed a number of new 

roles, including nurse, midwife, AHP and medical doctoral research 
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fellowships and is supporting research education through the NIHR Integrated 

Clinical Academic Fellowship programme and with the support of a number of 

local Higher Education Institutes.  The Trust has also partnered to support 

research development and clinical academic roles with colleagues at BSUH 

and St Barnabas Hospices and through the local NIHR Clinical Research 

Network and NIHR Applied Research Collaborative (ARC) Kent, Surrey and 

Sussex. 

The Trust’s award winning Clinical Improvement Scholarship programme, 

developed in 2017 in collaboration with Health Education England and cited 

by the CQC as an example of best practice, empowers NMAHPs to use 

research evidence to challenge and improve patient care.  The programme, 

which is closely linked to Patient First, focuses on leading change and using 

and developing research evidence to improve the quality of everyday 

care.  The programme has already supported 24 nurses, midwives and allied 

health professionals in developing their research, leadership and quality 

improvement experience to directly influence improvements in care alongside 

their everyday clinical roles. During the Covid-19 pandemic the programme 

has also been adapted to provide four new clinical research fellow roles to 

support locally developed Covid-19 research studies. 

The Trust is one of only four organisations in Kent, Surrey and Sussex to be 

hosting a prestigious NIHR 70@70 Senior Nurse and Midwife Research 

Leader.  This post has been appointed for a period of three years to work 

locally and nationally on engaging and involving more nurses and midwives in 

healthcare research.  

1.4.11 The Best of Western Sussex Hospitals  

April 2020 

As staff responded to the beginning of the pandemic they were supported and 

cheered on by members of the community and public sector. Local schools, 

charities and organisations rallied around to provide care packages, parking, 

groceries and scrubs for health and care staff in the area. 

Love Your Hospital, our dedicated charity, launched The Hospital Heroes 

Covid-19 Appeal at the end of March 2020, which has now raised more than 

£127,000. 

May 2020 

Chichester’s former deputy mayor received rousing applause from dozens of 

staff as he left St Richard’s following his recovery from Covid-19 and following 

two months as an inpatient. Trevor Tupper OBE, who spent two weeks in an 
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induced coma in ITU before being transferred to Ashling ward, said: “Thanks 

to this amazing team, I will be able to celebrate my 80th birthday in a few 

months’ time!”  

June 2020 

Artists paint WSHFT staff for a national Covid-19 project called ‘Portraits for 

NHS heroes’. The campaign became an Instagram hit after artist Tom Croft 

painted an A&E nurse in full PPE as his way of giving something back to the 

health service. As the project grew, the public was encouraged to put people 

forward for portraiture and the Trust’s head of clinical governance and patient 

safety enthusiastically embraced the opportunity and began spending her 

evening nominating her colleagues for pictures. The Western Sussex gallery 

grew to include more than 50 members of staff. 

July 2020 

Pilots and cabin crew have come together to give a boost to staff at WSHFT 

by opening Project Wingman lounges at Worthing Hospital and St Richard’s 

Hospital. Project Wingman started at the height of the Covid-19 pandemic to 

enable furloughed, grounded or redundant UK airline personnel a chance to 

support NHS staff. The airline volunteers are all trained to communicate in 

stressful situations and their lounges provide a space for NHS staff to unwind 

and de-compress while at work.  

August 2020 

An innovative and collaborative way of working, implemented following 

government guidance, has significantly reduced waiting times for patients 

being discharged and helped restoration by freeing up beds for patients who 

need them. This ‘discharge to assess’ model requires team-working across 

many organisations, including the community and social care teams, to 

ensure patients leave hospital when it is safe and appropriate to do so, to 

continue their care and assessments in the right place. The benefits of this 

new discharge model have been significant in terms of improving both patient 

flow and safety and WSHFT is keen to continue developing this way of 

working. 

September 2020  

A £2.1 million investment was approved to develop a new specialist urology 

area in Worthing Hospital to improve patient experience, quality and safety. 

The Urology Investigation Unit (UIU) is the first phase of implementing a new 

strategy for the delivery of urology services, with a second UIU planned for St 

Richard’s Hospital, subject to business case, following completion of the 
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Worthing project. The UIU will bring together a multidisciplinary team of 

doctors and specialist nurses in a purpose-built facility where they can 

investigate, diagnose and treat patients.  

October 2020 

In October 2020, we announced our plans to merge with Brighton and Sussex 

University Hospitals and invited our staff, members and people living locally to 

share their thoughts about the new Trust's vision and values, as well its 

aspirations for the future, by completing a short survey. Nearly 4,000 people 

shared their views on the new organisation’s vision and values, their hopes 

and concerns, and gave their feedback on a selection of naming options.  

A £3 million investment is approved develop a new respiratory ward in 774m2 of 

former administrative space at Worthing Hospital. The new 20-bed specialist 

ward would provide modern purpose-designed facilities to improve care for 

patients with respiratory illnesses. Lead respiratory consultant, Dr Katrine Steele, 

said: “The new ward will improve patient care and enable us to provide specialist 

treatment in a purpose-built modern environment with better facilities.”  

November 2020  

The Duchess of Cambridge chooses a photo of loving couple Pat and Ron 

Wood married for 70 years holding hands in Worthing Hospital before their 

death from COVID for National Portrait Gallery exhibition. The loving couple 

stayed together and held hands until the end thanks to the compassion and 

consideration of staff on Beacon ward. The couple’s daughter, Nikki, said: 

“Worthing Hospital was brilliant, wonderful and caring. I would like to thank all 

the team, doctors, nurses and the ward clerk on Beacon.” 

December 2020 

The Covid-19 vaccination programme launches across the country and 

colleagues and patients at WSHFT receive their jab at the Trust’s two 

vaccination hubs at Worthing Hospital and St Richard’s Hospital. By early 

January 2021, the vaccine hubs had delivered more than 2,000 first doses 

and within a month, 85% of WSHFT staff had received their first dose.  

January 2021 

A £1.79 million investment is approved to replace the 16 year old MRI scanner 

at St Richard’s with a new state-of-the-art model from Siemens called the 

Magnetom Sola. Superintendent radiographer Bill Hallett said: “The new 

machine is absolutely brilliant news for patients. We’re jumping from a second 

generation MRI to fourth generation model that provides much better patient 
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experience. It is virtually silent, more comfortable, less claustrophobic and a 

lot quicker.”  

We also announce a £5.9 million refresh of the laundry and linen department 

over three years at St Richard’s Hospital. This will replace all the equipment, 

improve efficiency and provide new capacity for the laundry to serve greater 

demand and potentially more hospitals or other local businesses. 

February 2021 

Works begin to improve patient flow and increase capacity in the A&E 

departments at Worthing and St Richard’s, following a £3.7 million award from 

Public Dividend Capital funding. Interim chief operating officer Gethin Hughes 

said: “This significant investment in both our A&E departments will ensure we 

can provide our patients and staff with an improved environment for their care. 

It will increase our capacity to care for more patients and it also will improve 

the experience for our patients with areas purposely designed to support our 

pathways of care.”  

March 2021 

The merger of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals and Western Sussex 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust was given the green light, heralding the 

dawn of a new future for healthcare in Sussex. The merger will see the best of 

both Trusts brought together to create a new, larger organisation called 

University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust (UHSussex) which will 

further improve hospital services for patients in Sussex. 

 

1.4.11 Stakeholder Relations 

Collaborative working is key to achieving the ambitions of our Patient First 

programme and its Systems and Partnerships strategic theme, which puts a 

strong focus on the way we work with our external partners as well as on a 

multidisciplinary basis within the Trust.  

Our approach is, and always has been, based on openness, honesty and a 

genuine desire to listen to and act on feedback to improve our services and 

our patients’ experience. The Governors’ Patient Experience and Engagement 

Committee exists to seek the views of Foundation Trust members through the 

governors, and those of the statutory bodies to inform priority work 

programmes to improve patient experience and influence the strategic 

direction of patient and public involvement by ensuring a wide range of 

stakeholder views are gathered and taken into account.  
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Our partners in our local health economy include GPs, community healthcare 

provider, the Coastal West Sussex Clinical Commissioning Group, Sussex 

Health and Care Partnership, Healthwatch West Sussex, social care 

providers, charities, the ambulance service and mental health Trust.  

1.4.12 Directors’ statement  

The directors are required under the NHS Health Service Act 2006 to prepare 

accounts for each financial year. 

The directors consider the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, to 

be fair, balanced and understandable and provide the information necessary 

for patients, regulators, and stakeholders to assess the Trust’s performance, 

business model and strategy. 

Each director of the Trust Board, at the time of approval of the Annual Report 

and Financial Statements, declares that: 

 So far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 

the Trust’s auditor is unaware; and  

 The director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a 

director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that the Trust’s auditor is aware of that 

information. 

 

…………………………………………………………………………. 14 June 2021 

Dame Marianne Griffiths, Chief Executive  
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2. Accountability Report 

2.1 Directors’ Report  

Our Board of Directors is responsible for the management and performance of 

the Trust, and for setting its future strategy. 

This section of the Annual Report provides an overview of 2020/21 from an 

operational and strategic standpoint, outlines the in-year development of the 

Trust’s relationships and partnerships with stakeholders, and details its 

governance and management arrangements from a Board perspective. 

2.1.1 Managing the Trust 

How the Trust is run 

The Trust’s Constitution sets out the way in which the Council of Governors 

and the Board of Directors will operate and work together including their key 

areas of responsibilities. 

The Trust’s Scheme of Delegation sets out the responsibilities of the Trust’s 

Board and key Committees. 

In the event of dispute between the Council and the Board then the dispute 

resolution procedure set out in the Constitution shall be followed in order to 

resolve the matters concerned. This has again not been required during the 

period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021. 

The Board is responsible for the management of the Trust and for ensuring 

proper standards of corporate governance are maintained. The Board 

accounts for the performance of the Trust and consults on its future strategy 

with its members through the Council of Governors (CoG). 

The Board revised its governance arrangements across 2020/21 to ensure 
they remained appropriate when dealing with the national pandemic.  This 
saw in wave one of the pandemic a refocusing of the Quality Assurance 
Committee to focus on assurance on the Trust’s processes for dealing with 
covid patients.  As the Trust moved from wave one to restoration the 
Committee revised its focus again to encompass its wider assurance role.  
During the second wave rather than repurpose the Quality Assurance 
Committee complementary GOLD executive briefings were provided to the 
Non Executives supplemented by weekly Chief Executive information 
exchanges.   
 
As part of the merger with Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
the Boards of both Trust’s reviewed their current Board Committee 
governance arrangements.  The review resulted in a revised Committee 
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structure seeing five Committees being established aligned to the Trusts’ five 
patient first pillars.  The Committees retain their oversight of allocated BAF 
risks but will also have capacity within their respective work programmes to 
provide enhanced assurance to the Board over the Trust’s delivery of their 
stated True Norths, Breakthrough Objectives, Corporate Projects and 
Strategic Initiatives.   
 

Our Board of Directors 01 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 

Alan McCarthy, Chairman from 01-10-18 (Term of Office to 30-09-21) 

Chair of the Executive Appointments and Remuneration Committee  

Mike Rymer Deputy Chair from 01-01-19 (Term of Office to 31-05-2021) 

Non-Executive Director  

Joanna Crane, Senior Independent Director (Term of Office to 30-06-

2022) 

Chair of the Quality Assurance Committee 

Chair of Charitable Funds Committee 

Jon Furmston (Term of Office to 30-06-2022) 

Chair of the Audit Committee 

Lizzie Peers (Term of Office to 11-05-2023) 

Chair of the Finance and Performance Committee 

Patrick Boyle (Term of Office to 19-01-2024)  

Non-Executive Director 

ASSOCIATE NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (non-voting members of the 

Board) 

Lillian Philip (Term of Office to 29 April 2023) 

Kirstin Baker (Term of Office as an associate NED was linked to the 

management contract to 31 March 2021, Kirstin then became a voting 

NED of UHSussex from 1 April 2021)  
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 

Marianne Griffiths, Chief Executive 

Dr George Findlay, Chief Medical Officer and Deputy Chief Executive 

Karen Geoghegan, Chief Financial Officer 

Pete Landstrom, Chief Delivery and Strategy Officer 

Denise Farmer, Chief Culture and Organisation Development Officer   

Maggie Davies, Chief Nurse  

Fiona Ashworth, Chief Operating Officer (To 30 September 2020) 

Gethin Hughes, Chief Operating Officer (From 01 October 2020) 

Board of Directors 

The Chair and Non-Executive Director Directors are appointed by the Council 

of Governors. 

The Directors of the Trust for the period of this report are shown in the table 

below together with their attendance at Board meetings for the same period. 

All of the Non-Executive Directors are considered to be independent.  

The Chair of the Board is also the Chair of the Council of Governors.  

Deputy Chair 

Good practice suggests that the Trust should have a Deputy Chair to stand in 

during any period of absence of the Chair. The Trust Constitution makes 

provision for the appointment of a Deputy Chair and NHS Improvement’s 

guidance states that this should be a Council of Governors appointment, 

although it would be expected that the Chair would make a recommendation 

to Governors. 

Mike Rymer, Non-Executive Director, is the Deputy Chair. 

Senior Independent Director 

The Senior Independent Director is a Non-Executive Director appointed by the 

Board as a whole in consultation with the Council of Governors. The Senior 

Independent Director has a key role in supporting the Chair in leading the 

Board and acting as a sounding board and source of advice for the Chair. 

Joanna Crane, Non-Executive Director, is the Senior Independent Director. 
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Operation of the Board 

The Board has agreed a scheme of reservation and delegation which sets out 

those decisions which must be taken by the Board and those which may be 

delegated to the Executive or to Board sub-committees.  

The Board sets the Trust’s strategic aims and provides active leadership of 

the Trust. It is collectively responsible for the exercise of its powers and the 

performance of the Trust, for ensuring compliance with the Trust’s Provider 

Licence, relevant statutory requirements and contractual obligations, and for 

ensuring the quality and safety of services. It does this through the approval of 

key policies and procedures, the annual plan and budget for the year, and 

schemes for investment or disinvestment above the level of delegation.   

The Non-Executive Directors play a key role in taking a broad, strategic view, 

ensuring constructive challenge is made and supporting and scrutinising the 

performance of the Executive Directors, whilst helping to develop proposals 

on strategy. 

Board meetings follow a formal agenda which includes an update from the 

Chief Executive, a structured integrated performance report that reflects the 

Trust’s performance against its True North priorities, and where appropriate 

information on its breakthrough objectives, strategic initiatives and corporate 

projects and reports from each Board Committee Chair. Complementing these 

items are specific reports covering Strategic and Operational items including; 

patient safety and experience, infection prevention and control, safer staffing 

information along with wider workforce matters.  Through the robust reporting 

through the Board Committee Chair the Board is updated on a range of 

clinical governance, financial and non-financial performance, together with 

performance against quality indicators set by the Care Quality Commission 

(CQC), NHS Improvement and by the Executive. These performance 

measures include metrics covering infection control targets, patient access to 

the Trust, waiting times, length of stay, complaints data and the results of the 

Friends and Family Test.  The Board receives also receives information in 

respect of compliance with its provider licence.  

During the year the Trust held five Public Board Meetings, and 14 Private 

Board Meetings. There were also 3 Public Council of Governors Meetings and 

the Annual General Meeting and, in addition, there was a joint review day 

between the Board and Council of Governors.   

In addition, subject specific seminars were held with the Board and 

Governors, covering topics such as the Trust’s clinical strategy, the 

Management Contract between WSHFT and BSUH and the development of a 
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sustainable group structure for WSHFT and BSUH and the Trust’s 

sustainability strategy. 

Attendance at Public Board meetings 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

Name 6 Aug 20 
 

1 Oct 20 
 

 
3 Dec 20 

 
4 Feb 21  

 
^19 Mar 21 

 

Alan McCarthy (Chair)      

Patrick Boyle       

Joanna Crane      

Jon Furmston      

Lizzie Peers      

Mike Rymer      

Kirstin Baker*      

Lillian Philip*$      

Marianne Griffiths      

George Findlay      

Karen Geoghegan      

Maggie Davies      

Pete Landstrom*      

Fiona Ashworth  Fiona left the Trust on 30 September 2020 

Gethin Hughes 
Gethin started as 
Interim COO from 
01 October 2020 

    

*  non-voting members of the Board 
$ on maternity leave from the end of February 
^Extraordinary Public Board Meeting 

Due to the national guidance on public gatherings and social distancing the Public Board in 
June 2020 was cancelled and then subsequent meetings were undertaken by MS 
Teams.     
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Attendance at Private Board meetings 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

Name Apr Jun Aug Oct Dec^ Dec Feb 

Alan McCarthy 
(Chair) 

       

Patrick Boyle         

Joanna Crane        

Jon Furmston        

Lizzie Peers        

Kirstin Baker*        

Mike Rymer        

Lillian Philip*$        

Marianne 
Griffiths 

       

Pete 
Landstrom* 

       

George Findlay        

Karen 
Geoghegan 

       

Denise Farmer*        

Maggie Davies        

Fiona Ashworth    Fiona left on 30 September 2020 

Gethin Hughes 
Gethin started as Interim COO 

from 01 October 2020 
    

Jennie Shore*        

Tim Taylor*        

 
* non-voting members of the Board 
$on maternity leave from the end of February 
^ Extraordinary Private Board 
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Attendance at EXTRAORDINARY Joint Private Board Meetings in Common 

between WSHFT and BSUH between1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021.  (Meetings 

taken place to enable transactional items relating to the Merger to be progressed.)  

Note only WSHFT Board members are recorded in the table below 

Name Jun Jun Jul  Oct Oct Nov Nov Nov Dec Jan Jan Feb Feb 

Alan McCarthy              

Patrick Boyle              

Joanna Crane              

Lizzie Peers              

Kirstin Baker              

Mike Rymer              

Marianne 

Griffiths 
             

Pete 

Landstrom 
             

George 

Findlay 
             

Karen 

Geoghegan 
             

Denise Farmer              

Jon Furmston              

Lillian Philip*$              

Maggie Davies              

Fiona 

Ashworth 
   Fiona left on 30 September 2020 

Gethin Hughes 

Gethin started as 

Interim COO from 

01 October 2020 

          

* non-voting members of the Board 
$on maternity leave from the end of February 
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Complementing both the Public and Private Board meetings were a number of 
Board Workshops again held with BSUH to review and provide input into the 
transactional merger processes. 
 
 
Board Committees 
 
The Board has established a number of formal sub-committees that support 

the discharging of the Board’s responsibilities. Each Committee is chaired by 

a Non-Executive Director.  

These committees do not operate independently of each other but where 

appropriate operate together (and indeed report to one another) to ensure full 

coverage and clarity on all areas of Trust activity. The diagram below shows 

the inter-relationships of the Committees and the Board  

 

 

 

 

 

 

During the merger planning the Boards of Brighton and Sussex University 

Hospitals NHS Trust and Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

the Boards reviewed their current Board Committee governance 

arrangements. Both Boards had adopted a similar structure to that shown 

above, with a Finance and Performance and Quality Assurance committee 

providing key assurance oversight on behalf of the Board.   The merger 

review resulted in a revised Committee structure being established for 

2021/22 seeing five key assurance Committees, outside that provided by the 

Audit Committee, being established. Each Committee is aligned to the Trusts’ 

five patient first pillars.  Whilst each Committee retains their oversight of 

allocated BAF risks they will also have capacity within their respective work 

programmes to provide enhanced assurance to the Board over the Trust’s 

delivery of their stated True Norths, Breakthrough Objectives, Corporate 

Projects and Strategic Initiatives.  The revised governance structure is shown 

overleaf 
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Audit Committee 

The existence of an independent Audit Committee is the central means by 

which the Trust Board ensures effective control arrangements are in place. 

The Committee membership is solely made of Non-Executive Directors in line 

with the Code of Governance for Foundation Trusts.  

The Audit Committee independently reviews, monitors and reports to the 

Board on the attainment of effective control systems and financial reporting 

processes.  

Register of Members’ attendance at Audit Committee meeting for the 

period 01 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

Name Apr 
 

Jun 
 

Jul Oct Jan Total 

Jon Furmston 

(Non-Executive Director and Committee Chair) 
     5 of 5 

Lizzie Peers 

(Non-Executive Director) 
     5 of 5 

Joanna Crane  

(Non-Executive Director)  
     5 of 5 

Patrick Boyle * 

(Non-Executive Director) 
     1 of 5 

*Patrick is not a regular member but as all NEDs are invited to be members he 
attended this meeting to ensure quoracy was remained as two NEDs had other 
commitments during the meeting with NHSE/I  
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The Chief Financial Officer, Chief Workforce and Organisational Development 

Director, Local Counter Fraud Services, Internal and External Auditors are 

regular attendees at meetings of the Committee. The Committee requests 

other senior Trust officers to attend for specific items. The Committee is 

supported by the Company Secretary. 

The Trust retained its External Auditors, Ernst and Young for the year.  

The Trust does not have its own internal audit or counter fraud functions.  The 

Trust’s Internal Auditor is BDO LLP.  The Trust’s Local Counter Fraud Service 

is provided by RSM UK.  

The Audit Committee agenda is based upon an agreed annual work-plan. In 

order to maintain independent channels of communication, the members of 

the Audit Committee hold a private meeting collectively with External Audit, 

Internal Audit and Counter Fraud ahead of each Audit Committee. This 

provides all parties the opportunity to raise any issues without the presence of 

management. 

The Audit Committee is responsible to the Board for reviewing the adequacy 

of the governance, board assurance and risk management and internal 

control processes within the Trust. In carrying out this work the Audit 

Committee obtains assurance from the work of the Internal Audit, External 

Audit and Counter Fraud Services. 

The Audit Committee review the financial year-end Annual Report, Annual 

Accounts and Annual Governance Statement with the External Auditor prior to 

Board approval and sign off. 

The Audit Committee agrees the schedule of Internal Audit reviews at the start 

of the year and receives the reports of those audits and tracks the 

implementation of recommendations at each of its meetings.  

 

Quality Assurance Committee 

The Quality Assurance Committee supports the Board in ensuring that the 

Trust’s management of clinical and non-clinical processes and controls are 

effective in setting and monitoring good standards and continuously improving 

the quality of services provided by the Trust.  
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Register of Members’ attendance at Quality Assurance Committee 

meeting for the period 01 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

Name ^May Jun ^Jul Sep Dec Mar Total 

Joanna Crane 

(Non-Executive Director and 

Committee Chair) 

      6 of 6 

Mike Rymer 

(Non-Executive Director) 
      6 of 6 

Patrick Boyle 

(Non-Executive Director)        4 of 6 

Lizzie Peers** 

(Non-Executive Director)       3 of 6 

Jon Furmston** 

(Non-Executive Director)       1 of 6 

Alan McCarthy** 

(Non-Executive Director and Trust 

Chair) 

      1 of 6 

George Findlay# 

(Chief Medical Officer and Deputy 

Chief Executive) 

      1 of 6 

Maggie Davies 

(Chief Nurse)   
      6 of 6 

Fiona Ashworth 

(Chief Operating Officer) 
    

Fiona left on 30 
September 2020 

2 of 6 

Gethin Hughes 

(Interim Chief Operating Officer) 

Gethin started as 
Interim COO from 01 

October 2020 
   2 of 6 

^May and July were Extraordinary QAC meetings   
# George was MD of BUSH until the summer of 2020 so his attendance at WSHFT Committees was reduced to allow 
him to fulfil that role. 
**In attendance not formally a member of the Committee 

 
 
 
 

Finance and Performance Committee 

The Finance and Performance Committee supports the Board to ensure that 

all appropriate action is taken to achieve the financial objectives of the Trust 

through regular review of financial strategies and performance, investments, 

and capital and estates plans and performance. 

The Committee is chaired by a designated Non-Executive however all Non-

Executive and Executive Directors are invited to attend. 

 



 

Page 63 

Register of Members’ attendance at the Finance and Performance 

Committee meeting for the period 01 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

Name Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec^ Jan Feb Feb* Mar Total 

Alan McCarthy 

(Chairman) 
             

11 of 

13 

Lizzie Peers 

(Non-

Executive 

Director & 

Committee 

Chair) 

             
 13 of 

13 

Mike Rymer 

(Non-

Executive 

Director) 

             
11  of 

13 

Marianne 

Griffiths (Chief 

Executive) 

             
12 of 

13 

Karen 

Geoghegan 

(Chief 

Financial 

Officer ) 

             
 13 of 

13 

George 

Findlay # 

(Chief Medical 

Officer and 

Deputy Chief 

Executive) 

             5 of 13 

Maggie Davies 

(Chief Nurse) 
             8 of 13 

Jon Furmston 

** 

(Non-

Executive 

Director) 

             
6  of 

13 

Joanna 

Crane** 

(Non-

Executive 

Director) 

             
5  of 

13 

Patrick Boyle** 

(Non-

Executive 

Director) 

             
4  of 

13 

Fiona 

Ashworth 
      Fiona left on 30 September 2020 4 of 13 
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Name Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec^ Jan Feb Feb* Mar Total 

(Chief 

Operating 

Officer) 

Gethin Hughes 

(Interim Chief 

Operating 

Officer) 

Gethin started as Interim COO from 

01 October 2020 
       7 of 13 

** Non-members, in attendance 
# George was MD of BUSH until the summer of 2020 so his attendance at WSHFT Committees was reduced to allow 
him to fulfil that role. 
 

Charitable Funds Committee 

The purpose of the Charitable Funds Committee is to monitor progress and 

performance against the strategic direction of the Trust’s charity fundraising 

activity as determined by the Board as corporate Trustee; to approve and 

monitor expenditure of charitable funds in line with specified priority 

requirements; and to monitor the management of the Trust’s investment 

portfolio ensuring that the Trust at all times adheres to Charity Law and to 

best practice in governance and fundraising. 

Register of Members’ attendance at the Charitable Funds Committee for 

the period 01 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

*Committee member from October 2020 
** Non-members, in attendance 
 

 Appointment and Remuneration Committee 

The Committee sets the terms and conditions of the Executive Directors. This 

committee’s membership is the Trust Chair and Non-Executive Directors only. 

Name Jul Oct Jan Total 

Joanna Crane 
(Non-Executive Director and Committee Chair) 

   3 of 3 

Lizzie Peers 

(Non-Executive Director) 
   3 of 3 

Patrick Boyle 

(Non-Executive Director) 
   3 of 3 

Karen Seabridge  

(Acting Finance Director) 
   2 of 3 

Maggie Davies* 

(Chief Nurse) 
   2 of 3 

Mike Rymer** 

(Non-Executive Director) 
   1 of 3 

Lillian Philip** 

(Associate Non-Executive Director) 
   1 of 3 
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In attendance at meetings are the Chief Executive, Chief Workforce and 

Organisational Development Director and the Group Company Secretary.  

During the period the Committee did not procure any external advice relating 

to pay. 

2.1.2 Appointments and appraisal 

The Chief Executive undertakes an appraisal on the performance of the 

Executive Directors, which are formally reported to the Appointment and 

Remuneration Committee.  

The Chair conducts the Chief Executive’s appraisal which is reported in the 

same way.  

The Chair undertakes the appraisal of the Non-Executive Directors, having 

sought feedback from other Directors. The Senior Independent Director 

conducted the appraisal of the Chair which included feedback from Directors 

Governors and members of the Integrated Care System.  

The Chair and Non-Executive Directors appraisals were formally reported to 

the Council of Governors. 

The Chairman, other Non-Executive Directors, and the Chief Executive are 

responsible for deciding the appointment of Executive Directors. 

Non-Executive Directors are appointed by the Council of Governors with the 

process being led by the Governors Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee. Non-Executive Directors are appointed for a three-year term in 

office. A Non-Executive can be re-appointed for upto two further three-year 

terms in office on an uncontested basis, subject to the recommendation of the 

Chairman and approval by the Council of Governors. 

During the year the Council of Governors approved the re-appointment of 

Non-Executive Directors; Mike Rymer for a shorter term to 31 May 2021 to 

allow for the recruitment of his successor to conclude and Patrick Boyle for a 

second term of three years to 19 January 2024. The Council of Governors 

also appointed Kirstin Baker to be a full voting NED from the 1 April 2021 

upon completion of the merger. 

2.1.3 Statement of compliance with the NHS Foundation Trust Code of 

Governance 2020-21 

Western Sussex NHS Foundation Trust has applied the principles of the NHS 

Foundation Trust Code of Governance on a ‘comply or explain’ basis. The 

NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance, most recently revised in July 
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2014, is based on the principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code 

issued in 2012. 

2.1.4 Statement of compliance with the NHS Constitution 

The Board of Directors takes account of the NHS Constitution in its decisions 

and actions, as they relate to patients, the public and staff. The Board of 

Directors is compliant with the principles, rights and pledges set out in the 

Constitution. However, the Trust has recognised that it has not met all the 

NHS Constitutional Targets during 2020/21 due mainly to the impact of the 

challenges in dealing with the Covid-19 pandemic and activity being reduced 

in line with National guidance and to allow staff and resources to be directed 

to the treatment of Covid-19 patients.   

2.1.5 Statement on directors’ disclosures 

The Annual Report is required to include a statement that for each individual, 

who is a director at the time the report is approved, as follows: 

 So far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information 

of the which the (external) auditor is unaware; and 

 the director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a 

director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that 

information.  

The Directors have confirmed the above statement. 

2.1.6 Declarations of interest 

All Board members have declared their relationship, under the terms of a 

management contract, with Brighton and Sussex University Hospital NHS 

Trust as an ‘Interest’ in order to provide transparency on Board decision 

making. 

No Board Member has declared any significant commitments that require 

disclosure, other than that highlighted above relating to Brighton and Sussex 

University Hospital NHS Trust.   

The Trust holds a register of company directorships and other significant 

interests, held by both directors and governors, which may conflict with their 

management responsibilities. The Audit Committee receives an Annual 

Report on Board Declarations and the process to mitigate any potential 

conflicts. The Council of Governors receives an Annual report on Governors 

Declarations in the public part of its meeting. 
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The register of these interests is made publicly available on the Trust’s public 

website.  The register can be found at 

https://www.westernsussexhospitals.nhs.uk/your-trust/board/declarations-of-interest/ 

In line with a revision to the standard contract for NHS Services Provider 

Trusts are required to report the level of staff required to make an annual 

declaration who have made such a declaration.  Whilst the majority of staff 

make a nil return, we secured returns from 482 of the 483 staff required to 

make a return.  

2.1.7 NHS Oversight Framework 

The Trust is subject to the NHS England and Improvement’s Oversight 

Framework which provides the framework for overseeing providers and 

identifying potential support needs.  The framework looks at five themes: 

 Quality of care 

 Finance and use of resources 

 Operational performance 

 Strategic change 

 Leadership and improvement capability (well-led) 

Based on information from these themes, providers are segmented from 1 to 

4, where ‘4’ reflects providers receiving the most support, and ‘1’ reflects 

providers with maximum autonomy.  A Foundation Trust will only be in 

segments 3 or 4 where it has been found to be in breach or suspected breach 

of its licence. 

2.1.8 Finance and use of resources 

The finance and use of resources theme is based on the scoring of five 

measures from 1 to 4, where ‘1’ reflects the strongest performance.  These 

scores are then weighted to give an overall score.  Given that finance and use 

of resources is only one of the five themes feeding into the Single Oversight 

Framework, the segmentation of the Trust disclosed above might not be the 

same as the overall finance score here. 

  2020/21 Scores 2019/20 Scores 

Area  Metric Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 

Financial 

sustainability 

Capital service 

capacity 
1 2 2 2 1 1 

Liquidity 1 1 1 1 1 1 

https://www.westernsussexhospitals.nhs.uk/your-trust/board/declarations-of-interest/
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  2020/21 Scores 2019/20 Scores 

Area  Metric Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 

Financial 

Efficiency 
I& E margin* 2 2 2 2 1 1 

Financial 

Controls 

Distance from 

financial plan 
1 1 1 1 2 2 

Agency spend 1 1 1 1 1 1 

Overall scoring 1 1 1 1 1 1 

 

* The interim financial framework in place during 2020/21 and the requirement 

to breakeven capped the I&E margin metric at '2' 

2.1.9 NHSI Well led framework 

In line with the FT code of governance, the Board commissioned an external 

review of its Board effectiveness, such reviews should be undertaken at 

periodic intervals. The review was undertaken in 2018/19 by Deloitte who 

provided initial feedback to the Board at the end of the year with the formal 

report provided in May.  The Board was delighted to receive the feedback 

from Deloitte who concluded “Overall we are of the view that the governance 

arrangements in place at WSHFT are highly effective, with a clear sense of 

purpose and values, enabling a culture of continuous improvement and 

innovation focusing on the patient. Many of the attributes of a high performing 

organisation as defined within the well led framework were evident throughout 

our review.”   

The CQC inspection undertaken during 2019/20 re confirmed the 2018/19 

assessment as the Trust was awarded the rating of “outstanding” for Well Led.   

Whilst not a formal assessment as part of the merger approval process 

NHSE/I concluded that there were no reasons not to progress with the 

merger. An element of the merger involved the engagement with the Board 

which offered an opportunity to raise any issues with the capacity and 

capability of the Board. No such observations were made. 

2.1.10 Emergency Planning and Business Continuity 

The minimum requirements which commissioners and providers of NHS 

funded services must meet are set out in the NHS England core standards for 

Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) Assurance. The 
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accountable emergency officer in each organisation is responsible for 

ensuring these standards are met. 

  

Due to the impact of the Coronavirus Pandemic, the 2020 Emergency 

Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) Assurance process was 

reviewed by the national director of EPRR, NHS England and NHS 

Improvement, the revised process was determined to require:  

 an updated assurance position of any organisation rated partially 

compliant or non-compliant in the 2019/20 assurance process; 

 assurance that a thorough and systematic review of the response to 

the first wave of the Covid-19 pandemic has been undertaken and the 

learning embedded; and 

 confirmation that any key learning identified as part of this process is 

actively informing wider winter preparedness activities for your system. 

  

A full statement of assurance stating that the trust remained fully compliant 

with all core standards, as detailed in the previous 2019 assurance return with 

additional details covering the above areas, was initially submitted to the 

Sussex NHS Commissioners in October 2020. This was then, post review by 

the Commissioners, subsequently submitted to the Trust Executive Committee 

and Board as part of the Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response 

(EPRR) Assurance Annual Report in January 2021. 

  

The Western Sussex Hospitals Emergency Planning and Business Continuity 

Department formulates a detailed work stream identifying key risks and 

appropriate mitigating actions for the identified core standards and any 

assessed shortfalls which is then expanded further as necessary with specific 

Emergency Planning and Business Continuity work flow for each calendar 

year with specific key dates identified for completion. This work is monitored 

through the Emergency Planning and Business Continuity Integrated 

Performance Group quarterly and reported to the Trust Executive Committee 

on an annual basis or as required.  

In November 2020, EU exit planning was ‘stood up’ again and work continued 

with health and multi-agency partners to ensure appropriate preparedness for 

the potential impacts of the end of the EU Exit transition period. This built on 

work completed previously and took into account the implications of the 

Covid-19 pandemic, including the impact on staff well-being of managing 
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these events concurrently. The Board was provided with an update on EU Exit 

– End of Transition period. 

The past year has seen unprecedented pressure on all areas of the Trust due 

to the Coronavirus Pandemic, but despite this, the Emergency Planning and 

Business Continuity team have continued to ensure that the Trust’s 

Emergency Planning and Business Continuity arrangements are compliant 

with the Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) 

Assurance Process all EPRR Core Standards for a fourth year in a row.  

2.1.11 Membership engagement  

We have continued to refine and improve the way we communicate with 

members and how we enable them to share their views.  

Our e-newsletter, @WesternSussex, is a popular channel for communicating 

with members. It contains news, event information, feedback methods and 

articles explaining how the Trust responds to suggestions from patients, 

carers and members.   

In September 2020, we hosted our first virtual Annual General Meeting of the 

Council of Governors and Annual Members Meeting. Chief Executive, Dame 

Marianne Griffiths reflected on the previous year before Dr James Nicholson, 

clinical director for anaesthesia, critical care, theatres and pain, spoke about 

how the critical care team responded and adapted during Covid-19.  

In October 2020, we announced our plans to merge with Brighton and Sussex 

University Hospitals and invited our members and people living locally to 

share their thoughts about the new Trust's vision and values, as well its 

aspirations for the future, by completing a short survey.  

More than 700 members of public shared their views on the new 

organisation’s vision and values, their hopes and concerns, and gave their 

feedback on a selection of naming options.  

Following announcement of our plans to merge with Brighton & Sussex 

University Hospitals, we introduced a campaign in December 2020 to 

welcome new members across West Sussex, Brighton and Hove, Mid Sussex 

and East Sussex. By 31 March 2021, we had recruited some 914 new 

members.  

 2.1.12 Disclosures to Auditors 

The directors are required under the NHS Health Service Act 2006 to prepare 

accounts for each financial year. 



 

Page 71 

The directors consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is 

fair, balances and understandable and provides the information necessary for 

patients, regulators, and stakeholders to assess the Trust’s performance, 

business model and strategy. 

Each director of the Trust Board, at the time of approval of the Annual Report 

and Financial Statements, declares that: 

 So far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 

the Trust’s auditor is unaware; and  

 The director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a 

director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that the Trust’s auditor is aware of that 

information. 

2.1.13 Income Disclosures 

The income from the provision of goods and services for the purposes of the 

health service in England is greater than the income from the provision of 

goods and services for any other purposes.  Income from goods and services 

not for the purposes of the health service in England is required to at a 

minimum cover the full cost of delivery of the goods and services.  Any 

surplus from these activities is reinvested and supports the provision of goods 

and services for the purposes of the health service in England. 

2.1.14 Political Donations 

The Trust did not make any donations to political parties during the year. 

2.1.15 Better Payments Practice Code 

The Trust’s measure of performance in paying suppliers is the Better Payment 

Practice Code (BPPC). The Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all valid 

invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, 

whichever is later. In 2020/21 possible interest liabilities on invoices was 

£428,000. The total amount of interest actually paid was nil (see note 12.2 in 

the Notes to the Accounts) 

Measure of Compliance 2020/21 
 

2020/21 

  Number   £000 

Non-NHS Payables       

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices 
Paid in the Year 

88,910  236,435 

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices 
Paid Within Target 

82,686  221,401 
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Percentage of Non NHS Trade 
Invoices Paid Within Target 

93.0%  93.6% 

  
   

NHS Payables 
   

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in 
the Year 

2,850  12,018 

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid 
Within Target 

2,187  7,990 

Percentage of NHS Trade 
Invoices Paid Within Target 

76.7%  66.5% 

 

2.2 Governors’ Report 

2.2.1 Council of Governors 

As a Foundation Trust Western Sussex NHS Hospitals has a Council of 

Governors (COG). The Board of the Trust is directly responsible for the 

performance and success of the Trust and satisfying the COG that the Board 

is achieving its aims and fulfilling its statutory obligations. Governors act as a 

vital link to the local community and report matters of concern raised with 

them to the Board, via Governor Patient Experience and Engagement 

Committee. Governors also participate in other activities in support of the 

Trust’s work. 

2.2.2 Role of Governors 

The COG has a number of statutory roles and responsibilities as follows;  

 Appoint and, if appropriate, remove the Chair 

 Appoint and, if appropriate, remove the other Non-Executive Directors 

 Decide the remuneration and allowances and other terms and 

conditions of office of the chair and other Non-Executive Directors 

 Approve (or not) any new appointment of a Chief Executive 

 Approve and, if appropriate, remove the Trust’s auditor 

 Receive the Trust’s Annual Accounts and Annual report at a general 

meeting of the COG 

 Hold the Non-Executive Directors, individually and collectively, to 

account for the performance of the Board of Directors 

 Represent the interests of the members of the Trust 

 Approve Significant Transactions as defined by NHS Improvement 

guidance 

 Approve an application by the Trust to enter into a merger or 

acquisition 
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 Decide whether the Trust’s non-NHS work would significantly interfere 

with its principal purpose; and 

 Approve amendments to the Trust’s Constitution 

2.2.3 Composition of the COG 

The COG comprises the following Constituencies;  

Elected public and patient governors 

The COG has 15 Governors elected from its membership that represent the 

public and patients (14) and one Governor who represents patients who live out 

of the catchment area of the Trust. Public Governors are elected from within 

Local Authority areas. The number of elected Governors for each constituency 

is in proportion to the population within the area using the Trust’s services. 

Area Number 

Adur       2 

Arun       5 

Chichester       3 

Horsham       1 

Worthing       3 

Patient       1 

Total Elected Public and Patient Governors       15 

 

Staff Governors 

There are six staff Governors drawn from different areas of the workforce and 

elected by staff members from those particular professional areas. 

Professional Area Number 

Medical and Dental       1 

Nursing and Midwifery       1 

Scientific, Technical and Professional 

(including Allied Health Professionals) 

      1 

Additional Clinical Services       1 
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Estates and Ancillary       1 

Administrative and Clerical       1 

Total Elected Staff Governors        6 

 

Stakeholder (Appointed) Governors 

The Trust has a further seven Governors who are appointed by partnership or 

stakeholder organisations.  

Partner/Stakeholder Organisation Number 

West Sussex County Council       1 

Brighton and Sussex Medical School       1 

Friends of WSHFT Hospitals        1 

University of Brighton School of Nursing and Midwifery       1 

Worthing Borough Council       1 

Chichester District Council       1 

Arun District Council        1 

Total Partner/Stakeholder Governors       7 

 

As part of the merger the Trust was required to amend its constitution to 

reflect the extended geography of the new Trust. At the Council meeting held 

on 16 October 2020 approval was given to add three new public 

constituencies for Brighton & Hove, East Sussex and Mid Sussex.   

The Trust commenced a recruitment campaign with an online membership 

form to allow prospective members to register to become member of the 

enlarged Trust at the time of the transaction.  Initially information on how to 

become a member was circulated by our neighbouring Foundation Trusts to 

their members and placed on our website.  In the latter quarter of 2020/21 the 

Trust utilised a number of avenues to engage with our communities to secure 

members, including utilising patient letters and staff communications to 

encourage them or friends and family to become members.  It should be 

noted that BSUH staff automatically became members of the Trust on the 1 

April 2021 subject to the ability to opt out. 
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At its meeting on the 18 March 2021 the Council agreed the relevant minimum 

numbers of members within each of its new constituencies and these are 

detailed within the constitution for University Hospitals Sussex NHS 

Foundation Trust. 

During the year 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 attendance at Council of 

Governor meetings was as follows: 

Constituency Full Name End of Term of 

Office1 

Number of 

COG meetings 

attended2 

Elected Governors    

Public – Adur VACANCY -  

Public – Adur John Todd 30 June 2022  5 of 5 

Public – Arun  Lyn Camps 30 June 2022  5 of 5 

Public – Arun Anita Mackenzie 31 March 2021  1 of 5 

Public – Arun  Jill Long 31 March 2021  5 of 5 

Public – Arun John Thompson 31 March 2021  5 of 5 

Public – Arun Andrew Ratcliffe 31 March 2021  5 of 5 

Public – Chichester  Linda Tomsett 30 September 2021  4 of 5 

Public – Chichester  Alan Sutton 31 March 2021  3 of 5 

Public – Chichester  Les Willcox 30 September 2021  3 of 5 

Public – Horsham John Davies* Retired 31 March 

2021 

 3 of 5  

Public – Worthing  John Bull 31 March 2021  4 of 5 

Public – Worthing Pauline Constable 30 June 2022  4 of 5 

Public – Worthing  Patricia Peal 31 March 2021  2 of 5  

Out of Area Stuart Fleming* 30 September 2021  3 of 5 

                                                           
1 Given the merger for those Governors not continuing their term of office end date is shown as 
31 March 2021 rather than their three year elected term end date 
2 Shows the Number of Council of Governor meetings attended by the individual Governor as 
a proportion of the number of meetings they were eligible to attend, reflecting new members to 
the Council in year. 
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Staff Governors    

Medical & Dental  Anna Mathew* 30 September 2021 4 of 5 

Nursing & Midwifery Moira Whitlock 30 September  

2021 

3 of 5 

Scientific, Technical & 

Professional 

Ryan De-Vall 31 October 2021  5 of 5 

Additional Clinical Services Miranda Jose 31 October  2021  4 of 5 

Administrative & Clerical Jacqui Campbell 30 November 2021  0 of 5 

Estates & Ancillary Warwick George  30 June 2022  0 of 5 

Appointed Governors    

Brighton & Sussex Medical 

School 

Professor 

Somnath 

Mukhopadhyay 

31 March 2021  2 of 5  

University of Brighton 

School of Nursing & 

Midwifery 

Professor  

Kathleen Galvin  

31 March 2023   2 of 5  

Chichester District Council Councillor Donna 

Johnson 

30 March 2021 1 of 5 

West Sussex County 

Council 

Councillor Mike 

Magill 

28 February 2023  2 of 5 

Worthing Borough Council Councillor Val 

Turner  

31 March 2021   3  of 5 

Arun District Council Councillor Gill 

Yeates 

31 March 2021  3 of 5 

Friends of WSHFT 

Hospitals  

Jane Ramage  31 March 2021  4 of 5 

Note * these are associate (non voting governors) 

2.2.4 Stakeholder (Appointed) Governors 

Under the Trust’s Constitution, an appointed Governor may hold office for a 

period of up to three years and at the end of each term they can, subject to 

satisfactory performance, be re-appointed for a further two terms of up to 

three years (ie 9 years in total). 
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During the period year, there were three appointed governors who’s terms of 

office ended.  All three were reappointed by the relevant organisation for a 

further term.  These Governors were, Cllr Val Turner from Worthing Borough 

Council, Professor Kathleen Galvin from University of Brighton School of 

Nursing & Midwifery and Professor Somnath Mukhopadhyay from Brighton & 

Sussex Medical School.    

2.2.5 Elected Governors. 

Taking into account the impact of Covid-19 on the Country a decision was 

taken by the Council to defer the elections that would have returned 

candidates for June 2020.   Following that decision, the Council agreed to ask 

those governors whose terms of office expired in June 2020 if they would be 

prepared to extend their current term until September 2021, which was the 

next round of planned elections.  

Confirmation was received from those affected Governors that they would be 

willing to have their term of office extended until September 2021, noting that 

for none of those affected were within the last three year term of office.  

2.2.6 Governor expenses 

The Trust is required to disclose the value of expenses claimed by the Council 

of Governors during the financial year.  

 1 April 2020 to 

31 March 2021 

1 April 2019 to 

31 March 2020 

Total number of governors in 
office (as at 31st March) 

27 28 

Number of governors receiving 
expenses  

5 12 

Aggregate sum of expenses paid 
to governors  

£832.98 * £8,578.53 

 

* with the move to virtual meetings in response to the national social distancing 

requirement this saw a significant reduction in travel expenses 

2.2.7 Lead Governor 

NHS Improvement (NHSI) requires that a Council of Governors elects a Lead 

Governor to be the primary link with the Foundation Trust. A Lead Governor is 

elected by the full Council and would also be the formal link to NHSI if 

circumstance required direct communication between the Council of 

Governors and the Regulator.  On 1 October 2019 Lyn Camps, Public 

Governor for the Arun constituency was elected by the full Council to the role 
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of Lead Governor.  John Thompson, Public Governor for Arun constituency 

was elected to act as Deputy Lead Governor. 

2.2.8 Governor engagement 

There were five Council of Governors meetings held in public in the year. Due 

to impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and, following the guidance from NHS on 

social distancing restrictions, the Council of Governor meetings that took 

place between August 2020 and March 2021 were conducted via MS Teams.  

The public were not invited to attend in person, but were provided with a link 

to view the meeting and given the opportunity to submit questions prior to the 

meeting. The agenda at each meeting includes reports from Governors in 

respect of their work on the Governor Committees and working groups.  They 

also receive regular presentations from the Non-Executive Directors on their 

work and that of the Committees on which they Chair.  The Council also 

receive regular reports in respect of the Trust’s financial and operational 

performance along with the Trust’s delivery of its quality priorities.  

In addition, the Board and Council met together to discuss key issues and 

developments. These meetings are augmented by assurance meetings held 

in private between the Governors and Non-Executive Directors only.  In 

addition the Chair and Chief Executive have held a number of briefing 

sessions for Governors during this financial year. 

To support Governors in their role the Trust runs information seminars on 

areas of interest. This year these included an IT Response to Covid, Capital 

Plan, Green Steering Group, Ophthalmology – Eye Clinic Improvements, 

Business Continuity, Reducing Abusive Behaviours and a Covid update.  

Ahead of the Trust’s planned merger with Brighton and Sussex University 

Hospitals NHS Trust, a number of additional information seminars were added 

to inform Governors ahead of the merger of their activities and performance. 

These included 3Ts, BSUH Estates & Facilities, BSUH Finance, BSUH 

People, BSUH Patient Experience. 

The CoG has an active and vibrant Membership Committee and Patient 

Experience and Engagement Committee, The Council also has a Nomination 

and Remuneration Committee which meets as required during the year.  

NHS Improvement requires Foundation Trusts to provide a forward plan for 

each financial year, prepared by the Board of Directors. Governors are 

consulted on the development of these forward plans and are able to input 

views from the public and members they represent via relevant workshops.  

Governors are involved in many aspects of the Trust including improvement 

programme workgroups, Trust conferences, Stakeholder meetings, and 
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undertaking PLACE visits. Given the impact of Covid, governors have not 

been able to attend the Trust to the same levels as in previous years but there 

were a number of meetings that took place utilising MS Teams.  

2.2.9 Governors Annual Programme 

Each year the Council set an annual work programme, for 2020/21 in light of 

plans for the Trust to merge with Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals 

NHS Trust, the Governors were invited to contribute to a Reference Group 

which had been established to support the Trust as it developed its future 

organisational arrangements, with the drive to developing a framework that 

would support a resilient and thriving new organisation.  The role of the 

Reference Group included the review and development of the Trust’s 

Constitution, the processes for the development of the membership for the 

new constituencies, the training and induction programme for new Governors 

ahead of elections to the extended FT Trust, a review of the code of conduct 

and the revision to the Trust’s membership strategy. 

2.2.10 Holding the Non-Executive Directors to account for the 

performance of the Trust Board 

Governors have an important role in making an NHS Foundation Trust 

publicly accountable for the services it provides. They bring valuable 

perspectives and contributions to its activities. Importantly, Governors are 

expected to hold Non-Executive Directors to account for the performance of 

the Trust Board of Directors and the following sets out the principles of how 

Governors discharge this responsibility. 

 To ensure that the process of holding to account is transparent and 

fulfils the statutory duties of the COG 

 To share successes and discuss any concerns that NEDs or Governors 

have.  

 To reflect the NHS Improvement guidance that Governors should, 

through the NEDs, seek assurance that there are effective strategies, 

policies and processes in place to ensure good governance of the 

Trust. 

 To work effectively together and make the best use of the time NEDs 

and Governors have together.  

The Governors discharge this function through regular reports from the NEDs 

to the Council on their role as Committee Chairs and through the scheduled 

meetings held in private between the Governors and Non-Executive Directors 

only.   
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At no time during the period has the Council of Governors exercised its formal 

power to require a Non-Executive Director to attend a Council meeting and 

account for the performance of the Trust Board.  

2.2.11 Appraisal and appointments 

It is the responsibility of the Council of Governors to appoint the Chair and 

other Non-Executive Directors and to oversee the appraisal process of the 

Chair and Non-Executive Directors.  

The Governors Nomination and Remuneration Committee (GNARC) oversee 

these processes on behalf of the Council. The Chair and other Non-Executive 

appraisals for 2020/21 have been undertaken and reported to the GNARC in 

June 2020 who then reported to the full Council in public on the 24 August 

2020. 

The Committee during the year received the  

 Chair and NEDs appraisals 

 The Outcome from the recruitment process for a new Non-Executive 

Director (NED)   

It is the responsibility of the Governor Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee, with the Chair of Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust, to consider appropriate Non-Executive Director (NED) succession 

planning.  During the latter part of 2020/21 the Governor Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee met to support the appointment of two Non-

Executive Directors. These appointment processes continue with interviews 

taking place in early 2021/22.   

 

2.2.12 Membership Strategy 

The Trust currently has a Membership Strategy for the period 2020-2023, 

which is updated annually with the help of the Governor’s Membership and 

Engagement Committee.  This strategy acknowledges that it is a responsibility 

of a Foundation Trust to recruit, communicate and engage with members as a 

means of ensuring service provision meets the needs of service users.  The 

Trust’s strategy aims to recruit a representative membership base that is 

actively engaged in working for the good of the Trust.  It also considers and 

monitors engagement levels through annual surveys and by tracking 

responses rates to in year activity. Other work includes targeting specific 

groups of members to ensure that the Trust membership is representative of 

the population it serves.   
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The merger provided an opportunity to comprehensively review this three year 

strategy and establish a strategy for University Hospitals Sussex NHS 

Foundation Trust for 2021 – 2024. As mentioned earlier this work was 

supported by a Governor reference group.  The Strategy is scheduled to be 

taken to the first meeting of the University Hospitals Sussex Council’s 

Membership and Engagement Committee where it will be considered prior to 

its approval. 

 

The Trust’s Membership Strategy is supported by a full action plan which 

outlines how the strategic aims will be implemented and the objectives of the 

strategy achieved.  Performance against this Strategy will be overseen by the 

Council’s Membership and Engagement Committee.  

 

2.2.13 Keeping in touch with members 

Governors are accessible to members via email and at the regular Council of 

Governors meetings. They also attend our Medicine for All and other public 

events (see Stakeholder Relations), and play an important role in recruiting 

new members. However, Covid-19 had impacted on the Governors ability to 

hold meetings or engage with other organisations such as local GP practices.  

As the Country moves out of its national lockdown the Council will seek to 

recommence a number of membership engagement events. These events 

allow Governors to describe the role of a Trust member and gather feedback 

on services across the Trust and its future plans. All feedback is then shared 

with our Patient Engagement and Experience Committee to help us continue 

to improve services.  

Governors can be contacted via a Trust generic email address which is 

advertised on the Trust website and through other communications sent to 

members. Governor “Who’s who” posters have also been developed and 

contain information on how to contact your local Governor. These have been 

designed so that they can be displayed in Doctors Surgeries, Libraries and 

Community Centres.   

An individual must be at least 16 years old to become a member of the Trust. 

At the 31 March the Trust had 7756 public members, the table below summaries 

the constituencies these fall within.  
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All staff are automatically enrolled as members on starting employment with the 

Trust.  

 

2.2.14 Disclosures and declarations of interests 

The Chair of the Council of Governors has not declared any other significant 

commitments that require disclosure. The Chair submits an Annual 

Declaration of Interest Statement and Fit and Proper Person Declaration.  

Governors are required to complete a Declaration of Interest which is held on 

a Trust Register and is made publicly available on the Trust’s website. This is 

available at https://www.westernsussexhospitals.nhs.uk/your-

trust/board/declarations-of-interest/ 

2.2.15 Resolution of disputes 

The Trust Constitution sets out at Section 12 the process for dealing with any 

dispute between the Council of Governors and Trust Board. The Council of 

Governors and Trust Board have a positive working relationship and the 

process has not been used during the 2020/21 year. 

 

2.3 Staff Report 

Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust employs more than 7,000 

people in a range of different roles across the organisation. Each and every 

member of our staff works to ensure our patients receive excellent quality 

care.  

Our staff continue to consistently demonstrate their willingness to go over and 

above to ensure high quality care is delivered to the people of West Sussex. 

This was recognised and praised by the CQC in their inspection.  We ensure 

that we take opportunities to thank our staff in a variety of ways including 

Employee of the Month awards, an annual staff award ceremony and long 

service awards. Following feedback from our Ambassadors rather than 

Constituency  Membership as 
at 31 March 

2019 

Membership 
as at 31 March 

2020 

Membership 
as at 31 March 

2021 

Adur  1139 1142 1151 

Arun  2364 2353 2417 

Chichester 2023 1999 2028 

Horsham 494 493 561 

Worthing  1283 1294 1369 

Patient  / Out of Area 252 249 230 

https://www.westernsussexhospitals.nhs.uk/your-trust/board/declarations-of-interest/
https://www.westernsussexhospitals.nhs.uk/your-trust/board/declarations-of-interest/
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holding Thank You lunches this year we provided our staff with a reusable cup 

thanking them for their commitment and support to patients, families, carers 

and each other.   

Average number of employees (WTE basis not actual staff employed) 

Average number of 

employees (WTE basis) 

Permanent Other Total Total 

 
31-Mar-21 31-Mar-21 31-Mar-21 31-Mar-20 

 
2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2019/20 

 
No. No. No. No. 

Medical and dental  852   852 775 

Ambulance staff  
 

 - - 

Administration and estates  1,746   1,746  1,732 

Healthcare assistants and 

other support staff  

1,021   1,021 810 

Nursing, midwifery and 

health visiting staff  

1,820   1,820  1,731 

Nursing, midwifery and 

health visiting learners  

 
 - - 

Scientific, therapeutic and 

technical staff  

849   849  983 

Healthcare science staff 
 

 -  - 

Social care staff  
 

 - - 

Agency and contract staff 
 

68  68 106 

Bank staff 
 

529 529 501 

Other 
  

- - 

Total average numbers 6,288  597  6,885 6,636 

Of which:    
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Average number of 

employees (WTE basis) 

Permanent Other Total Total 

 
31-Mar-21 31-Mar-21 31-Mar-21 31-Mar-20 

 
2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2019/20 

 
No. No. No. No. 

Number of employees 

(WTE) engaged on capital 

projects 

25  4  29 27 

 

Total staffing costs for the year were £360,874,000 comprising £319,219,000 

substantive employees and £41,655,000 for bank and agency workers. 

 

2.3.1  Diversity and inclusion policies, initiatives and longer term 

ambitions  

Our vision is for equality, diversity and inclusion to be a 'golden thread' 

running through, and central to, how we work together to provide sustainable, 

high-quality patient-centred care for all people we serve.  

Our vision is intended to provide a focus for the delivery and development of all 
our services as follows: 
 
 
Our patients and service users:  
 

 Have confidence their individual needs and beliefs are taken seriously, 
and they are treated with dignity and respect.  

 Know their individual life chances and wellbeing are enhanced by the 
Trust's commitment to Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.  

 Are happy to choose, to use and to recommend the organisation.  
 
Our staff:  
 

 Feel valued and fairly treated in an organisation that really cares.  

 Know the Trust as an organisation that people want to come and work 
for, stay with and thrive in, because of its commitment to Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion.  

 Are proud to work in an open and inclusive organisation.  
 



 

Page 85 

Our communities:  
 

 Are assured that the Trust engages with the diverse communities 
based on mutual interest and respect.  

 Have confidence that the Trust is active in tackling inequality, making 
services accessible, solving problems, delivering solutions and willing 
to learn.  

 Know that the Trust is responsive to the challenges faced by people in 
relation to diverse needs and communicates appropriately.  

 
Our organisation:  
 

 Lives its values consistently across all sites.  

 Demonstrates long-term, consistent commitment to Equality, Diversity 
and Inclusion for the people it serves.  

 Is a positive, innovative and ‘can do’ place to be. 

 

Our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion policies and practices are all aimed to 
support our vision where regardless of their connection with our organisation, 
everyone has a lived experience which is free from discrimination, 
harassment and abuse. 

We take our duties and responsibilities as an inclusive employer in the public 
sector, and more specifically in the NHS, very seriously.  As a public sector 
organisation extra care is taken to monitor decisions that could unfairly affect 
any particular protected characteristic of staff, carers, volunteers, patients 
and their families.    

We also really value the work of our many volunteers across the Trust who 

are integral to our workforce, have very diverse backgrounds and support our 

equality agenda. 

Our Trust Board is actively engaged with our work on Equality, Diversity and 

Inclusion.  In the last 12 months this has extended to the Sussex Health and 

Social Care Partnership with active representation on the recently established 

Turning the Tide Board working to eliminate the disparity in outcomes 

specifically for staff who identify themselves from Black, Asian and Minority 

Ethnic (BAME) communities.   The trust and its staff participated in a Sussex-

wide event for BAME staff and engaged in a number of subsequent 

workshops.  This has informed the system wide work plan aimed to improve 

Board and senior management diversity as well as reducing the amount of 

discrimination, harassment and abuse our BAME communities are subjected 

to. 

In the last year, the impact of the global coronavirus pandemic has been 

significant both on the way in which services are delivered and accessed but 

also on our workforce.    As our understanding of the virus has developed, we 
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now know that the risk factors for those exposed to Covid-19 are higher in 

individuals who identify with one or more protected characteristics.   

As a result, a number of changes have been made that include: 

 Improving the risk assessment process, for both departments and 

individuals to identify those at higher risk and to take appropriate 

actions to ensure health and safety is protected.   These processes 

were continuously strengthened throughout the pandemic. 

 Introducing a risk assessment advisory panel - an independent panel 

reviewing complex individual risk assessment and providing advice and 

solutions to issues highlighted. 

 Obtaining access to the National ‘Interpreter Now’ software to improve 

communication for deaf British Sign Language users utilising hospital 

services. 

 Introducing the use of ‘virtual clinics’ both telephone and video 

conferencing. 

 Widespread use of working from home for those who could do so 

and/or where this was the safest option available 

 Signficiantly reducing travelling across sites through the use of MS 

Teams 

 Expanding the provision of staff health and wellbeing services 

(emotional, physical and financial) that were widely promoted and 

uptake encouraged.  This ranged from comfort packs, pop-up shops 

and hotel accommodation to Employee Assistance programmes with 

emotional and  financial support. 

 Establishing a bronze, silver and gold Covid-19 command centre - to 

take trustwide decisions on issues affecting capacity and flow in 

services. 

 Establishing a Covid-19 Workforce hub - to help address questions and 

resourcing of departments. 

 Providing additional pastoral care for those accessing our services 

including at end of life, through the chaplaincy service.   

In addition to how we have supported staff through the pandemic, the Trust 

has continued to progress its equality obligations.  This has been managed 

in collaboration with Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals where 

learning and experience has been shared. 

During 2020/2021 the Trust strengthened its inclusion networks and 

particularly those for staff from a BAME background.   Examples of their work 

in the last year are set out below. 
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BAME Celebrating Cultures Network - works towards improving 

patient care and working conditions for all staff from BAME (Black, 

Asian, Minority, Ethnic) and non-British backgrounds.  This group is 

also involved in our policy development, to ensure issues relating to 

culture are taken into account.   

The BAME Celebrating Cultures network was relaunched with active 

sponsorship from the Chief Executive.  

The objective of the refreshed BAME Celebrating Cultures Network 

was first and foremost to be a support network for the BAME staff 

during this challenging time and to provide a voice directly to the Board 

on matters of race equality and reducing disparity of outcomes.   

The network has increased its representation from across the Trust’s 

staff groups and provides a safe space for members to share stories 

and learning and through coaching, training and mentorship to help 

support race equality within the organisation. 

  A programme of health checks and advice specifically for BAME was 

established during 2020/21 with high uptake.  A number of BAME 

champions also received Mental Health First Aid training as part of a 

wider trust programme to support staff in the workplace.  

 

Disability Forum – this forum has continued to be active throughout 

2020/21, providing a mechanism to ensure disabled people have a 

voice within the Trust.  One of the key objectives is to ensure that 

monitoring systems and processes are put in place to support 

disabled people, are fit for purpose.   

This group is also involved in our policy development, to ensure issues 

relating to disability are taken into account.  The Forum has been 

active in supporting the development of the Workforce Disability 

Equality Standard (WDES) action plan for the Trust along with 

developing resources including the Trust’s Health Passport. 
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Disability Confident – this replaces the 'Two Ticks - Positive about 

Disabled People' scheme.  The aim of this national programme is to 

ensure that the Trust has mechanisms, systems and processes to 

support existing and newly disabled employees throughout their 

employment journey.  JobCentre Plus administers the programme.   

The Disability Forum has expressed a desire to be involved in 

supporting the Trust in achieving Level Three of Disability Confident. 

The Trust has had its Disability Confident status at level 2 extended 

until April 2021. 

The forum has been instrumental in the implementation of Changing 

Places at Southlands and Worthing Hospitals with a further facility 

being developed for St Richards Hospital in Chichester. 

 

Diversity Matters Group - this key steering committee helps to 

ensure that equality, diversity and human rights are at the heart of the 

Trust's strategic plans.  All of the staff and patient networks and 

forums feed into this committee.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LGBTQ+ Forum - the network helps to raise the profiles of Lesbian, 

Gay, Bisexual and Trans issues within the Trust. The network 

provides support to LGBTQ+ staff, patients and visitors.  

This group is also involved in our policy development, to ensure issues 

relating to sexual orientation and gender identity are taken into 

account.  During 2020/21 the LGBTQ+ forum has benefited from the 

leadership and experience from Brighton and Sussex University 

Hospitals in raising awareness of issues and to ensure that the voice 

of this community remains strong.   This included promoting 

International Pronouns Day and a deeper understanding of the 

Rainbow Warriers’ Initiative.    

The impact of Covid 19 sadly resulted in the Worthing Pride and 

Chichester’s first ever Pride being cancelled for 2020.  However plans 

are in place for 2021/22 and preparations well advanced. 

Religion or Belief Forum - established in 2019/20 in partnership with 

BSUH the forum leads on Religion or Belief issues in the Trust and 

local health community and works in collaboration with faith groups 

and various local organisations. The forum provides a framework in 

which to support and monitor the religious needs of patients, relatives 

and staff and influence cultural change in attitudes and behaviour. 

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjPyo_J9J3YAhWJJZoKHWtgCNIQjRwIBw&url=https://www.ajax.ca/en/experiencerecreation/inclusionservices.asp&psig=AOvVaw1qyZikzd8_n1o0oMMJo77l&ust=1514042099139044
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In readiness of the merger between WSHFT and BSUH from 1 April 2021, 

we took the opportunity to refresh the values of our new organisation in the 

autumn of 2020.  This was informed by wide scale engagement with our staff 

and patients.  As a result, Inclusion has been added to our values and is 

informing how we develop and shape the organisational culture, building on 

our work to date and accelerating the realisation of our vision. 

More information about our work on Equality, Diversity and Inclusion can be 

found in our Equality Monitoring Report 2019/20 located on our public 

website. 

NHS England Equality Standards 

Reporting against the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) and the 

Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES) was delayed during the first 

wave of the pandemic and resumed later in 2020/21.   The data, extracted 

from the annual Staff Survey (2019) and the Electronic Staff Records (ESR) 

system, reflects the Trust’s position against a number of key indicators.  This 

informs the improvement required and the interventions that follow.   

WRES data for 2020/21 showed that: 

 BAME staff were relatively: 

• less likely to be appointed from shortlisting 

• less likely to enter the formal disciplinary process  

• as likely to access non mandatory training and CPD 

 BAME staff reported a worse experience than white staff for two of the 

NHS staff survey questions relating to violence and aggression, whilst the 

number of staff who personally experienced discrimination at work 

improved.  

 

 BAME representation on the board is not representative of the 16.7% 

BAME workforce.   

These outcomes, together with NHSE/I national recommendations are 

informing a review of our recruitment processes.  A key tenant of the work 

being undertaken across the Sussex Health and Care Partnership is to 

improve representation of BAME staff in senior roles from pay band 8a and 

above.    

Regular reports updating on Equality and Diversity actions are also provided 

to the Trust Board and assurance sought through its Quality Assurance 
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Committee.  In June, a specific Equality and Inclusion seminar was 

conducted with the Trust Board.  

WDES data for 2020/21 showed that: 

 27.8% of staff have not declared their disability status compared to 30.2% 

in 2019.  This is an improved position and follows the introduction of ESR 

Self Service where individuals can update their status. 

 

 Disabled staff were relatively: 

• less likely to be appointed from shortlisting 

• unlikely to enter a capability process process   

We are now working with the Shaw Trust to review our recruitment 

processes including how applicants access our services.  This will also help 

us in our aim to move from a level 2 to a level 3 Disability Confident 

organisation. 

In year, the Trust introduced a Carers Passport and maintained its Disability 

Confident Scheme status.   

Copies of the Trust’s WRES and WDES reports are available on the Trust’s 

website. 

https://www.westernsussexhospitals.nhs.uk/your-trust/about/equality-

diversity/ 

 

2.3.2 Gender and Gender Pay Gap  

The composition of the Trust’s workforce by gender is: 

 Male Female  Total 

Executive and Non Executive Directors 

(includes voting and non voting Directors) 

6 8 14 

Senior Managers (8c and above) 16 37 53 

Other staff 1738 5780 7518 

 

Gender Pay Gap reporting shows the difference in average hourly pay and 
bonus payments between men and women.  The Trust is required to analyse 

https://www.westernsussexhospitals.nhs.uk/your-trust/about/equality-diversity/
https://www.westernsussexhospitals.nhs.uk/your-trust/about/equality-diversity/
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the information to identify any underlying root causes for Gender Pay Gap and 
put in place remedial actions to address and mitigate this. The results will be 
used to assess: 

 the level of gender equality 

 the balance of male and female employees in each of the four salary 

range quartiles 

 how effectively talent is being maximised and rewarded 

 

The benefits of reporting Gender Pay Gap include building a reputation for 
being known as a fair and progressive employer, attracting a wider pool of 
recruits, enhancing productivity and creating a culture committed to tackling 
inequality. 

Table 1 below shows the mean and median hourly rates for male and female 
employees in the Trust and the actual gap in monetary and percentage terms 
in 2020. The 2019 figures are shown in brackets. 

Table 1: mean and median hourly rates 

Gender Mean Hourly Rate (prior yr) Median Hourly Rate (prior yr) 

Male £ 19.71          (£ 19.31) £ 14.33             (£ 13.30) 

Female £ 15.93          (£ 15.44) £ 14.17             (£ 13.55) 

Difference £ 3.78            (£  3.87) £ 0.16               (£ 0.25) 

Pay Gap % 19.17%           (20.0%) 1.18%               (2.78%) 

 

 
There is a 19.17% (20% in 2019) difference in favour of male employees 
when using the mean hourly rate; this is an improvement from 2019.   
 
This however, moves to 1.18% in favour of male employees when the median 

hourly rate is used (noting that the median is a more indicative measure). This 

compares to 2.78% in favour of female employees in 2019.  

Data obtained for the 2020 snapshot has been provided by staff group and 
pay banding. This shows outliers in the gender pay gap in favour of male 
employees of 15.81% for Medical and Dental staff and 19.08% Administration 
and Clerical. When reviewing the 2021 snapshot data these staff groups will 
be reviewed further. 

As part of the Agenda for Change contract refresh during the reporting period 

the pay band transition from band 1 to band 2 evidences that there are 3 

times more women in band 2.  This reflects the significant number of female 
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staff in Healthcare Assistant roles in particular.    This is impacting on the pay 

medium, compared to pay band 1 where the numbers of male to female are 

comparative. There is however a 0.47 difference (4.68%) pay gap. This is the 

first year data has been gathered in this way and to understand what changes 

have influenced the pay gap, a working group will be established. 

Table 2 includes Medical and Dental employees who received a Clinical 
Excellence Award (CEA) and Very Senior Managers (VSM) who received a 
bonus. There is a general reduction in the gap in both the mean and median, 
which is a positive decrease.   The values in brackets are those for the prior 
year. 

Table 2: Bonus payments including CEAs 

 

Gender Mean Bonus (prior yr) Median Bonus (prior yr) 

Male £12,308.88    (£12,913.65)  £ 8,818.67    (£ 9,048.00)  

Female £ 7,072.63     (£ 7,558.75)    £ 3,019.68    (£ 5,428.80)  

Difference £ 5,236.25     (£ 5,354.90)    £ 5,798.69    (£ 3,619.20)  

Pay Gap % 42.54%          (41.47%)         65.75%         (40.00%)       

 

Note: The 2019 Local Clinical Excellence Awards (LCEA) round was paused and 
payments incorporated into the 2020 LCEA round. Payments have been applied equally 
amongst all eligible consultants in February 2021. Part time staff will receive the same 

amount as full-time colleagues.  

It is reasonable to assume that the recognition of part time staff, as these are 
predominantly female, will have a positive impact on next year’s report.  

Addressing the gender pay gap is an important aspect of equality.  For the 
coming year this will mean stratifying the data by all protected characteristics 
to really understand where there are disparities will therefore by a key 
objective of the newly established working group. 

The Trust’s information on the gender pay gap can be found on our website at 
https://www.westernsussexhospitals.nhs.uk/your-trust/about/equality-
diversity/.  Further information is also available on the cabinet office website 
https://gender-pay-gap.service.gov.uk/  

  

2.3.3   Strategies and Processes applied in respect of Health and 
Wellbeing 
 
The health, safety and wellbeing of staff have been a key component to 
overall staff engagement for a number of years.  However, during 2020/21, 

https://www.westernsussexhospitals.nhs.uk/your-trust/about/equality-diversity/
https://www.westernsussexhospitals.nhs.uk/your-trust/about/equality-diversity/
https://gender-pay-gap.service.gov.uk/
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this has been fundamental to our ability to manage and respond to the 
coronavirus pandemic. 
 
We have strengthened our health and wellbeing programme with a wide 
variety of interventions to support the emotional, physical and financial health 
of staff.  This ranged from comfort packs, pop up shops for essential goods 
and hotel accommodation at the outset of the pandemic through to additional 
counselling provision, mental health first aid training, emotional resilience 
support, online exercise and meditation classes and an employee assistance 
programme including debt management.   
 
We have been very fortunate to have received national and local charity funds 
that have enabled us to improve the psychological support for staff and 
introduce health checks specifically for our BAME staff.  Through the Project 
Wingman initiative, First Class lounges were established at our two main 
hospital sites, to enable staff to have a break with refreshments and access to 
a listening ear from highly skilled volunteers from the airline industry.  Over 
4,000 staff accessed this service and its popularity has led to its continuation, 
albeit on a scaled down basis. 
 
Frontline clinical services particularly affected during the pandemic, have had 
access to our Listening Ear volunteers, trained through our staff mental health 
first aid programme.  This has supplemented our counselling and chaplaincy 
services who have also been actively supporting the pastoral care of our staff. 
 
At the outset of the pandemic a trust-wide workforce hub was established.  
The use of the Trust’s electronic rostering systems enabled the capture of 
absence in real time enabling the workforce hub to assess the impact on skills 
and capacity and therefore manage the rapid and safe deployment of staff.  At 
a trust wide level, this informed the decisions of the incident control command.   
The role of the hub was extended to manage staff testing through the 
hospitals’ testing pods.  This provided same day testing facilities for staff and 
their families, immediate advice to manage and mitigate the risks and enabled 
the trust to manage immediate and future workforce capacity.   
 
Throughout 2020/21 we have been undertaking and reviewing risk 
assessments for staff, volunteers, bank and agency workers with higher risk 
factors if exposed to Covid 19.   This has been a dynamic process and 
enabled us to manage the safe deployment of staff at all times.  During the 
peak of the pandemic circa 600 staff were absent from work, including 200 
who were shielding.     
 
Workplace assessments were completed for all areas of the Trust and 
appropriate safety measures taken in line with Infection, Prevention and 
Control guidance.  This included the designation of clinical areas for covid and 
non-covid patients (red and green zones), the supply and issue of Personal 
and Protective Equipment (PPE), hand sanitizer and wipes, screens and 
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barriers and ensuring the national public health messages were promoted and 
enforced. 
 
Every member of staff was issued with a lateral flow kit to enable home self 
testing and since December 2020, an extensive programme for the roll out of 
a Covid-19 vaccination has been in place, with over 96% uptake.    This roll 
out followed the seasonal influenza programme that takes place annually. 
 
In September 2020 we reviewed our staff appraisal processes and 
strengthened the staff welfare component to enable managers to focus on this 
aspect of work, signposting to other services where appropriate.  This will 
continue to be a feature of appraisal as we return to business as usual and 
restore services. 
 
Throughout 2020/21, the Trust Board, through its sub-committees, has been 
kept informed and updated on the health, safety and wellbeing of staff.  This is 
a strategic risk for the Trust and how it is managed and mitigated is regularly 
reviewed through the Board Assurance Framework. 
 

2.3.4 Sickness absence 

Sickness absence has continued to be monitored and appropriately managed 
throughout the year.   Sickness rates are reported monthly as a percentage of 
absence in month and as a 12 month rolling rate.  This highlights the seasonal 
fluctuations that occur month on month but also whether improvement is being 
made. 
 
During 2020/21, the 12 month rolling rate reduced by 0.2% to 3.2%.  The 
percentage of short term sickness reduced by 1% to 1.1% and long term 
sickness also reduced from 1.7% to 1.1%.   There has been significant 
improvement in the sickness rates across all the divisions but particularly 
within the Estates and Facilities and Women and Children’s divisions. 
 
The Trust’s sickness absence data can be found on NHS Digital’s publication 
series on NHS Sickness Absence Rates.  This can be found at NHS Sickness 
Absence Rates - NHS Digital 

 
Sickness absence rates do not include covid-related absence which is 
monitored and reported separately. 
 
The health and wellbeing and impact on staff absence will continue to be a 
priority for 2021/22.   Interventions and programmes will continue to be in 
place to support staff as they recover from the impact of the pandemic. 
 

 

 

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates
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2.3.5 Improving staff engagement 

Improving staff engagement is the strategic objective for the People domain of 
Patient First and it is the Trust’s aim to become the top performing acute trust. 
 
2020/21 has required different approaches to staff engagement to be 
adopted.  Our traditional trust-wide face to face events (staff conference, 
thank you lunches, awards ceremonies) and leader gemba walks (visiting 
clinical and other areas) etc had to be suspended.  This also extended to face 
to face training where staff participated in a local ‘pulse’ survey that mirrored 
the staff engagement questions contained in the national staff survey. 
 
However, the introduction and extensive use of MS Teams across the 
organisation provided an opportunity to engage with staff more widely.    
Weekly Executive-led briefings were held throughout the year to update staff 
on the impact of the pandemic on the hospitals and how this was being 
managed.  This was supplemented with preparations in readiness for the 
Trust’s planned merger with Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS 
Trust from 1 April 2021.    The use of technology has enabled staff to engage 
on important topics and to post questions of importance to them.   ‘Live’ 
attendance at the weekly briefings now exceeds circa 1,000 participants and 
provides a platform for staff unable to attend to catch up on the events at a 
later date.    
 
A series of workshops and surveys with staff in the autumn informed the 
development of a set of refreshed organisational values for University 
Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust and the People Strategy for 2021/22. 
 
Staff engagement, as measured through the annual staff survey, was 7.2 (out 
of 10) in 2020.   In particular staff advocacy about the trust as a place to work 
improved by 1% to 76% and as a place to receive care and treatment by 2% 
to 84%.  Given the context within which the staff survey was conducted (Sep-
Dec 2020), this is very encouraging. 
 
The Trust also engages with its recognised trade union and staff side 
representatives both informally and formally through its Employee Partnership 
Forum and Joint Local Negotiating Committee.   We have developed a good 
relationship with our staff side colleagues over the years and our approach is 
early engagement and resolution on matters of concern.     
 
In readiness for the Trust’s merger in April 2021, separate arrangements have 
also been in place to engage, consult and prepare for the TUPE transfer of 
staff from Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals including jointly run 
workshops on the transfer.   
 
2.3.6 Staff survey 2020 

The annual staff survey was conducted wholly on-line during 2020.  Whilst this 
presented challenges to some staff groups, the response rate remained high 
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at 53%.  This compares to the new benchmark group extended to include 
Acute and Community Trusts, of 45%. 
Table 3: 2020 staff survey resuts

 

 

Table 3 shows that the Trust was above average in four of the ten categories: 
 

• Immediate managers 
• Morale 
• Staff engagement 
• Team Working 

 
However, improvement in the Safe Environment categories (bullying and 
harassment and violence) is still required.  This is also reflected in the WRES 
and WDES data set out in section 2.3.1 above. 
 
The staff survey results are used to inform workforce priorities for 2021/22.   
 

2.3.7 Staff Turnover 

Staff Turnover in the Trust is low and fell from 6.8% in 2019 to 5.9% in 2020.     
This is one of the lowest in the NHS and reflects the high level of staff 
satisfaction.    Nursing turnover rates are also good at 5.1%. 

Turnover is higher in our Core division (7.3%) where postholders in post-
registration band 5 roles seek improved career opportunities or specialist roles 
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elsewhere.  Retention strategies in place, particularly for therapies, has 
improved the position and it is expected to improve further as a larger Trust. 

Noting the potential impact of the pandemic on staff retention in the longer 
term, staff turnover will continue to be one of the key performance indicators 
used to measure of the success of our strategies.   

Further information can be obtained at NHS workforce statistics - NHS Digital 

 

2.3.8   Process applied to support Learning and development 

At Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust we aim to foster an 
inclusive culture of education, training and development for all staff and are 
particularly proud of the career progression pathways we offer.  We have 
team of staff dedicated to supporting individuals’ development including 
qualified nurse teachers and researchers. 
 
We have established partnerships with a number of education providers 
including the Universities of Surrey and Brighton who provide learning and 
development opportunities for healthcare professionals.   During 2020/21 a 
number of Year 2 and Year 3 students were supported to work in the 
organisation in paid roles to strengthen workforce capacity as universities 
suspended or postponed studies. 
 
The Trust receives non-medical educational funding from Health Education 
England and during 2020/21 this was used to support the Continuous 
Professional Development (CPD) of registered nurses and allied health 
professionals; advancing clinical practice and the development of new 
workforce roles. 
 
During 2020/21, the Trust has worked very closely with the University of 
Chichester supporting them in their application to provide a Nursing Degree 
programme starting in September 2021.   Subject to NMC validation, 
recruitment is going well and a large number of local applications have been 
received.  Further investment in a clinical skills simulation suite at St Richards 
Hospital is also planned to support this initiative. 
 
Last year the Trust had 259 staff enrolled on an apprenticeship qualification or 
as an apprentice.  This included 217 clinical apprenticeships with 27 
undertaking a level 6 (degree) qualification and a further 7 undertaking a level 
7 (masters) qualification.  40 staff are completing their 2-year trainee nurse 
associate apprenticeships with 13 having completed since 2018.  
 
Our speciality programmes aim to produce high-quality clinicians with a broad 
range of skills that will enable them to practice as Consultants across the 
United Kingdom.   
 

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-workforce-statistics
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Attendance on statutory and mandatory training was impacted by the 
pandemic as face to face training was stopped.  Whilst on-line training has 
remained available, capacity to attend has been challenged and compliance 
has fallen to 82%.  Recovery to 90% is anticipated by June 2021. 
 

2.3.9 Health and safety 

Health and safety compliance at Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust is managed by the Risk (Non-Clinical) Team and monitored at Board 

level by the Health and Safety Committee on a quarterly basis which reports 

to the Quality Assurance Committee. A Health and Safety Report is also 

published annually and made available to staff via along with the Policy for the 

Management of Health, Safety and Risk. 

The Health and Safety Committee reviews reports, policies and accident data 

on issues relating to the following areas of health and safety: fire, manual 

handling, security, training, estates and facilities, occupational health, staff 

incidents, stress, radiation protection and non-clinical risk management.  

Health and safety incidents are logged on the Trust’s Datix incident reporting 

system, while risk assessments around issues such as dangerous 

substances, display screen equipment, fire and manual handling tasks are 

carried out using the Safety, Health and Environment (SHE) software 

package. 

Health and safety training is mandatory for all staff on induction and then on a 

triennial cycle.  

 

2.3.10  Fraud, bribery and corruption statement 

Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust is committed to eliminating 

fraud and corruption within the NHS, freeing up public resources for better 

patient care. To this end, the Trust employs a specialist counter-fraud service 

to provide a comprehensive programme against fraud and corruption which is 

overseen by the Trust’s Audit Committee. 

All anti-fraud and corruption legislation is complied with.  It is a criminal 

offence to give, promise or offer a bribe, and to request, agree to receive, or 

accept a bribe. A bribe may take the form of any financial or other advantage 

to another person in order to induce a person to perform improperly. 

Although the Bribery Act permits hospitality, all staff are required to consider 

on an individual basis whether accepting any hospitality offered is appropriate 
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and should they then elect to take it, to record it within the Trust’s Hospitality 

register (in line with the Receipt of Hospitality, Gifts and Inducements Policy) 

so that it has been fully disclosed. 

It is also important that all of our contractors and agents comply with our 

policies and procedures. 

When entering into contracts with organisations the Trust follows the NHS 

standard terms and conditions of contract for the purchase of goods and 

supplies. 

We ask all who have dealings with the Trust, as employees, agents, trading 

partners, stakeholders and patients, to help us in our fight against fraud and 

corruption and to contact the counter-fraud service in confidence if they have 

any concerns or suspicions. 

We have maintained across 2020/21 our increased our anti-fraud surveillance 

work that commenced at the start of Covid-19 pandemic recognising the 

increased pressure the Trust is under and recognising the intelligence 

provided by the NHS Counter Fraud Authority who through the Local Counter 

Fraud Specialist provide regular and frequent anti-fraud bulletins. 

 

2.3.11  Exit packages  

There were two exit packages in 2020/21 in the range of £50,001 - £100,000 
(There was one in 2019/20 in the range £0 to £10,000)   

 

2.3.12  Off-payroll engagements 

The Trust did not make any off-payroll engagements in the financial year.  

 

2.3.13 Trade Union Facility Time 

Our relationship with our trade unions is a key tenant of our employee 

relations strategy and we work hard to foster a strong partnership where areas 

of concern are identified and we pay attention to resolution and learning.   

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 

with further guidance provided by the Cabinet Office require the Trust to 

disclose the amount of facility time undertaken by trade union officials.   
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The table below relates to the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 and the 

Trust is required to publish this information annually by the 31 July each year. 

 

Table 1 - Relevant Union Officials 

Number of employees who were relevant union 
officials during the relevant period  

2020/21 (2019/20) 

Full-time equivalent employee 
number 

2020/21 (2019/20) 

28 (34) 22.52 (23.53) 

     

Table 2 - Percentage of time spent on facility time 

How many employees who were relevant union officials employed during the relevant 
period spent their working hours on facility time   

Percentage of time 
 

Number of employees 
2020/21 (2019/20) 

0% 16 (22) 

1%-50% 12 (12) 

51%-99% 0 

100% 0 

     

Table 3 - Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 

The percentage of total pay bill spent on paying employees who were relevant union 
officials for facility time during the relevant period 

2020/21 (2019/20) 

Total cost of facility time £1,933.71 (£19,878) 

Total pay bill 
£360,874,000  (£315,821,331) 

Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time 0.0% (0.0%) 

Note due to the pandemic there has been considerably less training and courses which 
has driven a reduced costs in 2020/21  

     

Table 4 - Paid trade union activities 

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of total paid facility time 
hours   2020/21 (2019/20) 

34.22%  (32.61%) 
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2.3.15 Statement on social responsibility 

WSHFT reflects its social responsibility within the way it undertakes its 

business, this is from the recruitment, retention and development of our staff 

as noted within this report in respect of our equality, diversity and inclusion 

work through to way we deliver of services making them accessible and 

environmentally sustainable again as detailed within this report through to our 

wider responsibility to work with our partners with regard to our responsibilities 

under safeguarding to protect our patients and their families and careers.   

 

 

 

……………………………………………………………….        14 June 2021 

Dame Marianne Griffiths, Chief Executive 
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2.4 Remuneration Report 

2.4.1 Annual statement on remuneration 

It is the responsibility of the Appointment and Remuneration Committee of 

Non-Executive Directors to oversee the pay arrangements of Executive 

Directors and Very Senior Managers, details of the committee can be found 

within the ‘How the Trust is Run’ section of this report.  During the period of 

this report there have been no substantial changes to the base salary of 

Senior Managers. 

2.4.2   Senior Managers Remuneration Policy 

All Directors’ performance is subject to an annual appraisal the outcome of 

which is reported to the Appointment and Remuneration Committee by the 

Chief Executive. This is prior to any decision being made on Executive 

remuneration. 

For the Chief Executive Officer, their appraisal is undertaken by the Chair of 

the Trust with a report then submitted to the Committee. 

The annual appraisal method is chosen as it is an effective way to assess 

performance against a range of performance targets and leadership 

responsibilities and includes feedback from Non-Executive Directors and 

peers as part of a 360 degree feedback process. 

In coming to any decision on remuneration, the Committee takes account of 

the circumstances of the Trust, the size and complexity of the role, any 

changes in the Directors portfolio, the performance of the individual and any 

appropriate national guidance. Senior managers are remunerated based on 

these decisions. Any performance related pay award by the Committee is 

within the context of the NHS Very Senior Managers Pay Framework. 

In considering Senior Managers Pay the Committee took note of national 

benchmark data provided by NHS Providers and the requirement to consider 

any pay above a threshold of £150,000 as per Cabinet Office guidance. 

2.4.3    Future policy table 

Please see in the following table details of the components of the 

remuneration package for senior managers.  This is made up of; 

Components of Senior Managers remuneration: 

Base Salary 

Performance related pay (where appropriate). 
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Base salaries are set in line with market information and are designed to 

ensure retention, or recruitment, of the calibre and experience required to 

deliver the aims of the Trust. Salaries are revised annually and uplifted only if: 

 There is demonstrable evidence that an uplift is required to keep in line 

with the market 

 A change in portfolio necessitates an uplift 

The performance related pay scheme is based on the NHS Pay framework for 

Very Senior Managers. The Appointment and Remuneration Committee 

would, annually, consider whether the overall performance of the Trust 

warrants consideration of a performance related element being paid and if so 

the parameters of such an award. 

2.4.4  Service contracts obligations and Policy on payment for loss of 

office 

HM Treasury has issued specific guidance on severance payments within 

‘Managing Public Money’ and special severance payments when staff leave 

requires Treasury approval. 

All contracts are permanent with no fixed end date. There are no contractual 

provisions for payments on termination of contract. 

The table below shows the date of contracts and notice periods. 

Name Title Date of 
Contract 

Notice period 
from the Trust 

Notice period 
to the Trust 

Mrs Marianne 
Griffiths 

Chief Executive 01/04/2009 6 months 6 months 

Mr Peter 
Landstrom 

Chief Delivery and 
Strategy Officer   

18/04/2016 6 months 6 months 

Mrs Karen 
Geoghegan 

Chief Financial 
Officer 

01/02/2014 6 months 6 months 

Mrs Maggie 
Davies 

Chief Nurse 01/05/2019 6 months 6 months 

Mrs Denise 
Farmer 

Chief Organisational 
Development 
Director 

03/02/2020 3 months 3 months 

Dr George 
Findlay 

Chief Medical Officer 
and Deputy Chief 
Executive 

27/01/2014 6 months 6 months 

Mrs Fiona 
Ashworth  

Chief Operating 
Officer 

01/01/2020 
to 
30/9/2020 

6 months 6 months 

Mr Gethin 
Hughes  

Interim Chief 
Operating Officer  

01/10/2020 6 months 6 months 
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2.4.5   Statement of consideration of employment conditions elsewhere 

in the Foundation Trust 

In considering any decision on remuneration the Committee takes note of both 

the organisational and national context, and as described in section 2.4.3 

national NHS (market) benchmarking provided from sources including NHS 

Providers. 

2.4.6  Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers (subject to 

audit) 

Remuneration 2020/21 
 

 

The Non-Executive Director remuneration disclosed in this table is that which is incurred and 

paid directly by Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. Several Non-Executive 

Directors are also paid directly by Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust (BSUH) 

for separate services to BSUH and this is disclosed within BSUH Annual Report. 

Salary Total expenses Bonus L/term bonus Pension Benefit* Total 

Western Sussex 

Hospitals 

Remuneration

Bands of £5,000 Nearest £100 Bands of £5,000 Bands of £5,000 Bands of £2,500 Bands of £5,000 Bands of £5,000

a b c d e f g

Marianne Griffiths

Chief Executive
270 - 275 14                     20 - 25 -                    25 - 27.5 320 - 325 145 - 150

George Findlay

Chief Medical Officer
215 - 220 8                       -                    45 - 50 57.5 - 60 325 - 330 130 - 135

Karen Geoghegan

Chief Financial Officer
190 - 195 -                    5 - 10 -                    82.5 - 85 280 - 285 100 - 105

Denise Farmer

Chief Workforce Officer
125 - 130 58                     5 - 10 -                    -                    135 - 140 65 - 70

Peter Landstrom

Chief Delivery and Strategy Officer
160 - 165 39                     5 - 10 -                    32.5 - 35 200 - 205 85 - 90

Maggie Davies

Chief Nurse
135 - 140 7                       5 - 10 -                    20 - 22.5 160 - 165 140 - 145

Gethin Hughes

Chief Operating Officer

(from October 2020)

60 - 65 -                    -                    -                    Not Available 60 - 65 60 - 65

Fiona Ashworth 

Chief Operating Officer - WSHT

(April 2020 to September 2020)

125 - 130 1                       -                    -                    N/A 125 - 130 125 - 130

Alan McCarthy

Chairman
70 - 75 4                       -                    -                    -                    70 - 75 55 - 60

Patrick Boyle

Non-Executive Director
10 - 15 -                    -                    -                    -                    10 - 15 10 - 15

Joanna Crane

Non-Executive Director
10 - 15 -                    -                    -                    -                    10 - 15 10 - 15

Jonathan Furmsten

Non-Executive Director
10 - 15 -                    -                    -                    -                    10 - 15 10 - 15

Elizabeth Peers

Non-Executive Director
10 - 15 -                    -                    -                    -                    10 - 15 10 - 15

Michael Rymer

Non-Executive Director
10 - 15 5                       -                    -                    -                    10 - 15 10 - 15

Kirsten Baker

Non-Executive Director
10 - 15 -                    -                    -                    -                    10 - 15 10 - 15

Lilian Philip 

Non-Executive Director

(from May 2020)

5 - 10 -                    -                    -                    -                    5 - 10 5 - 10
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Pension Entitlements as at 31March 2021  
 

 

Notes:  

The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real 
increase in pension multiplied by 20, less the contributions made by the individual. 
The real increase excludes increases due to inflation or any increase or decrease 
due to a transfer of pension rights.  
 

This value derived does not represent an amount that will be received by the 
individual. It is a calculation that is intended to provide an estimation of the benefit 
being a member of the pension scheme could provide.    
 

The pension benefit table provides further information on the pension benefits 

accruing to the individual.’ 

As set out in paragraph 8(3) of the Regulations, where the calculations of any of 

these columns result in a negative value (other than in respect of a recovery or 

withholding), the result is expressed as zero in the relevant column in the table. 

“a” is salary and fees (in bands of £5,000)  

“b” is all taxable benefits (total to the nearest £100)  

“c” is annual performance-related bonuses (in bands of £5,000)  
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Marianne Griffiths

Chief Executive
2.5 - 5 7.5 - 10 55 - 60 165 - 170 0 1,288 0 Nil

George Findlay

Chief Medical Officer
2.5 - 5 -            70 - 75 135 - 140 1,361 1,249 91 Nil

Karen Geoghegan

Chief Financial Officer
2.5 - 5 0 - 2.5 70 - 75 155 - 160 1,377 1,269 86 Nil

Denise Farmer

Chief Workforce Officer
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Peter Landstrom

Chief Delivery and Strategy Officer
2.5 - 5 -            35 - 40 60 - 65 523 479 37 Nil

Maggie Davies

Chief Nurse
0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5 40 - 45 125 - 130 926 856 56 Nil

Gethin Hughes 

Chief Operating Officer

 Not 

Available 

 Not 

Available 
35 - 40 60 - 65 531

 Not 

Available 

 Not 

Available 
Nil

Fiona Ashworth 

Chief Operating Officer
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
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“d” is long-term performance-related bonuses (in bands of £5,000).  The long term 

performance bonus for George Findlay relates to a national Clinical Excellence 

Award 

“e” is all pension–related benefits (in bands of £2,500).  As  Non-Executive members 

do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of 

pensions for Non-Executive members.  Information on accrued pension benefits is 

provided by the NHS Pensions Agency 

“f” is the total of items “a” to “e” (in bands of £5,000).  

“g” On 1st April 2017, the Trust (WSH) entered into a long-term agreement with NHS 

Improvement and Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust (BSUH).  This 

agreement provides for collaboration between the Trusts, including arrangements for 

board membership and governance in common, as well as the provision of 

management support to BSUH by WSH. The initial term of this agreement is for three 

years.  Contracts for employment continue to be held by Western Sussex Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust.  The remuneration disclosed in columns “a” to “f” therefore 

includes the remuneration in respect of duties undertaken in relation to BSUH.  

Column “g” shows the element of remuneration (excluding pension) that relates to 

duties undertaken in relation to WSH.  Pension benefits include benefits accrued as a 

result of total pension in the pension scheme and not just service in a senior capacity 

to which disclosure applies.  Pension benefits are therefore not able to be split 

between BSUH and WSH roles. A more detailed analysis of the components of 

remuneration (excluding pension) directly relating to WSH are summarised below: 

 
Trust Splits i.e. Directly relating to Western Sussex Hospitals NHS FT  
 

 

 

 

Salary Total expenses Bonus L/term bonus Total 

Bands of £5,000 Nearest £100 Bands of £5,000 Bands of £5,000 Bands of £5,000

Marianne Griffiths

Chief Executive
135 - 140 7                       10 - 15 -                    145 - 150

George Findlay

Chief Medical Officer
105 - 110 4                       -                    20 - 25 130 - 135

Karen Geoghegan

Chief Financial Officer
95 - 100 -                    0 - 5 -                    100 - 105

Denise Farmer

Chief Workforce Officer
60 - 65 29                     0 - 5 -                    65 - 70

Peter Landstrom

Chief Delivery and Strategy Officer
80 - 85 19                     0 - 5 -                    85 - 90

Alan McCarthy

Chairman
55 - 60 3                       -                    -                    55 - 60
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital 

value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular 

point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accumulated benefits and 

any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a 

payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 

benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves 

a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former 

scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual 

has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension 

scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. 

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any 

pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has 

transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional 

pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing 

additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs 

are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute 

and Faculty of Actuaries. 

Real Increase in CETV 

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes 

account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation (including the 

value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and 

uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 

Total Pension Entitlement 
 
Normal retirement age for the NHS Pension Scheme is either 60 (for 

members in the 1995 scheme) or 65 (for members in the 2008 scheme).  On 

retirement members receive their accrued pension and members in the 1995 

scheme receive a lump sum equal to three times their annual pension.  

Members may choose to retire from work before their normal pension age and 

draw their benefits although these will be reduced because they will be paid 

earlier than expected. Further information about scheme rules and 

entitlements is available from http://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 
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Remuneration 2019/20  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Salary

Total 

expenses Bonus L/term bonus

Pension 

Benefit* Total 

Western Sussex 

Hospitals 

Remuneration

Bands of 

£5,000 Nearest £100

Bands of 

£5,000

Bands of 

£5,000

Bands of 

£2,500

Bands of 

£5,000 Bands of £5,000

a b c d e f g

Marianne Griffiths

Chief Executive
265 - 270 76               20 - 25 -                17.5 - 20 320 - 325 150 - 155

George Findlay

Chief Medical Officer
190 - 195 272             -               45 - 50 2.5 - 5 270 - 275 130 - 135

Karen Geoghegan

Chief Financial Officer
190 - 195 7                 5 - 10 -                42.5 - 45 245 - 250 100 - 105

Denise Farmer

Chief Workforce Officer
145 - 150 112             5 - 10 -                -                  160 - 165 80 - 85

Peter Landstrom

Chief Delivery and Strategy Officer
155 - 160 59               5 - 10 -                25 - 27.5 195 - 200 85 - 90

Nicola Ranger

Chief Nurse

(to 30th June 2019)

45 - 50 48               5 - 10 -                Not available 60 - 65 30 - 35

Maggie Davies

Chief Nurse

(from 1st May 2019)

120 - 125 28               -               -                Not available 125 - 130 125 - 130

Jayne Black

Chief Operating Officer
155 - 160 1                 5 - 10 -                185 - 187.5 350 - 355 5 - 10

Amanda Fadero

Managing Director - WSHT

(to September 2019)

80 - 85 28               -               -                Not available 85 - 90 85 - 90

Fiona Ashworth 

Chief Operating Officer - WSHT

(from January 2020)

35 - 40 -              -               -                Not available 35 - 40 35 - 40

Alan McCarthy

Chairman
70 - 75 23               -               -                -                  70 - 75 55 - 60

Patrick Boyle

Non-Executive Director
10 - 15 15               -               -                -                  10 - 15 10 - 15

Joanna Crane

Non-Executive Director
10 - 15 14               -               -                -                  10 - 15 10 - 15

Jonathan Furmsten

Non-Executive Director
10 - 15 4                 -               -                -                  10 - 15 10 - 15

Elizabeth Peers

Non-Executive Director
10 - 15 13               -               -                -                  10 - 15 10 - 15

Michael Rymer

Non-Executive Director
10 - 15 19               -               -                -                  10 - 15 10 - 15

Kirsten Baker (from July 2019)

Non-Executive Director
5 - 10 -              -               -                -                  5 - 10 5 - 10

Martin Sinclair (to June 2019)

Non-Executive Director
0 - 5 -              -               -                -                  0 - 5 0 - 5
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Pension Entitlements as at 31 March 2020   
 

 

 
 
* Cash Equivalent Transfer value as at 31st March 2017 has been restated to include benefits from the 

2015 Pension Scheme that were incorrectly excluded from the 2016/17 annual report 

 
 
Fair Pay Multiple (median pay) (subject to audit) 

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the 

remuneration of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median 

remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.  

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in the financial year 

2020/21 was £290k - £295k (2019/20: £290k - £295k). This was 11 times 

(2019/20: 10) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £27.7k 

(2019/20: £29.5k). 

In 2020/21, no employees (2019/20: nil) received remuneration in excess of 

the highest-paid director. Remuneration ranged from £6k to £267k (excluding 

R
e
a
l 
in

c
r
e
a
s
e
 
in

 
p
e
n
s
io

n
 
a
t
 
a
g
e
 

6
0
 
(
b
a
n
d
s
 
o
f
 
£
2
,
5
0
0
)

R
e
a
l 
in

c
r
e
a
s
e
 
in

 
p
e
n
s
io

n
 
lu

m
p
 

s
u
m

 
a
t
 
a
g
e
d
 
6
0
 
(
b
a
n
d
s
 
o
f
 

£
2
,
5
0
0
)

T
o
t
a
l 
a
c
c
r
u
e
d
 
p
e
n
s
io

n
 
a
t
 
a
g
e
 

6
0
 
a
t
 
3
1
 
M

a
r
c
h
 
2
0
1
9
 
(
b
a
n
d
s
 
o
f
 

£
5
,
0
0
0
)

L
u
m

p
 
s
u
m

 
a
t
 
a
g
e
 
6
0
 
r
e
la

t
e
d
 
t
o
 

a
c
c
r
u
e
d
 
p
e
n
s
io

n
 
a
t
 
3
1
 
M

a
r
c
h
 

2
0
1
9
 
(
b
a
n
d
s
 
o
f
 
£
5
,
0
0
0
)

C
a
s
h
 
E

q
u
iv

a
le

n
t
 
T

r
a
n
s
f
e
r
 
V

a
lu

e
 

a
t
 
3
1
 
M

a
r
c
h
 
2
0
1
9
 
(
n
e
a
r
e
s
t
 

£
1
,
0
0
0
)

C
a
s
h
 
E

q
u
iv

a
le

n
t
 
T

r
a
n
s
f
e
r
 
V

a
lu

e
 

a
t
 
3
1
 
M

a
r
c
h
 
2
0
1
8
 
(
n
e
a
r
e
s
t
 

£
1
,
0
0
0
)

R
e
a
l 
in

c
r
e
a
s
e
 
in

 
C

a
s
h
 

E
q
u
iv

a
le

n
t
 
T

r
a
n
s
f
e
r
 
V

a
lu

e
 

(
n
e
a
r
e
s
t
 
£
1
,
0
0
0
)

E
m

p
lo

y
e
r
’s

 
c
o
n
t
r
ib

u
t
io

n
 
t
o
 

S
t
a
k
e
h
o
ld

e
r
 
P

e
n
s
io

n

Marianne Griffiths

Chief Executive
2.5 - 5 7.5 - 10 50 - 55 155 - 160 1,288 1,169 91 Nil

George Findlay

Chief Medical Officer
0 - 2.5 -            65 - 70 135 - 140 1,249 1,183 38 Nil

Karen Geoghegan

Chief Financial Officer
2.5 - 5 -            65 - 70 150 - 155 1,269 1,169 72 Nil

Denise Farmer

Chief Workforce Officer
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Peter Landstrom

Chief Delivery and Strategy Officer
2.5 - 5 -            30 - 35 60 - 65 479 437 31 Nil

Nicola Ranger

Chief Nurse

Not 

available

Not 

available
50 - 55 155 - 160 1,155

Not 

available

Not 

available
Nil

Maggie Davies

Chief Nurse

Not 

available

Not 

available
40 - 45 120 - 125 856

Not 

available

Not 

available
Nil

Amanda Fadero

Managing Director

Not 

available

Not 

available

Not 

available

Not 

available

Not 

available

Not 

available

Not 

available
Nil

Fiona Ashworth 

Chief Operating Officer

Not 

available

Not 

available
55 - 60 175 - 180 1,432

Not 

available

Not 

available
Nil
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the highest-paid director (2019/20: £12k to £263k excluding highest-paid 

director). 

The banded salary referenced above includes the total remuneration paid for 

roles undertaken at Western Sussex Hospitals and Brighton and Sussex 

University Hospitals. Taking into account only that part of the director 

remuneration that relates to Western Sussex Hospitals, the banded 

remuneration of the highest paid director is £145 - £150k, This was 5 times 

the median remuneration of the workforce and in 2020/21, 43 employees 

received remuneration in excess of this. 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related 

pay, benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include 

employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of 

pensions. 

 

 

 

………………………………………………………………… 14 June 2021 

Dame Marianne Griffiths, Chief Executive 
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2.5 Regulatory ratings 

The Trust is assessed under NHS Improvement’s Use of Resources Rating. 

Financial risk is covered under the Financial Sustainability Risk Rating which 

is driven by a range of financial metrics. The highest rating that can be 

achieved is 1. A score of 2 indicates no significant financial concerns. The 

Trust was rated at 1 for each of the quarters during 2020/21. 

 

2.6 Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities 

Statement of the chief executive's responsibilities as the accounting 
officer of Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust    
 
The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the accounting officer of 
the NHS foundation trust. The relevant responsibilities of the accounting 
officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public 
finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper 
accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer 
Memorandum issued by NHS Improvement.  
 
NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers conferred on Monitor by the 
NHS Act 2006, has given Accounts Directions which require Western Sussex 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a 
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis required by those 
Directions. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of Western Sussex Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure, other items of 
comprehensive income and cash flows for the financial year.  
 
In preparing the accounts and overseeing the use of public funds, the 
Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the 
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual and in 
particular to:  
 

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS Improvement, 
including the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and 
apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis  
 

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis  
 

• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual (and the Department of 
Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual) have been 
followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the 
financial statements  
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• ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant 

legislation, delegated authorities and guidance 
 

• confirm that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, 
balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary 
for patients, regulators and stakeholders to assess the NHS 
foundation trust’s performance, business model and strategy and 
 

• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis and 
disclose any material uncertainties over going concern.  

The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records 

which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of 

the NHS foundation trust and to enable them to ensure that the accounts 

comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act. The 

Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the NHS 

foundation trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 

detection of fraud and other irregularities.  

As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 

foundation trust’s auditors are unaware, and I have taken all the steps that I 

ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information 

and to establish that the entity’s auditors are aware of that information.  

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the 

responsibilities set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer 

Memorandum.  

  

 

Signed……………………….  
 
Dame Marianne Griffiths, Chief Executive   14 June 2021 

 

  



 

Page 113 

2.7 Annual Governance Statement for the period 1 April 

2020 to 31 March 2021  

1. Scope of responsibility   

1.1 As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound 

system of internal control that supports the achievement of the NHS 

foundation trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public 

funds and departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in 

accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for 

ensuring that the NHS foundation trust is administered prudently and 

economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also 

acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 

Accounting Officer Memorandum.   

1.2 The Trust’s Standing Orders and Scheme of Delegated Authority outline 
the accountability arrangements and scope of responsibility of the Board of 
Directors (‘the Board’), Executive Directors and Trust officers. 
 
1.3 The Board receives regular reports from each of the nominated 
Committees that report into it. The terms of reference of the Committees of 
the Board are regularly reviewed to ensure that governance arrangements 
continue to be fit for purpose. 
 
1.4 The Trust works in close partnership with other Health and Social Care 
organisations in the area, but notably with the Coastal West Sussex Clinical 
Commissioning Group. In addition, the Trust attends the West Sussex County 
Council Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee. 
 
1.5 Merger with Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust 
 
1.6 Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust continued with the 
management contract arrangements with Brighton and Sussex University 
Hospitals NHS Trust.  These arrangements are formalised within an 
agreement between both the Trusts and NHS Improvement for an initial 
period of three years from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020, which has been 
extended to 31 March 2021. 
 
1.7 The Board and Council of Governors agreed to merge with Brighton and 
Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust under section 56a of the NHS Act 
2006. As part of the merger preparedness the Board agreed a revised Board 
Governance structure seeing the Board committees aligned to the Trust’s 
patient first domains of patient, quality, people, sustainability and systems & 
partnerships.  This alignment will give a more efficient route for the flow of 
assurance from the operational areas of the Trust to the Board over the 
delivery of the Trust’s stated objectives, vision and values.    
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1.8 As part of this work revised Committee terms of reference, scheme of 
delegation, and the Trust’s constitution were developed and approved by the 
Board and the Constitution was also approved by Council of Governors. The 
Standing Financial Instructions for the legacy Trusts were aligned and 
approved in 2019 thus ensuring there is a sound system of internal control 
and assurance oversight established for the enlarged Foundation Trust.    
 

2. The purpose of the system of internal control   

2.1 The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable 
level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and 
objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an 
ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the 
achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of Western Sussex Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised 
and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place 
in Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 
March 2021 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.   
 

3. Capacity to handle risk   

3.1Trust Board 
 
3.2 The Trust has a Risk Management Strategy and Policy, endorsed by the 
Board of Directors. The Board of Directors recognise that risk management is 
an integral part of good management practice and to be most effective should 
be embedded in the Trust’s culture. This recognition is embodied within the 
Strategy and Policy as this documents the Board’s risk appetite and the 
processes applied across the Trust which see the oversight of the Trust’s key 
risks assigned to a Board Committee with each key risk have an named 
executive lead.   The Board is committed to ensuring that risk management is 
embedded as part of the Trust’s philosophy, practice and planning and is not 
viewed or practiced as a separate programme and that responsibility for 
implementation is accepted at all levels of the organisation. 
 
3.3 The Board recognised the continued challenges facing the Trust as it 
manages the Covid-19 pandemic and maintained its proactive adaptation of 
its Board and Committee Governance processes which had commenced at 
the end of 2019/20.  These changes have seen the continued provision of 
updates on Covid-19 at each Board meeting, the maintenance through the 
Quality Assurance Committee meetings on the review of quality in line with 
the Board’s risk appetite.   There has been a continued use of technology to 
deliver both Committee and Board meetings. Supporting the Board meetings 
there is a regular information flow to all Board members including the Non 
Executives to ensure they are aware of any issues and actions taken to 
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address these. Within the second wave of the pandemic these were enhanced 
with regular Board (NED) briefings from the Chief Executive complemented by 
wider Executive updates from the Executive Gold meetings.  The information 
flow to the Board Members is provided from the bronze, silver and gold 
command structure established to oversee the development and delivery of 
the Trust Covid-19 incident response plan. 
 
3.4 Board Committees  
 
3.5 The Audit Committee has overall responsibility for ensuring effective risk 
management across the Trust. The Audit Committee receive information 
annually from the Trust’s internal auditors and from its own review of the 
Trust’s Board Assurance Framework and through this work supports the 
Board to be assured over the robustness of the Trust’s application of sound 
risk management processes.  To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its role 
one Non Executive Member sits on each of the other Board Committees 
providing a clear link to and from the Audit Committee’s oversight of the Board 
Assurance Framework and the work undertaken in each Committee in respect 
of the key risks they have assigned oversight for.   
 
3.6 The other key Board Committees of Finance & Performance and Quality 
Assurance regularly receive and consider the strength of assurance reflected 
within the Board Assurance Framework and the actions being taken to 
manage risks that are outside the Board’s stated risk appetite.   Each 
Committee reports the outcome of their review of the Board Assurance 
Framework to the next Board meeting.  
 
3.7 The Board has developed its Committee structure for 2021/22 with the 
establishment of the five Patient First thematic committees of Patient, Quality, 
People, Sustainability and Systems & Partnerships. Each Committee will 
report to the Board after their meetings continuing to provide assurance 
aligned to the Trust Board Assurance Framework complementing the Board’s 
Integrated Performance Report.  
 
3.8 Non-Executive Directors 
 
3.9 All Committees are chaired by a nominated Non-Executive Director. The 
Audit Committee who play a pivotal role in providing assurance over the risk 
management processes of the Trust has a membership of only Non-Executive 
Directors.   Through the Non-Executive Chairs and the Audit Committee 
membership all have a responsibility to challenge robustly the effective 
management of risk and to seek reasonable assurance of adequate control.  
This Non-Executive Director Committee chair membership of the Audit 
Committee continues into the enlarged Trust. 
 
3.10 The Audit Committee maintains an overview of the Board Assurance 

Framework complementing the work of the other two Committees and through 

the receipt of both management assurance and assurance from Internal Audit 
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that the underpinning risk management processes operated within the Trust 

remained effective. 

 

3.11 Chief Nurse 
 
3.12 The Chief Nurse is responsible for the strategic development and 
implementation of organisational risk management system and ensuring there 
is a robust system in place for monitoring compliance with standards and the 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) Registration legal requirements. 
 
3.13 The Chief Nurse is also responsible for managing patient and non-patient 
safety, complaints, patient experience and medical legal matters. 
 
3.14 Chief Finance Officer 
 
3.15 The Chief Finance Officer oversees the adoption and operation of the 
Trust’s Standing Financial Instructions including the rules relating to budgetary 
control, procurement, banking, losses and controls over income and 
expenditure transactions, and is the lead for counter fraud.  
 
3.16 The Chief Finance Officer and the Trust Finance Director attend the 
Trust’s Audit Committee and both liaise with internal audit, external audit and 
counter fraud services, who undertake programmes of audit with a risk based 
approach. 
 
3.17 Risk Management Training and Learning 
 
3.18 Risk management training forms part of the essential training package 
that all staff are required to complete. All new members of staff attend a 
mandatory induction covering key elements of risk management, 
supplemented by local induction. The organisation provides mandatory and 
statutory training that all staff must attend. 
 
3.19 The Trust has established a culture of learning, through the work on the 
implementation of national clinical standards, the delivery of improvements 
flowing from local and national clinical audits and the focus on learning from 
all incidents. The reporting of this work flows to the Board through the work of 
the Quality Assurance Committee and from reports directly to the Board.  This 
allows the Board to see the positive impact that the improvements from this 
learning has on the Trust’s risk profile.   

 

4. The risk and control framework   

4.1 The Board of Directors has established a robust corporate governance 
framework which is detailed within the Annual Report section ‘How the Trust is 
run’. The corporate governance structure is designed to ensure appropriate 
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oversight and scrutiny and to ensure good corporate governance practice is 
followed.   
 

4.2 In support of the Trust’s corporate governance processes the Trust 
continues to apply its clinical divisional governance processes. Each Clinical 
Division is led by a triumvirate of a Divisional Director of Operations, a Chief of 
Service and a Head of Nursing. Each division reports through the Quality 
Board to the Board’s Quality Assurance Committee. 
 

4.3 The Trust has a Risk Management Strategy that was updated in 2020, 
with this review confirming the stated Trust’s risk appetite and the Trust’s 
processes for identifying, reporting and managing risk.  
 

4.4 Risk management training forms part of the essential training package that 
all staff are required to complete.  All new members of staff attend a 
mandatory induction event which covers key elements of risk management.  
 
4.5 Risks are raised and captured to a central risk management database 
known as Datix. 
 

4.6 All staff are responsible for responding to incidents, hazards, complaints 
and near misses in accordance with appropriate Trust policies. Local 
management teams oversee local risk registers and the management and 
escalation, as appropriate, of risks. 
 
4.7 The Trust has an established Board Assurance Framework (BAF), through 
which the Board is provided with a mechanism for satisfying itself that its 
responsibilities are being discharged effectively; and informs the Board where 
the delivery of principal objectives are at risk due to a gap in control and/or 
assurance.  
 
4.8 The BAF records that the Trust has been managing 13 significant risks, 
and at the year end the Trust had three highly scored key risks remaining, 
these related to: 
 

 Being unable to deliver ongoing efficiencies and flex our resources in 

an agile way resulting in an increasing or unmanaged deficit and 

inefficient, unaffordable and unsustainable services; 

 

 Being unable to consistently meet the health, safety and wellbeing 

needs of our staff as we recover and restore services in line with Covid-

19 restrictions; and 

 

 Being unable to deliver and demonstrate consistent compliance with 

operational and NHS constitutional standards resulting in an adverse 
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impact on patient care and financial penalties and the Trust’s reputation 

and the reputation of the Trust. 

 

4.9 For each of these risks there is a detailed series of actions which will 
continue through 2021/22. The delivery of these actions and the impact on 
these risks is monitored through the appropriate oversight Committee of the 
Board.  
 
4.10 The Trust took action during the year which saw its BAF financially 
related risk reduce but the risk relating to the Trust’s ability to flex its 
resources did not reduce to the same level reflecting the level of uncertainty 
over the demands on the Trust to deal with the Covid-19 pandemic and the 
changing financial framework the NHS is subject too.   
 
4.11 The Trust has taken a number of actions to enhance its processes to 
support the wellbeing of its staff. However, given the relentless pressure the 
pandemic has placed on the Trust’s services and the prolonged period of the 
national incident the Trust has assessed the long term risk to staff wellbeing 
as increasing.  The Board with the establishment of a dedicated People 
Committee will track the effectiveness of its plans to mitigate this risk 
alongside receiving direct information from staff feedback / surveys on the 
efficacy of the wellbeing programmes developed to support the Trust’s staff.  
 
4.12 During the year in respect of the compliance with regard to the key 
constitutional targets the Trust took action and has prioritised the treatment of 
patients according to their clinical needs.  Like the majority of NHS providers, 
the Trust has taken action to support the NHS and the Country with their 
measures to deal with Covid-19 which has impacted on the Trust’s ability to 
reduce further this risk. 
 

4.13 During 2020/21 the Trust has responded positively to the national 
requirements placed on it with regards to countering Covid-19. The Trust has 
been supported through the established bronze, silver and gold incident 
control processes which include a robust process for the capturing of issues 
and risks and the follow through on actions to mitigate these.  These 
processes were considered by Internal Audit to be robust and effective and 
have placed the Trust in a strong position to adapt its control environment to 
respond to the changing nature of the county’s and national health service 
response to Covid-19.   
 

Processes for Managing Cyber Security Risk 

 

4.14 We have now deployed NHS Digital’s Microsoft Advanced Threat 
Protection across both the client devices estate, and also now, the server 
estate of the Trust. This solution allows us to actively monitor the devices on 
our network and have very early detection of any malware or other cyber 
threats that enter our estate. We monitor this on a daily basis which has 
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allowed us to catch viruses and malware, isolate the machine in question and 
take the steps needed to remove the threat before any damage occurs. We 
also continue to act on every National CareCERT alert that we receive and 
update NHS Digital of our actions and progress. 
 
4.15 We have deployed two new Cyber Security related solutions across the 
WSHFT estate during 2020. 
 

i) The ITHealth Dashboard uses an agentless design to monitor 
the Trusts network. It detects all devices that connect to our 
networks and scan them to ensure that they are compliant, up to 
date and most importantly – safe and secure. It also gives us 
vulnerability and assurance modules which enable us to ensure 
that we detect and can act on any vulnerabilities such as 
unpatched software etc. As well as the assurance that our 
patching and security solutions are in place on all Trust 
machines. 
 

ii) Trend Micro Deep Secure – this solution has now been 
deployed across the Trusts server estate and is an advanced 
Anti-Virus and Malware protection tool. It also brings with it the 
ability to place the Trusts servers into a protective ‘bubble’. In 
the event of a Zero Day Malware attack, we can deploy this 
bubble to ensure that our servers are fully protected from the 
threat, allowing us the time to patch them against the new 
malware. 

 
4.16 We are proud to say that our Trust is still seen as a leader in the field of 
Cyber Security within the NHS. The Trust Board has continued to invest in 
tool sets that IM&T use to combat threats. However, this is a continually 
changing landscape so confirmed investment is always required. 
 

Processes for assuring the Board that staffing processes are safe, 

sustainable and effective 

4.17  There are a number of ways in which the Trust ensures that short, 
medium and long term workforce strategies and staffing systems are in place 
which assures the Board that staffing processes are safe, sustainable and 
effective.   Informed by our clinical strategy and aligned to operational and 
financial planning, workforce demand and supply plans are developed at 
specialty and divisional level and include recruitment, retention and workforce 
transformation and efficiency plans.    
 
4.18 National Quality Board standards, NICE guidance, NHSE/I guidance and 
recommendations from Royal Colleges and the output of national taskforces 
on workforce are used to inform the optimum staffing levels required to deliver 
high quality and safe services in an acute hospital environment.   Changes to 
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staffing profiles (numbers and skills) are subject to a Quality Impact 
Assessment at divisional level and reviewed by the Chief Medical Officer and 
Chief Nurse prior to implementation. 
 

4.19 Through regular reporting to the Board, workforce and safer staffing 
reports are provided and these are triangulated against quality metrics to 
ensure our staffing processes are safe, sustainable and effective.   
 
4.20  The Trust has an active Guardian for Safe Working Hours who works 
closely with educational and clinical supervisors to ensure that the health, 
wellbeing and safety of junior doctors is maintained.   Well attended monthly 
forums are in place to address issues and concerns raised by junior 
doctors.  The Guardian provides a regular report to the joint local negotiating 
forum and to the Quality Assurance Committee on matters raised and how 
these are being addressed.   
 
4.21  During 2020/21, the health and wellbeing of staff has been a key priority 
with an extensive number of interventions to support the physical, emotional 
and financial health needs of our workforce.    Regular updates to the Board 
and committees are in place and in future the Chair of the newly established 
People Committee will be the Trust’s Wellbeing Guardian. 
 
4.22  Daily reporting of staffing capacity, including absence, has been in place 
through the use of e-rostering systems and processes during the 
pandemic.    A workforce hub was established at peak times to monitor 
capacity across all staff groups and manage the rapid deployment of staff 
where required.  Reporting through the incident control structure from Bronze 
to Gold command, workforce risks were identified and effectively managed. 
 
4.23 There are robust governance structures in place that oversee the 
efficiency and effectiveness of our staffing systems that ultimately report into 
the Quality Assurance and the Finance and Performance Committees of the 
board. Maintaining workforce capacity and capability to ensure it is safe and 
appropriate is a key feature of risk management at divisional and trust level. 
   

4.24 The Trust uses electronic systems to capture and collate staffing 

numbers and skill mix for nursing staff and this is currently being rolled out to 

medical staff. Electronic systems for managing temporary workforce supply 

provide an additional level of assurance.  

 

Processes for managing regulatory risk 

4.25 The Trust’s last CQC inspection report was in 2019 and this confirmed 
that the Trust remains fully compliant with the registration requirements of the 
Care Quality Commission. The CQC concluded for each domain, including 
Well Led which has an assessment covering the Trust’s risk management and 
patient safety regulatory compliance, that the Trust was outstanding.   
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4.26 The Trust continued to deploy its Patient First programme which ensures 
that there is a continued focus on improvement covering improving quality, the 
patient experience and ensuring the Trust is sustainable, which are key to the 
delivery of the Trust’s True North and Breakthrough Objectives. 
 
4.27 During the period of this report the Trust regrettably had three Never 
Events and one Prevention of Future Deaths notification from the Brighton 
Coroner. Never Events and Serious Incidents are subject to a thorough 
internal review to identify Root Causes and learning. The Trust applied its 
serious incident framework processes for undertaking a Root Cause Analysis 
in respect of the Coroner notification.  All Serious Incidents including Never 
Events were reported as required to the Clinical Commissioning Group, NHS 
Improvement and to NHS England.  A full investigation is undertaken and the 
outcome and recommendations reported to the Trust Board for each serious 
incident. 
 
4.28 The Foundation Trust has maintained and published on its website an 
up-to-date register of interests, including gifts and hospitality, for decision-
making staff within the past twelve months, as required by the ‘Managing 
Conflicts of Interest in the NHS’ guidance. This register records the details of 
the Trust senior decision makers, including Board members and Trust 
Directors. 
 
4.29 As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension 
Scheme, control measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations 
contained within the Scheme regulations are complied with. This includes 
ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and payments 
into the Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme rules, and that member 
Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the 
timescales detailed in the Regulations. 
 
4.30 Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s 
obligations under equality, diversity and human rights legislation are complied 
with. 
 
4.31 The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments and has a 
sustainable development management plan in place which takes account of 
UK Climate Projections 2018 (UKCP18). The Trust ensures that its obligations 
under the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are 
complied with. 
 
4.32 The Trust has undertaken a six-facet building condition survey with the 
delivery of the agreed actions reported to the Board. 
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5. Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use 

of resources 

5.1 The Board receives a monthly report from the Chief Financial Officer on 
financial performance. Financial performance is highlighted and reviewed at 
the Trust Executive Committee to ensure that all senior leaders have visibility 
on the position and the actions required. Financial performance is scrutinised 
in detail at the Finance and Performance Committee. 
 
5.2 The Trust has maintained a robust structure for the identification and 
delivery of efficiency programmes. This is supported by a Programme 
Management Office and oversight provided by an Executive led efficiency and 
workforce steering group. Reports are also provided monthly to the Finance 
and Performance Committee.  The Trust in 2020/21 has met its overall 
financial plan despite having to deploy significant resources to deal with 
Covid-19.   
5.3 The Foundation Trust has maintained a financial risk rating of 1, which 
provides confidence over the Trust’s financial stewardship.  
 
5.4 The Board’s last external well led review which judged the Trust against 
the NHSE/I well led key lines of enquiry, concluded in late 2019/20 that the 
Board is performing consistently strongly against the NHSE/I expected hall 
marks of an effective Board.  This review’s conclusion was corroborated by 
the CQC’s inspection which provided an Outstanding rating well led as well as 
for each and every CQC domain assessed.   
 

6. Information governance  

6.1 In line with standing guidance from NHS Digital on the reporting and 
classification of Data Protection and Security Incidents, the Trust is pleased to 
confirm that it reported no incidents to the Information Commissioner’s Office. 
 
6.2 Each year the Trust completes and submits the Data Security and 
Protection Toolkit to demonstrate its compliance against the National Data 
Guardian’s National Data Security Standards. NHS Digital has set a deadline 
of 30 June 2021 for submission, however the Trust made its submission 
before 31 March 2021 due to the pending merger with Brighton and Sussex 
University Hospitals Trust. The Trust is pleased to confirm that this 
submission, following an internal audit, was agreed that all Standards have 
been met. 
 

7. Annual Quality Report  

7.1 The requirement under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health 
Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to prepare Quality 
Accounts for each financial year has been suspended this year due to the 
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NHS focus on Covid-19.  However, the Trust has continued to prepare its 
annual quality report on a similar basis to previous years.  
 
7.2 In developing the Quality Account for 2020/21 quality improvement 
priorities for 2019/20 were identified following discussion within the Trust and 
with its Governors. The detail of the Trust’s performance against these quality 
priorities is considered by the Quality Assurance Committee prior to their 
reporting to the Board.  This process allows for the Board to be assured over 
the accuracy of the Trust’s Quality Report prior to its subsequent publication. 
 
7.3 To assure the Board that the Quality Accounts present a balanced view 
and that there are appropriate controls in place to ensure the accuracy of 
data, the Board has: 

 Appointed the Chief Medical Officer supported by the Trust Medical 

Director and Chief Nurse to lead and advise us on all matters relating 

to the preparation of the Trust’s annual Quality Accounts. 

 Established a Quality Board to provide focus on continuously improving 

clinical practice. 

 Put in place a system to receive and act upon feedback on the 

information contained in the Accounts from local stakeholders. 

 

7.4  All service improvements are subject to robust Quality Improvement 
Assessments, the outcome of the initial assessment and subsequent re-
assessments as the projects progress are reported to the Quality Assurance 
Committee who provide oversight of actions being taken in respect to any 
significant changes to the quality risk profile of that service improvement.   
 
7.5  Service changes and Trust polices all include an Equality Impact 
Assessment which identifies any risk of individuals or groups being 
disadvantaged by that change or policy together with actions being taken to 
mitigate that risk. Such risks are captured within the Trust’s risk management 
processes and mitigating actions are closely monitored via the Trust’s 
divisional governance processes with any significant risks escalated to the 
Trust Executive Committee. 
 

8. Data Quality and Governance 

8.1  The Trust  has a comprehensive suite of near real time daily reports, 
which allow detailed patient level review at an operational level, allowing for 
trend analysis. There is an established daily validation process undertaken by 
clinical leads for patients who exceed four hours in department, and approved 
by the Chief Operating Officer or the Deputy Chief Operating Officer each 
respective day. The Trust capture daily A&E breach information on 4 hourly 
site reports which are cross referenced against electronic Patient 
Administration System (PAS) reporting which helps ensure understanding and 
reconciliation of any discrepancies between daily performance (as reported 
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via the Patient Administration system) and that observed by site management 
teams.   
 
8.2 For Referral to Treatment (RTT) performance, there is a comprehensive 
validation process undertaken, underpinned by the patient access policy and 
RTT Rules Suite, whereby month end over 18 week waiters are reviewed at a 
care group level for their accuracy, and the validated cohort of patients are 
updated daily up to the point at which reporting is finalised (approximately 
18th of subsequent month). This is supported by divisional and corporate 
weekly meetings where trends and anomalies are tracked and rectified.  
 

8.3 For cancer patient level information is reviewed daily as part of Multi-
Disciplinary Team meetings and tracking processes, captured in detail on the 
National Somerset system, with a range of daily updated performance and 
operational tracking reports to support patient pathway management.  
 
8.4 More widely, the Trust access the national Secondary User System 
Clinical Data Set data quality dashboards which provide a degree of 
assurance around completeness of key administrative data items (patient 
details) broken down by main activity types (A&E, inpatient and outpatient 
activities) where the Trust has performed well above target level in terms of 
completeness of records.  The data quality team proactively undertake data 
cleansing activities on the Patient Administration System daily, acting on a 
suite of automated reports and results from the trace files sent to the national 
Personal Demographic Serves (PDS).  The data quality reports are shared 
with the Information Governance Group.  
 
8.5  The Trust developed a data quality kite marking process in 19/20 which 
visually shows the quality of the underlying data across a number of elements, 
including the timeliness of the data, the strength of internal independent 
validation etc.  This process has been applied to the key performance 
indicators reported to the Trust’s Finance and Performance Committee which 
provides an easy reference point for the Committee when discussing the 
Trust’s reported performance and the decisions it is faced with based on the 
Trust’s reported position. The process is being expanded to True North and 
wider qualitative scorecards, and will influence where the Trust focusses 
further data quality improvements.  This process was suspended during 
2020/21 due to resource impact of Covid-19 information requirements, but is 
planned to be re-commenced during 2021/22. 
 

8.6 The Trust adopted a Gold command business continuity plan as part of 

the Covid-19 response. This required a wealth of daily and weekly information 

to be gathered both covid related and the indirect impact of Covid-19 on 

constitutional performance, with scrutiny by Silver and Gold commanders 

each day. This provided an extra layer of data quality assurance, triangulated 

with clinical services. 
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8.7 As part of Trust merger, the Trust has reviewed current information 
relating to key constitutional standards with BSUH information teams, so as to 
be able to provide an aggregated view of the planned new Trust from April 
2021. This has provided a further opportunity to review definitions and align 
methods of collection to improve consistency. 
 
8.8 The Trust undertook Strategy Deployment Reviews (SDRs) at a divisional 
level in 2019/20 which allowed executive level scrutiny of performance trends 
which provides another layer of assurance in terms of performance (and its 
associated data quality). The process adopts a review of key performance 
metrics, whereby a drop in performance trend elicits a structured stratification 
of reasons for performance slippage, and mitigation and recovery actions to 
recover performance. This is an opportunity to cover data quality concerns 
alongside key operational constraints, or demand pressures. This is part of 
the Trust True North/Patient First governance arrangements all of which 
prioritise patient care, and allow the core operational priorities to be aligned 
and understood from board to floor.  The Trust PFIS programme reviews data 
on a granular level to establish baselines, and monitor improvement, the 
scrutiny of which contributes to maintained high quality data. The SDR 
process was suspended for part of 2020/21 due to a focus being given by the 
Divisions on delivering the national covid response, however this process will 
be reinstated as part of 2021/22 performance assurance process. 
 

9. Review of effectiveness   

9.1 As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit 
and the executive managers and clinical leads within the NHS foundation trust 
who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal 
control framework.   
9.2 Head of Internal Audit Opinion    

 

9.3 Internal audit provide an independent and objective opinion on the degree 
to which risk management, control and governance support the achievement 
of the Trust's objectives. 
  
9.4 Based on work undertaken during 2020/21 the Head of Internal Audit has 
stated in their Head of Internal Audit Opinion that they “are able to provide 
moderate assurance that there is a sound system of internal control, designed 
to meet the Trust’s objectives and that controls are being applied consistently”  
 
9.5 In forming their opinion they took into account that, the Trust delivered a 
breakeven position, that the majority of audits provided moderate assurance 
including the key audits of key financial systems and data security and 
protection toolkit. Throughout all audit work completed, we raised only one 
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high priority finding within the Cyber security report and we noted that this was 
in an area of known and managed risk.     
 
9.6 Internal Audit noted there had been an impact on the Trust’s timely closing 
of agreed action in part driven by the Trust’s focus on dealing with the national 
pandemic.  However Internal Audit did not feel this adversely impacted on 
their overall positive moderate opinion.  
 

9.7 External Audit   

 

9.8 External Audit report to the Trust on the findings from their audit work, in 
particular their audit of the financial statements and the Trust’s arrangements 
to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources (Value 
for Money).  For 2020/21 an unqualified audit opinion has been issued in 
respect of the financial statements and External Audit had no matters to report 
by exception in respect of the Value for Money Commentary. 
 

9.9 Counter-fraud   

 

9.10 The Trust is required under Service Condition 24 of the Standard NHS 
Commissioning Contract to ensure appropriate counter fraud measures are in 
place.  
 
9.11 The Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) adopts a risk-based 
approach to counter fraud work, identifying areas of potential vulnerability. 
Relevant local proactive exercises (LPEs) are consequently built into the 
Trust’s annual counter fraud work plan, which includes activity relating to the 
four main NHS Counter Fraud Authority (CFA) standards: Strategic 
Governance, Inform and Involve, Prevent and Deter, and Hold to Account and 
which is overseen by the Audit Committee. The LCFS helps to foster an anti-
fraud culture within the Trust through delivery of an ongoing training 
programme across a wide range of staff groups. This features regular 
presentations on counter fraud and on compliance with the UK Bribery Act 
2010. The LCFS attends each meeting of the Audit Committee to present a 
report on their work. The maintenance of strong systems of financial control 
and stewardship of public funds remains critical during the NHS response to 
Covid-19.  The Trust has continued with its established separate coding 
processes for Covid-19 costs and their recovery has also been subject to 
review by NHSE/I.  
 

9.12 The LCFS has not identified any significant control weaknesses during 
their work.  Where improvements have been identified then, similar to Internal 
Audit they make recommendations and the delivery of these is tracked and 
reported to the Audit Committee.  
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9.13 HSE Inspections 

 

9.14 The HSE did not undertake any inspections at the Trust during 
2020/2021.  The Trust responded ahead of the agreed deadline of 17 July 
2020 in respect to the inspection of the pathology laboratory at St Richards 
Hospital. The HSE on receipt of the Trust’s submitted information concluded 
there was no other actions required of the Trust.  The delivery of the agreed 
action in respect of previous inspections in 2019/20 continue to be monitored 
by the Trust’s health and safety group that reports directly to the Quality 
Assurance Committee.   
 

9.15 Environmental Health Inspections  

 

9.16 West Sussex County Council undertook inspections of the Trust’s 
upgraded kitchen facilities and has award the Trust a five-star rating for these 
and made no recommendations.  
 

9.17 Board Committees 

 

9.18 The Board and its Committees form an important aspect of control and I 
have been advised during my review by the work of the Audit Committee 
where the results of the work of the Trust’s auditors are received along with 
the Finance and Performance Committee and the Quality Assurance 
Committee which have met across 200/21. I have also been advised by the 
first meetings of the Patient, Quality, People, Sustainability and Systems and 
Partnership Committees in 2021/22 under the Board’s revised governance 
framework. 
 

9.19 Finance and Performance Committee 

 

9.20 The Finance and Performance Committee which is chaired by a Non-
Executive Director provides me and the Board with a flow of assurance over 
the effectiveness of the established systems of internal financial control and 
the systems of internal control supporting operational performance delivery 
and reporting. 
 

9.21 During the year the Committee has received regular reports on the 
Trust’s financial position, the management of its cash position and the delivery 
of the Trust’s capital programme, along with the delivery of the Trust’s 
efficiency programme and reports covering workforce, procurement and IM&T.   
The Committee also received regular reports on the delivery of the Trusts 
performance measures and has received a series of more in depth reports 
covering specific aspects of performance.   
 

9.22 These reports have supported the Committee in its assurance flow to the 
Board that these key risks have been managed well during the year. 
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9.23 Quality Assurance Committee 

 

9.24 The Quality Assurance Committee which is chaired by a Non-Executive 
Director provides me and the Board with a flow of assurance over the 
effectiveness of the established systems of internal control in respect of 
management of key quality risks. 
 
9.25 During the year the Committee has received regular reports on the 
Trust’s quality performance and quality risks, learning from complaints and 
investigations into untoward incidents along with regular reporting on the 
outcomes from clinical audits.  The Committee have supported the assurance 
flow to the Board that quality key risks have been managed during the year 
especially that there have been no significant patient safety matters arising 
during the year. 
 

9.26 Board Assurance Framework 

 

9.27 During the year covered by this report the Board Assurance Framework 
reporting framework has been maintained which has seen the structured flow 
of assurance reporting to the Board on the controls managing the Trust’s key 
risks to the delivery of the Trust’s identified True North and associated 
breakthrough objectives. This process plays a key role in articulating where 
gaps in control exist and the tracking of devised actions to mitigate these. 
 

9.28 Wider processes 

 

9.29 My review is also informed by, the Trust’s processes for: 

 

 monitoring the delivery of improvements flowing from the receipt of the 

outcome of the Annual Staff Survey 

 monitoring the delivery of improvements from the learning identified 

from complaints and the investigation of untoward incidents 

 tracking the outcomes from the programme of work undertaken by 

internal and external auditors a well as Counter Fraud 

 Delivering improvements from the outcomes of external assurance 

visits including the national Getting It Right First Time reviews across 

many of the Trust’s services.  

 
9.30 These process culminate in reporting to the Board through the revised 
Divisional and Executive governance processes on the state of the Trust’s 
systems of internal control.   
 

9.31 I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is 
also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their 



 

Page 129 

management letter and other reports. I have been advised on the implications 
of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control 
by the board, the audit committee, the finance and performance and the 
quality and assurance committee.  Where improvements have been 
highlighted then and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place.   
 

10. Conclusion  

10.1 I have considered the factors described in the NHS Improvement 
guidance on the 2020/21 annual governance statement in respect of 
significant issues.  
 
10.2 Whilst during the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 and up to the 
time of signing the accounts I have identified challenged areas with respect to 
the consistent achievement of Trust priorities I have not identified any 
significant internal control issues as defined as such within the FT Annual 
Reporting Manual.    
 
10.3 Oversight of the Trust’s management of these challenges continues at 
the Board and through its Committees with each being assured that the Trust 
has established and adapted these, as appropriate whilst dealing with the 
Covid-19 challenges, to ensure there remain adequate systems of internal 
control and where control improvements are identified that these are delivered 
in line with agreed action plans.  
 
10.4 Where wider opportunities for improvement have been identified I have 
overseen actions to ensure that we continue to improve the systems of 
internal control we operate for the benefits of our patients, staff and the wider 
community we serve. 
 

 

Signed (by order of the Board of Directors) 

 

 

 

..............................................................................  

Dame Marianne Griffiths, Chief Executive   14 June 2021 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

2020/21 2019/20

Note £000 £000

Operating income from patient care activities 3 478,000 451,589 

Other operating income 4 59,587 48,047 

Operating expenses 6, 8 (538,668) (483,567)

Operating surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations (1,081) 16,069 

Finance income 11 6 174 

Finance expenses 12 (604) (646)

PDC dividends payable (7,401) (8,553)

Net finance costs (7,999) (9,025)

Other gains / (losses) 13 (3) 11 

Surplus / (deficit) for the year from continuing operations (9,083) 7,055 

Surplus / (deficit) for the year (9,083) 7,055 

Other comprehensive income

Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:

Impairments 7 (2,388) (2,843)

Revaluations 18 9,049 2,148 

Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the period (2,422) 6,360 
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Statement of Financial Position
31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

Note £000 £000

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 15 16,490 13,476 

Property, plant and equipment 16 286,209 273,361 

Receivables 24 1,276 1,087 

Total non-current assets 303,975 287,924 

Current assets

Inventories 23 8,194 8,279 

Receivables 24 23,239 33,377 

Cash and cash equivalents 27 43,877 19,814 

Total current assets 75,310 61,470 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 28 (47,988) (28,466)

Borrowings 30 (1,839) (1,850)

Provisions 33 (851) (373)

Other liabilities 29 (2,494) (1,750)

Total current liabilities (53,172) (32,439)

Total assets less current liabilities 326,113 316,955 

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 30 (15,155) (16,925)

Provisions 33 (4,268) (3,391)

Total non-current liabilities (19,423) (20,316)

Total assets employed 306,690 296,639 

Financed by 

Public dividend capital 256,732 244,259 

Revaluation reserve 68,930 62,269 

Income and expenditure reserve (18,972) (9,889)

Total taxpayers' equity 306,690 296,639 

The notes on pages 9 to 57 form part of these accounts.

Name 

Position

Date

Dame Marianne Griffths 
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Chief Executive

15 June 2021

.................................................................



Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2021

Public 

dividend 

capital

Revaluation 

reserve

Other 

reserves

Income and 

expenditure 

reserve Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2020 - brought forward 244,259 62,269 - (9,889) 296,639 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year - - - (9,083) (9,083)

Other transfers between reserves - - - - - 

Impairments - (2,388) - - (2,388)

Revaluations - 9,049 - - 9,049 

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets - - - - - 

Other recognised gains and losses - - - - - 

Public dividend capital received 12,513 - - - 12,513 

Public dividend capital repaid (40) - - - (40)

Public dividend capital written off - - - - - 

Other movements in public dividend capital in year - - - - - 

Other reserve movements - - - - - 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2021 256,732 68,930 - (18,972) 306,690 
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2020

Public 

dividend 

capital

Revaluation 

reserve

Other 

reserves

Income and 

expenditure 

reserve Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2019 - brought forward 241,646 62,964 - (16,945) 287,665 

Prior period adjustment - - - - - 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2019 - restated 241,646 62,964 - (16,945) 287,665 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year - - - 7,055 7,055 

Other transfers between reserves - - - - - 

Impairments - (2,843) - - (2,843)

Revaluations - 2,148 - - 2,148 

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets - - - - - 

Other recognised gains and losses - - - - - 

Public dividend capital received 2,613 - - - 2,613 

Public dividend capital repaid - - - - - 

Public dividend capital written off - - - - - 

Other movements in public dividend capital in year - - - - - 

Other reserve movements - - - - - 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2020 244,259 62,269 - (9,889) 296,639 
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Information on reserves

Public dividend capital

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the 

time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. Additional PDC may also be issued to trusts by the 

Department of Health and Social Care. A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the trust, is payable to the 

Department of Health as the public dividend capital dividend.

Revaluation reserve

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the 

extent that, they reverse impairments previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in 

operating income. Subsequent downward movements in asset valuations are charged to the revaluation reserve to the 

extent that a previous gain was recognised unless the downward movement represents a clear consumption of economic 

benefit or a reduction in service potential.

Income and expenditure reserve

The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the trust.
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Statement of Cash Flows
2020/21 2019/20

Note £000 £000 

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating surplus / (deficit) (1,081) 16,069 

Non-cash income and expense:

Depreciation and amortisation 6.1 16,513 15,228 

Net impairments 7 9,116 7,218 

Income recognised in respect of capital donations 4 (564) (325)

(Increase) / decrease in receivables and other assets 10,837 7,933 

(Increase) / decrease in inventories 85 (644)

Increase / (decrease) in payables and other liabilities 14,681 (10,329)

Increase / (decrease) in provisions 1,367 850 

Net cash flows from / (used in) operating activities 50,954 36,000 

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 6 174 

Purchase of intangible assets (3,837) (3,694)

Purchase of PPE and investment property (25,093) (18,284)

Sales of PPE and investment property 19 11 

Receipt of cash donations to purchase assets 227 325 

Net cash flows from / (used in) investing activities (28,678) (21,468)

Cash flows from financing activities

Public dividend capital received 12,513 2,613 

Public dividend capital repaid (40) - 

Movement on loans from DHSC (1,772) (1,772)

Capital element of finance lease rental payments (4) (43)

Interest on loans (463) (501)

Interest paid on finance lease liabilities (158) (165)

PDC dividend (paid) / refunded (8,289) (8,349)

Net cash flows from / (used in) financing activities 1,787 (8,217)

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 24,063 6,315 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April - brought forward 19,814 13,499 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 27.1 43,877 19,814 
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Notes to the Accounts

1. Accounting Policies

NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory functions conferred on Monitor, has directed that the financial statements of NHS foundation 

trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual (GAM), which shall be 

agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the DHSC Group 

Accounting Manual 2020-21, issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the GAM follow 

International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM 

Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the DHSC Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of 

accounting policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the NHS foundation trust for 

the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted are described below. These have been applied 

consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts. 

Going concern

International Accounting Standards (IAS1) require the Trust Board to assess, as part of the accounts preparation process, the Trust’s ability 

to continue as a going concern.

In carrying out its assessment, the directors have taken account of the requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual. 

In particular, that the accounts should be prepared on a going concern basis unless the Trust Board either intend to apply to the Secretary of 

State for the dissolution of the trust without the transfer of the services to another entity, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. The 

directors have also taken into account revised guidance from The Public Audit Forum to auditors, and subsequent guidance published by 

NHS England and NHS Improvement on 1st April 2021 which states that for NHS bodies the assessment of going concern “should solely be 

based on the anticipated future provision of services in the public sector.”

There has been no application to the Secretary of State for the dissolution of the trust. Moreover on 19th March 2021, the Trust Boards of 

Western Sussex Hospitals and Brighton and Sussex Hospitals made a joint application to NHS Improvement for their merger by way of the 

acquisition of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust by Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

under section 56A of the NHS Act 2006. The Grant of Application for the Acquisition took effect on 1 April 2021. On this date, Western 

Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust acquired the assets, liabilities and operations and business of Brighton and Sussex University 

Hospitals NHS Trust. The newly merged trust is known, from 1st April 2021, as University Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.

In preparation for the merger, the trust undertook long-term financial modelling covering the five-year period April 2021 to March 2026. This 

financial modelling demonstrated that there is no adverse impact on either organisation from merging and that University Hospitals Sussex is 

able to deliver a sustainable financial position and maintain a positive cash position from the point of merger. The modelling also considered 

a range of sensitivities and demonstrates that University Hospitals Sussex is able to respond to emerging financial and operational pressures 

and can continue to maintain a positive cash position.

For 2021/22 the current financial funding arrangements will remain in place for the first half of the year, with additional funding available to 

support Elective Recovery / Mental Health Services / transformation of Community Services post COVID. Additional funding has also been 

received for the continuing costs of COVID.

For the second half of the year the Trust has assumed that income will continue at a value equal to the income blocks, which were integral to 

the financial frameworks in place in 2020/21 and underpin the financial framework which has been rolled forward in April 2021 to September 

2021. Assumptions have been made regarding increased activity trajectories to support restoration and recovery, taking into account 

resource availability and close working with System partners. Additional funding is available from the Elective Recovery Fund and the Trust 

has been prudent in assuming a cost neutral basis for activity delivery, with no contribution from this activity being included to deliver the full 

year plan. 

The Trust has produced its financial plans based on these assumptions which have been approved by the Trust Board. The Trust, in 

conjunction with the Sussex ICS, has submitted a breakeven plan, both individually and collectively for the first half of the year. The 

assumptions include an operational efficiency target of £6m for the first half of the year, which forms part of the Trust’s annual efficiency plan 

of £24.4m for the full year, c. 2% of the Trust’s cost base. This compares to efficiency targets of c.4% delivered by both legacy Trusts in 

years pre-COVID. In 2020/21, the Trust delivered efficiency savings of 1.1%. The Trust is therefore reasonably assured of the achievability of 

this financial target.

The Trust has prepared its financial plans and cash flow forecasts for the coming year on the assumption that funding will be received from 

the Department of Health and Social Care consistent with the revised funding arrangements in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Discussions to date indicate that this funding will be forthcoming. These funds are expected to be sufficient to enable the Trust to meet its 

obligations as they fall due and will be accessed through the nationally agreed process published by NHS Improvement and the Department 

of Health and Social Care. Interim support is part of the framework and can be accessed if it were required, but there is currently no such 

identified requirement.

Taking into account the financial forecast for University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust, the directors have a reasonable expectation 

that the trust will have access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for at least 12 months from the date of approval of 

the accounts. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.
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Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and 

equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.1 Consolidation

The NHS foundation trust is the corporate trustee to the NHS charitable fund Western Sussex Hospitals Charity and Related Charities, which 

operates as Love Your Hospital Charity (Registered charity No. 1049201).

Under the provisions of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, those Charitable Funds that fall under common control with 

NHS bodies are consolidated within the entities' returns, where those funds are determined to be material. In accordance with IAS 1 

Presentation of Financial Statements, restated prior period accounts are presented where the adoption of the new policy has a material 

impact.

The trust has reviewed its NHS charitable funds and concluded that they are not material and so are not consolidated within these accounts.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiary entities are those over which the trust is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 

the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The trust has no subsidiaries.

 

Associates

Associate entities are those over which the trust has the power to exercise a significant influence. The trust has no associates.

Joint arrangements

Joint ventures are arrangements in which the trust has joint control with one or more other parties, and where it has the rights to the net 

assets of the arrangement. The trust has no joint ventures.

Joint operations

Joint operations are arrangements in which the trust has joint control with one or more other parties, and where it has the rights to the 

assets, and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. The trust does not have joint operations. 
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1.2 Revenue

In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These 

are as follows:

• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the trust will not disclose information regarding performance obligations part 

of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less;

• The trust is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient 

offered in the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed 

to date;

• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in the Standard that requires the trust to 

reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application. 

The main source of revenue for the trust is contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare services. Revenue in 

respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised 

services to the customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance 

obligation. At the year end, the trust accrues income relating to performance obligations satisfied in that year. 

Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income 

is deferred.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Where income is derived from contracts with customers, it is accounted for under IFRS 15. The GAM expands the 

definition of a contract to include legislation and regulations which enables an entity to receive cash or another 

financial asset that is not classified as a tax by the Office of National Statistics (ONS). 

Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by 

transferring promised goods/services to the customer and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated 

to those performance obligations. At the year end, the Trust accrues income relating to performance obligations 

satisfied in that year. Where the Trust’s entitlement to consideration for those goods or services is unconditional a 

contract receivable will be recognised. Where entitlement to consideration is conditional on a further factor other than 

the passage of time, a contract asset will be recognised. Where consideration received or receivable relates to a 

performance obligation that is to be satisfied in a future period, the income is deferred and recognised as a contract 

liability. 

Revenue from NHS contracts

The accounting policies for revenue recognition and the application of IFRS 15 are consistently applied. The 

contracting arrangements in the NHS changed between 2019/20 and 2020/21 affecting the application of the 

accounting policy under IFRS 15. This difference in application is explained below.

2020/21

The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners for health care services. In 2020/21, the 

majority of the trust’s income from NHS commissioners was in the form of block contract arrangements. During the first 

half of the year the trust received block funding from its commissioners.  For the second half of the year, block 

contract arrangements were agreed at a [Integrated Care System/Sustainability and Transformation Partnership] level. 

The related performance obligation is the delivery of healthcare and related services during the period, with the trust’s 

entitlement to consideration not varying based on the levels of activity performed. 

The Trust has received additional income outside of the block and system envelopes to reimburse specific costs 

incurred and other income top-ups to support the delivery of services. Reimbursement and top-up income is 

accounted for as variable consideration.

Comparative period (2019/20)

In the comparative period (2019/20), the trust’s contracts with NHS commissioners included those where the trust’s 

entitlement to income varied according to services delivered. A performance obligation relating to delivery of a spell of 

health care was generally satisfied over time as healthcare was received and consumed simultaneously by the 

customer as the Trust performed it. The customer in such a contract was the commissioner, but the customer 

benefited as services were provided to their patient. Even where a contract could be broken down into separate 

performance obligations, healthcare generally aligned with paragraph 22(b) of the Standard entailing a delivery of a 

series of goods or services that were substantially the same and had a similar pattern of transfer. At the year end, the 

Trust accrued income relating to activity delivered in that year, where a patient care spell was incomplete. This accrual 

was disclosed as a contract receivable as entitlement to payment for work completed was usually only dependent on 

the passage of time.

In 2019/20, the Provider Sustainability Fund and Financial Recovery Fund enabled providers to earn income linked to 

the achievement of financial controls and performance targets. Income earned from the funds is accounted for as 

variable consideration.

For 2020/21 and 2019/20

Revenue from research contracts

Where research contracts fall under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised as and when performance obligations are 

satisfied. For some contracts, it is assessed that the revenue project constitutes one performance obligation over the 

course of the multi-year contract. In these cases it is assessed that the Trust’s interim performance does not create an 

asset with alternative use for the Trust, and the Trust has an enforceable right to payment for the performance 

completed to date. It is therefore considered that the performance obligation is satisfied over time, and the Trust 

recognises revenue each year over the course of the contract. Some research income alternatively falls within the 

provisions of IAS 20 for government grants.

NHS injury cost recovery scheme

The trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating 

injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid, for instance by an insurer. The 

trust recognises the income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and Pension's Compensation 

Recovery Unit, has completed the NHS2 form and confirmed there are no discrepancies with the treatment. The 

income is measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less a provision for 

unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts in line with IFRS 9 requirements of measuring expected credit 

losses over the lifetime of the asset. 

Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met and 

is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.
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Other forms of income

Grants and donations

Government grants are grants from government bodies other than income from commissioners or trusts for the 

provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income to match that expenditure. Where the grants is used to fund capital expenditure, it is credited to the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income once conditions attached to the grant have been met. Donations are 

treated in the same way as government grants.

Apprenticeship service income

The value of the benefit received when accessing funds from the Government's apprenticeship service is recognised as 

income at the point of receipt of the training service. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training 

provider from the trust's Digital Apprenticeship Service (DAS) account held by the Department for Education, the 

corresponding notional expense is also recognised at the point of recognition for the benefit.

1.3 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments such as social security costs and the apprenticeship levy are 

recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned 

but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that 

employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period.

Pension costs 

NHS Pension Scheme

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Both schemes are 

unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the 

direction of Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed in a way 

that would enable employers to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 

scheme is accounted for as though it is a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the trust is taken as equal to the 

employer's pension contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. The contributions are charged to 

operating expenses as and when they become due. 
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Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the retirement is 

due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the time 

the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

No employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme.

The increase in the liability arising from pensionable service earned during the year is recognised within operating 

expenses. The net interest cost during the year arising from the unwinding of the discount on the net scheme liabilities 

is recognised within finance costs. Remeasurements of the defined benefit plan are recognised in the income and 

expenditure reserve and reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of “other comprehensive 

income”.

1.4 Other expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that the goods and services have been received. 

They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses 

except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.

1.5 Corporation tax

The trust has determined that it is has no corporation tax liability as it does not operate any commercial activities that 

are not part of core health care delivery.

1.6 Value added tax

Most of the activities of the NHS foundation trust are outside the scope of value added tax (VAT). Irrecoverable VAT is 

charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of non-current assets. Where 

output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.7 Property, plant and equipment

Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the trust; 

• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably, and either:

• the item has cost of at least £5,000, or 

• collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where 

the assets are functionally interdependent, had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have 

simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control. 

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, 

the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their individual useful economic lives. 
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Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the carrying 

amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential deriving from the cost 

incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the item can be determined reliably. 

Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition 

above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does not generate additional future 

economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and maintenance is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income in the period in which it is incurred.

Measurement

Valuation

All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or 

constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 

intended by management. 

Assets are measured subsequently at valuation. Assets which are held for their service potential and are in use (ie 

operational assets used to deliver either front line services or back office functions) are measured at their current value in 

existing use. Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus with no plan to bring them back 

into use are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions on sale at the reporting date and where they do not meet 

the definitions of investment properties or assets held for sale.

Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are 

not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Current values in existing use 

are determined as follows:

• Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use;

• Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost (DRC), modern equivalent asset (MEA) basis;

For specialised assets, current value in existing use is interpreted as the present value of the asset's remaining service 

potential, which is assumed to be at least equal to the cost of replacing that service potential. Specialised assets are 

therefore valued at their depreciated replacement cost (DRC) on a modern equivalent asset (MEA) basis. An MEA basis 

assumes that the asset will be replaced with a modern asset of equivalent capacity and meeting the location requirements of 

the services being provided. Assets held at depreciated replacement cost have been valued on an alternative site basis 

where this would meet the location requirements of the service being provided.

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. 

Cost includes professional fees and, where capitalised in accordance with IAS 23, borrowing costs. Assets are revalued and 

depreciation commences when they are brought into use. 

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are 

valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful lives or low values or both, as this is not considered 

to be materially different from current value in existing use. 

Revaluation gains and losses

Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a revaluation 

decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating 

expenditure.

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset 

concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses. 

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item 

of ‘other comprehensive income’.
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Depreciation

Freehold land, assets under construction or development, and assets held for sale are not depreciated/amortised. Freehold 

land is considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated.

Otherwise, depreciation or amortisation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets, less any residual value on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life of 

an asset is the period over which the trust expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is 

specific to the trust and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are 

reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.

Impairments

At each financial year end, the trust checks whether there is any indication that its property, plant and equipment or intangible 

assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of such an impairment, in accordance with the GAM, 

impairments that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefits or of service potential in the asset are charged to 

operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of 

an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation 

reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment.

An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service potential is reversed when, and to the 

extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating expenditure to the 

extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any 

remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was 

made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation 

reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation gains.

De-recognition

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘held for sale’ once the criteria in IFRS 5 are met. The sale must be highly 

probable and the asset available for immediate sale in its present condition.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair value less 

costs to sell’.  Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except where the 'fair value less costs to 

sell' falls below the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions have been met.

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘held for sale’ and 

instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s useful life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when scrapping 

or demolition occurs.

Donated assets and grant funded assets

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The 

donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future economic 

benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the donation/grant is 

deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the condition has not yet been met. 

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of property, plant 

and equipment.   

In 2020/21 this includes assets donated to the trust by the Department of Health and Social Care as part of the response to 

the coronavirus pandemic. As defined in the GAM, the trust applies the principle of donated asset accounting to assets that 

the trust controls and is obtaining economic benefits from at the year end. 

They are valued, depreciated and impaired as described above for purchased assets. Gains and losses on revaluations, 

impairments and sales are treated in the same way as for purchased assets. Deferred income is recognised only where 

conditions attached to the donation preclude immediate recognition of the gain.
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Life Years Min Max

Buildings, excluding dwellings 1 89

Dwellings 17 83

Plant & Machinery 5 35

Information Technology 1 7

Furniture & Fittings 1 15

Government grant and other grant funded assets

Government grant funded assets are capitalised at current value in existing use, if they will be held for their service 

potential, or otherwise at fair value on receipt, with a matching credit to income. Deferred income is recognised only 

where conditions attached to the grant preclude immediate recognition of the gain.

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions

PFI transactions that meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM Treasury’s FReM, are 

accounted for as “on-Statement of Financial Position” by the trust.

The trust has not entered into any PFI transactions.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Useful economic lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. The range of useful 

economic lives is shown in the table below:

Finance-leased assets (including land) are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life or the lease term, unless the 

Trust expects to acquire the asset at the end of the lease term in which case the assets are depreciated in the same 

manner as owned assets above.

1.8 Intangible assets

Recognition 

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the 

rest of Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only when it is 

probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the trust and where the cost of 

the asset can be measured reliably; and where the cost is at least £5,000.

Software

Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the 

relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example 

application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.

Internally generated intangible assets

Expenditure on research is not capitalised: it is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Internally-generated assets e.g. goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are 

recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;

• The trust intends to complete the intangible asset and use it;

• The trust has the ability to sell or use the intangible asset;

• How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
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Life Years Min Max

Internally Generated Information Technology 5 30

Purchased Software Licenses 1 7

Purchased other intangible asset 1 7

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus or minus directly attributable transaction costs except 

where the asset or liability is not measured at fair value through income and expenditure. Fair value is taken as the transaction price, 

or otherwise determined by reference to quoted market prices or valuation techniques.

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are recognised and 

measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described below.

Financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through income and expenditure or fair value 

through other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value through income and expenditure. 

Note 1.11 Financial assets and financial liabilities

Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities arise where the Trust is party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument, and as a 

result has a legal right to receive or a legal obligation to pay cash or another financial instrument. The GAM expands the definition of 

a contract to include legislation and regulations which give rise to arrangements that in all other respects would be a financial 

instrument and do not give rise to transactions classified as a tax by ONS.

This includes the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the 

Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements and are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs, ie, 

when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.

Classification and measurement

Useful lives of intangible assets

Useful economic lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. The range of useful economic lives is 

shown in the table below:

• The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and 

• The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 

Measurement

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. The amount initially recognised for internally-generated 

intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria for recognition are initially met. Where no 

internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active market, or, where 

no active market exists, at the lower of amortised replacement cost (modern equivalent assets basis) and value in use where the 

asset is income generating. Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in 

development costs and technological advances. Revaluations and impairments are treated in the same manner as for property, plant 

and equipment.

1.9 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, using the First In, First Out (FIFO) cost formula.

In 2020/21, the Trust received inventories including personal protective equipment from the Department of Health and Social Care at 

nil cost. In line with the GAM and applying the principles of the IFRS Conceptual Framework, the Trust has accounted for the receipt 

of these inventories at a deemed cost, reflecting the best available approximation of an imputed market value for the transaction 

based on the cost of acquisition by the Department.

1.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash 

equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that 

form an integral part of the Trust’s cash management. Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at current values.

Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service 

delivery benefits.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost are those held with the objective of collecting contractual cash 

flows and where cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes cash equivalents, contract and 

other receivables, trade and other payables, rights and obligations under lease arrangements and loans receivable and 

payable. 

After initial recognition, these financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method less any impairment (for financial assets). The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the 

gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Interest revenue or expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 

financial asset or amortised cost of a financial liability and recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and a 

financing income or expense.  In the case of loans held from the Department of Health and Social Care, the effective 

interest rate is the nominal rate of interest charged on the loan. 

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income where business model objectives are 

met by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments 

of principal and interest. Movements in the fair value of financial assets in this category are recognised as gains or 

losses in other comprehensive income except for impairment losses. On derecognition, cumulative gains and losses 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified from equity to income and expenditure, except 

where the Trust elected to measure an equity instrument in this category on initial recognition. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through income and expenditure

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised 

cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. This category also includes financial assets and liabilities 

acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term (held for trading) and derivatives. Derivatives which are 

embedded in other contracts, but which are separable from the host contract are measured within this category. 

Movements in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities in this category are recognised as gains or losses in the 

Statement of Comprehensive income. 

Impairment of financial assets

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost including lease receivables, contract receivables and contract 

assets or assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the Trust recognises an allowance for 

expected credit losses. 

The Trust adopts the simplified approach to impairment for contract and other receivables, contract assets and lease 

receivables, measuring expected losses as at an amount equal to lifetime expected losses. For other financial assets, 

the loss allowance is initially measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (stage 1) and 

subsequently at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk assessed for the financial asset 

significantly increases (stage 2).

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the 

reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of 

estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

Expected losses are charged to operating expenditure within the Statement of Comprehensive Income and reduce the 

net carrying value of the financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position.

Derecognition

Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or 

the Trust has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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The trust as a lessor

Finance leases

Operating leases

HM Treasury's discount rates effective for 31 March 2021:

Nominal 

rate

Short-term Up to 5 years 0.51%

Medium-term

After 5 years up to 

10 years 0.55%

Long-term

Exceeding 10 

years 1.99%

Inflation 

rate

Year 1 1.90%

Year 2 2.00%

Into perpetuity 2.00%

HM Treasury provides discount rates for general provisions on a nominal rate basis. Expected future cash flows are therefore adjusted for the impact of inflation 

Early retirement provisions and injury benefit provisions both use the HM Treasury's pension discount rate of minus 0.95% in real terms.

Clinical negligence costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the trust pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which, in return, settles all clinical 

negligence claims. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total 

value of clinical negligence provisions carried by NHS Resolution on behalf of the trust is disclosed at note 33.2 but is not recognised in the Trust’s accounts. 

Non-clinical risk pooling

The NHS foundation trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under 

which the trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and in return receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership 

contributions, and any “excesses” payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.12 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as 

operating leases.

The trust as a lessee

Finance leases

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the trust, the asset is recorded as property, plant and equipment and a 

corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease 

payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. The implicit interest rate is that which produces a constant periodic rate of interest on the 

outstanding liability.

The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asset is accounted for an item of property plant and equipment. 

The annual rental charge is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a constant rate of finance over the life of the lease. 

The annual finance cost is charged to finance costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Operating leases

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Operating lease incentives are recognised initially as a 

liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Leases of land and buildings

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the classification for each is assessed separately.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Trust's net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is 

allocated to accounting periods to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the trust's net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an 

operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the NHS foundation trust has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain timing or amount; for which it is probable 

that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of 

Financial Position is the best estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period. Where the effect of the time value of 

money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the discount rates published and mandated by HM Treasury.
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1.14 Contingencies

A contingent liability is a:

• Possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-

occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the trust; or

• Present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the 

obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably.

A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the trust. A 

contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed at their present 

value.

1.15 Public Dividend Capital

Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance, which represents the Department of Health’s 

investment in the trust. HM Treasury has determined that, being issued under statutory authority rather than under 

contract, PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.

At any time, the Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from, the trust. PDC is 

recorded at the value received.

An annual charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS foundation trust, is payable to the Department of 

Health as public dividend capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by the Secretary of State with the 

consent of HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the NHS foundation trust during the 

financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for: 

donated and grant funded assets, average daily cash balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS) and 

National Loans Fund (NLF) deposits, excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short-term working 

capital facility, approved expenditure on COVID-19 capital assets, assets under construction for nationally directed 

schemes, any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable.

The average relevant net assets is calculated as a simple average of opening and closing relevant net assets.

In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health and Social Care (as the issuer of PDC), 

the dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-audit” version of 

the annual accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result 

the audit of the annual accounts. The PDC dividend calculation is based upon the trust’s group accounts (i.e. including 

subsidiaries), but excluding consolidated charitable funds.

1.16 Foreign currencies

The functional and presentational currencies of the trust are pounds sterling and figures are presented in thousands of 

pounds unless expressly stated otherwise. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling 

at the spot exchange rate on the date of the transaction. The trust has not entered into any material foreign exchange 

transactions and has no assets or liabilities held in foreign currencies.

1.17 Third party assets

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since 

the NHS foundation trust has no beneficial interest in them. However, they are disclosed in a separate note to the 

accounts.
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IFRS 16 Leases will replace IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease  and other interpretations 

and is applicable in the public sector for periods beginning 1 April 2022.  The standard provides a single accounting model for lessees, 

recognising a right of use asset and obligation in the statement of financial position for most leases: some leases are exempt through 

application of practical expedients explained below. For those recognised in the statement of financial position the standard also 

requires the remeasurement of lease liabilities in specific circumstances after the commencement of the lease term. For lessors, the 

distinction between operating and finance leases will remain and the accounting will be largely unchanged.

IFRS 16 changes the definition of a lease compared to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The trust will apply this definition to new leases only and 

will grandfather its assessments made under the old standards of whether existing contracts contain a lease.

On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 April 2022, the trust will apply the standard retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying 

the standard recognised in the income and expenditure reserve at that date. For existing operating leases with a remaining lease term 

of more than 12 months and an underlying asset value of at least £5,000, a lease liability will be recognised equal to the value of 

remaining lease payments discounted on transition at the trust’s incremental borrowing rate. The trust's incremental borrowing rate will 

be defined by HM Treasury. Currently this rate is 0.91% but this may change between now and adoption of the standard. The related 

right of use asset will be measured equal to the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments. For existing 

peppercorn leases not classified as finance leases, a right of use asset will be measured at current value in existing use or fair value. 

The difference between the asset value and the calculated lease liability will be recognised in the income and expenditure reserve on 

transition. No adjustments will be made on 1 April 2022 for existing finance leases.

For leases commencing in 2022/23, the trust will not recognise a right of use asset or lease liability for short term leases (less than or 

equal to 12 months) or for leases of low value assets (less than £5,000).  Right of use assets will be subsequently measured on a 

basis consistent with owned assets and depreciated over the length of the lease term. 

1.18 Losses and special payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or 

passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures 

compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are 

handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses 

which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS foundation trusts not been bearing their own risks (with 

insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which reports on an 

accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.

The DHSC GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2020-21. These Standards are still 

subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption.

IFRS 16 Leases - The Standard is effective 1 April 2021 as adapted and interpreted by the FReM. HM Treasury and the Financial 

Reporting Advisory Board (FRAB) have confirmed deferral of IFRS 16 implementation for a further year until 1 April 2022 for NHS and 

DHSC group bodies.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted 

by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted. IFRS 17 on insurance contracts (replacing IFRS 4) is expected to apply to the 

public sector from 2022.

https://www.england.nhs.uk/financial-accounting-and-reporting/financial-reporting/ [8th August 2019]

The implementation date for IFRS 16 in the NHS was revised to 1 April 2022 in November 2020. Due to the need to reassess lease 

calculations, together with uncertainty on expected leasing activity in from April 2022 and beyond, a quantification of the expected 

impact of applying the standard in 2022/23 is currently impracticable. However, the trust does expect this standard to have a material 

impact on non-current assets, liabilities and depreciation. 

1.19 Early adoption of standards, amendments and interpretations

No new accounting standards or revisions to existing standards have been early adopted in 2020/21.

1.20 Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective or adopted

IFRS 16 Leases
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1.21 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

1.21.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

1.21.2 Sources of estimation uncertainty 

The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant 

risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year: 

Depreciation 

The reported amounts for depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of non-current intangible assets 

can be materially affected by the judgements exercised in determining their estimated economic lives. Economic lives are 

determined in a number of different ways such as valuations (external professional opinion) and physical asset 

verification exercises. 

The estimated economic lives of each class of asset are disclosed in notes 1.7, and the carrying values of property, plant 

and equipment and intangible assets in notes 15.1 to 16.2. 

Land and Buildings Valuations 

All land and buildings are restated at current value by way of annual professional valuations carried out by an 

independent external valuer. 

Provision for impairment of receivables 

Provisions are based on a combination of the age of the debt and disputes with debtors. The trust follows the guidance 

issued in the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2020-21 in relation to the recommended rate for Injury 

Cost Recovery receivables.

In the application of Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to 

make various judgements, estimates and assumptions. These are regularly reviewed. 

The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the 

process of applying Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust’s accounting policies and that have the most 

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 

Valuation of Buildings 

Department of Health guidance specifies that the trust’s land and buildings should be valued on the basis of depreciated 

replacement cost, applying the Modern Equivalent Asset (MEA) concept. The MEA is defined as “the cost of a modern 

replacement asset that has the same productive capacity as the property being valued.” Therefore the MEA is not a 

valuation of the existing land and buildings that the trust holds, but a theoretical valuation for accounting purposes of 

what the trust could need to spend in order to replace the current assets. In determining the MEA, the trust has to make 

assumptions that are practically achievable; however the trust is not required to have any plans to make such changes.  

The trust is satisfied that the assumptions underpinning the MEA valuation are practically achievable, would not change 

the services provided by the trust, and would not impact on service delivery or the level and volume of service provided. 

The trust does not intend to implement any of the theoretical assumptions that underpin the MEA valuation. 

For the purpose of the MEA valuation, the trust has defined all of the St Richards Hospital in Chichester and Worthing 

Hospital as buildings that provide specialist health care services. The MEA valuation in the accounts assumes that the 

Chichester and Worthing based hospitals could theoretically be provided from a location on the outskirts of Chichester 

and Worthing. 

The MEA valuations used by the trust have been provided to the trust by the external District Valuers. The trust has used 

component lives based upon contractual information provided by District Valuers to depreciate buildings and dwellings on 

a component basis. 

Assets Under Construction 

The trust has taken the judgement that capitalised expenditure will be classified as Assets Under Construction until the 

asset is complete and ready to be operational, at which point the assets will be reclassified into the relevant asset 

category. Changes in the valuation basis between cost and fair value, when these reclassifications occur for any 

buildings, may result in significant changes in the carrying value of the assets. 

Provision for Pensions 

The trust has estimated the provision for pensions relating to former staff using estimates provided by the NHS Pensions 

provided at the time of the member's early retirement. These are updated annually using national life expectancy tables 

and if it becomes apparent that the provision is not sufficient to meet the liability. 
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Note 2 Operating Segments

Consistent with previous years , the trust takes the view that there is a single operating segment - the provision of 

healthcare.
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3 Note 3 Operating income from patient care activities 

All income from patient care activities relates to contract income recognised in line with accounting policy 1.2

3
Note 3.1 Income from patient care activities (by nature)

2020/21

2019/20 

(Restated)

£000 £000 

Acute services  

Block contract / system envelope income* 397,075 366,039 

High cost drugs income from commissioners (excluding pass-through costs) 28,724 30,323 

Other NHS clinical income 12,674 11,683 

Mental health services

Block contract / system envelope income* 1,580 1,537 

Clinical partnerships providing mandatory services (including S75 agreements) - - 

Clinical income for the secondary commissioning of mandatory services - - 

Other clinical income from mandatory services - - 

Community services

Block contract / system envelope income* 17,093 17,398 

Income from other sources (e.g. local authorities) 4,606 4,970 

All services

Private patient income 2,093 5,031 

Additional pension contribution central funding** 13,536 12,651 

Other clinical income 619 1,957 

Total income from activities 478,000 451,589 

3 Note 3.2 Income from patient care activities (by source)

2020/21 2019/20

Income from patient care activities received from: £000 £000 

NHS England 74,676 73,790 

Clinical commissioning groups 395,116 364,238 

Department of Health and Social Care - 142 

Other NHS providers 890 1,027 

NHS other - - 

Local authorities 4,606 4,971 

Non-NHS: private patients 2,093 5,031 

Non-NHS: overseas patients (chargeable to patient) 29 257 

Injury cost recovery scheme 553 1,215 

Non NHS: other 37 918 

Total income from activities 478,000 451,589 

Of which:

Related to continuing operations 478,000 451,589 

Related to discontinued operations - - 

**The employer contribution rate for NHS pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% (excluding administration charge) 

from 1 April 2019. Since 2019/20, NHS providers have continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with the 

additional amount being paid over by NHS England on providers' behalf. The full cost and related funding have been 

recognised in these accounts.

*As part of the coronavirus pandemic response, transaction flows were simplified in the NHS and providers and their 

commissioners moved onto block contract payments at the start of 2020/21. In the second half of the year, a revised 

financial framework built on these arrangements but with a greater focus on system partnership and providers derived 

most of their income from these system envelopes. Comparatives in this note are presented to be comparable with the 

current year activity. This does not reflect the contracting and payment mechanisms in place during the prior year.
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Note 3.3 Overseas visitors (relating to patients charged directly by the provider)

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Income recognised this year 29 257 

Cash payments received in-year 66 223 

Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables 197 59 

Amounts written off in-year 334 - 

Note 4 Other operating income

Contract 

income

Non-contract 

income Total

Contract 

income

Non-contract 

income Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Research and development 1,134 - 1,134 1,216 - 1,216 

Education and training 14,076 - 14,076 13,837 - 13,837 
Non-patient care services to other bodies 12,894 12,894 15,409 15,409 

Provider sustainability fund (2019/20 only) - 9,111 9,111 

Financial recovery fund (2019/20 only) - - - 

Marginal rate emergency tariff funding (2019/20 only) - 3,262 3,262 

Reimbursement and top up funding 20,132 20,132 - 
Income in respect of employee benefits accounted on a gross basis 120 120 - - 

Receipt of capital grants and donations 564 564 325 325 

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 7,852 7,852 - - 

Support from the Department of Health and Social Care for mergers - - - - 

Rental revenue from finance leases - - - - 

Rental revenue from operating leases 532 532 668 668 

Amortisation of PFI deferred income / credits - - - - 

Other income* 2,283 - 2,283 4,219 - 4,219 

Total other operating income 50,639 8,948 59,587 47,054 993 48,047 

Of which:

Related to continuing operations 59,587 48,047 

Related to discontinued operations - - 

2020/21 2019/20

*Other operating income includes revenue streams such as; Car Parking income, staff accomodation rental income, non NHS Pharmacy sales & Clinical Excellence Awards income.
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Note 5.1 Additional information on contract revenue (IFRS 15) recognised in the period

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Revenue recognised in the reporting period that was included in within contract 

liabilities at the previous period end 97 1,666 

Revenue recognised from performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in 

previous periods (325) - 

Note 5.3 Income from activities arising from commissioner requested services

Note 5.2 Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations

There were no transaction price allocations to remaining performing obligations in 2020/21 or 2019/20.

Under the terms of its provider licence, the trust is required to analyse the level of income from activities that has arisen 

from commissioner requested and non-commissioner requested services. Commissioner requested services are defined 

in the provider licence and are services that commissioners believe would need to be protected in the event of provider 

failure. The trust has no commissioner requested services. In 2019/20 accounts a figure was disclosed as commissioner 

requested services in error. The trust had no commissioner requested services in 2019/20.
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Note 6.1 Operating expenses 

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Purchase of healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies 3,066 3,664 

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS and non-DHSC bodies ** 3,095 - 

Purchase of social care - - 

Staff and executive directors costs 352,346 321,602 

Remuneration of non-executive directors 167 158 

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs costs) 44,653 38,919 

Supplies and services - general 4,026 3,736 

Drug costs (drugs inventory consumed and purchase of non-inventory drugs) 45,958 45,245 

Inventories written down 94 - 

Consultancy costs 1,235 467 

Establishment 3,149 3,183 

Premises 18,144 13,600 

Transport (including patient travel) 1,367 1,548 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 15,864 15,061 

Amortisation on intangible assets 649 167 

Net impairments 9,116 7,218 

Movement in credit loss allowance: contract receivables / contract assets 214 59 

Movement in credit loss allowance: all other receivables and investments 614 - 

Increase/(decrease) in other provisions 292 - 

Change in provisions discount rate(s) 281 (54)

Audit fees payable to the external auditor

audit services- statutory audit 193 72 

other auditor remuneration (external auditor only) - - 

Internal audit costs* 82 - 

Clinical negligence 15,890 13,965 

Legal fees 1,578 421 

Insurance 433 712 

Research and development 2,280 1,989 

Education and training 7,408 5,537 

Rentals under operating leases 1,923 1,857 

Early retirements 11 - 

Car parking & security 735 568 

Losses, ex gratia & special payments 71 131 

Other services 2,526 708 

Other 1,208 3,034 

Total 538,668 483,567 

Of which:

Related to continuing operations 538,668 483,567 

Related to discontinued operations - - 

* In 2019/20 Internal audit costs of £86k were disclosed within Other.

** In 2019/20 Commercial sector purchase of healthcare costs of £2,933k were disclosed within Other
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Note 6.2 Other auditor remuneration 

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Other auditor remuneration paid to the external auditor:

1. Audit of accounts of any associate of the trust - - 

2. Audit-related assurance services - - 

3. Taxation compliance services - - 

4. All taxation advisory services not falling within item 3 above - - 

5. Internal audit services - - 

6. All assurance services not falling within items 1 to 5 - - 

7. Corporate finance transaction services not falling within items 1 to 6 above - - 

8. Other non-audit services not falling within items 2 to 7 above - - 

Total - - 

Note 6.3 Limitation on auditor's liability 

Note 7 Impairment of assets 

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Net impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit resulting from:

Loss or damage from normal operations - - 

Over specification of assets - - 

Abandonment of assets in course of construction - - 

Unforeseen obsolescence - - 

Loss as a result of catastrophe - - 

Changes in market price 10,454 7,218 

Other (1,338) - 

Total net impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit 9,116 7,218 

Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve 2,388 2,843 

Total net impairments 11,504 10,061 

The limitation on auditor's liability for external audit work is £2 million (2019/20: £2 million).
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Note 8 Employee benefits 

2020/21 2019/20

Total Total

£000 £000 

Salaries and wages 275,164 251,087 

Social security costs 28,848 23,600 

Apprenticeship levy 1,343 1,258 

Employer's contributions to NHS pensions* 44,491 40,621 

Pension cost - other - - 

Other post employment benefits - - 

Other employment benefits - - 

Termination benefits - - 

Temporary staff (including agency) 11,028 11,626 

Total gross staff costs 360,874 328,192 

Recoveries in respect of seconded staff - - 

Total staff costs 360,874 328,192 

Of which

Costs capitalised as part of assets 780 747 

Note 8.1 Retirements due to ill-health 

These estimated costs are calculated on an average basis and will be borne by the NHS Pension Scheme.

*The employer contribution rate for NHS pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% (excluding administration charge) from 

1 April 2019. Since 2019/20, NHS providers have continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with the 

additional amount being paid over by NHS England on providers' behalf. The full cost and related funding have been 

recognised in these accounts.

During 2020/21 there were 3 early retirements from the trust agreed on the grounds of ill-health (none in the year ended 

31 March 2020).  The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements is £125k (0k in 2019/20).  
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Note 9 Pension costs

The trust is required to auto-enrol employees who are not eligible to join the NHS Pension scheme into the NEST 

workplace pension scheme. Employees can then choose to opt out of the scheme. National Employment Savings Trust 

(NEST) is a low cost, defined contribution, occupational pension scheme backed by the Government. It was set up by the 

Government to give employers an auto enrolement scheme that makes the process as simple as possible.

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking 

into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and 

employers. 

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results 

of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 at 20.6%, and the Scheme Regulations were 

amended accordingly.

The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set 

following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced 

a pause to that part of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process. 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.  Details of the benefits 

payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  Both 

are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the 

direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable 

NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted 

for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal 

to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.  

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that 

would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between 

formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

a) Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s 

Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting 

period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as 

providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 

2021, is based on valuation data as at 31 March 2020, updated to 31 March 2021 with summary global member and 

accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM 

interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part 

of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are 

published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
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Note 10 Operating leases 

Note 10.1 Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust as a lessor

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Operating lease revenue

Minimum lease receipts 532 668 

Contingent rent - - 

Other - - 

Total 532 668 

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Future minimum lease receipts due: 

- not later than one year; 605 965 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 2,045 3,415 

- later than five years. 448 928 

Total 3,098 5,308 

Note 10.2 Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust as a lessee

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Operating lease expense

Minimum lease payments 2,283 1,857 

Contingent rents - - 

Less sublease payments received* (360) - 

Total 1,923 1,857 

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Future minimum lease payments due: 

- not later than one year; 2,008 2,284 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 3,205 4,937 

- later than five years. 980 1,264 

Total 6,193 8,485 

Future minimum sublease payments to be received* (1,260) - 

* In 2019/20 the sublease arrangement with Coastal West Sussex CCG (now merged into NHS West Sussex CCG) was 

presented within operating lease revenue [19/20 values £61k minimum lease payment, £360k not later than one year, 

one to five years £1,260k]

These include the lease of:

- Restaurant space to The Compass Group;

- Hyperbaric unit to Qinetiq; and

- Nursery/childcare facility to The Co-operative Nursery.

The Trust has the following significant leasing arrangements including building leases, vehicle leases, and implicit 

equipment leases within Managed Equipment Services (MES) contracts.

In addition, the trust entered into a sublease arrangement with Coastal West Sussex CCG for office buildings in 2019/20.

This note discloses income generated in operating lease agreements where Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust is the lessor.

This note discloses costs and commitments incurred in operating lease arrangements where Western Sussex Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust is the lessee.
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Note 11 Finance income 

Finance income represents interest received on assets and investments in the period.

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Interest on bank accounts 6 174 

Total finance income 6 174 

Note 12.1 Finance expenditure 

Finance expenditure represents interest and other charges involved in the borrowing of money or asset financing.

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Interest expense:

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 458 495 

Finance leases 158 165 

Interest on late payment of commercial debt - - 

Total interest expense 616 660 

Unwinding of discount on provisions (12) (14)

Other finance costs - - 

Total finance costs 604 646 

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Total liability accruing in year under this legislation as a result of late payments 428 627 

Amounts included within interest payable arising from claims made under this 

legislation - - 

Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation - - 

Note 13 Other gains / (losses) 

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Gains on disposal of assets - 11 

Losses on disposal of assets (3) - 

Total gains / (losses) on disposal of assets (3) 11 

Gains / (losses) on foreign exchange - - 

Fair value gains / (losses) on investment properties - - 

Fair value gains / (losses) on financial assets / investments - - 

Fair value gains / (losses) on financial liabilities - - 

Recycling gains / (losses) on disposal of financial assets mandated as fair value 

through OCI - - 

Other gains / (losses) - - 

Total other gains / (losses) (3) 11 

Note 12.2 The late payment of commercial debts (interest) Act 1998 / Public Contract Regulations 2015 

Page 32 of 57



Note 14.1 Discontinued operations 

There were no discontinued operations in 2020/21

Note 14.2 Corporation Tax 

The trust did not pay any Corporation Tax in 2020/21
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Note 15.1 Intangible assets - 2020/21

Software  

licences

Licences & 

trademarks

Internally 

generated 

information 

technology

Intangible 

assets under 

construction

Other 

(purchased) Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2020 - brought forward 10,854 - - 7,119 1,112 19,085 

Transfers by absorption - - - - - - 

Additions 1,531 - 2,306 - - 3,837 

Impairments - - - - - - 

Reversals of impairments - - - - - - 

Revaluations - - - - - - 

Reclassifications 116 - 6,829 (7,119) - (174)

Transfers to / from assets held for sale - - - - - - 

Disposals / derecognition - - - - - - 

Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2021 12,501 - 9,135 - 1,112 22,748 

Amortisation at 1 April 2020 - brought forward 5,609 - - - - 5,609 

Transfers by absorption - - - - - - 

Provided during the year 649 - - - - 649 

Impairments - - - - - - 

Reversals of impairments - - - - - - 

Revaluations - - - - - - 

Reclassifications - - - - - - 

Transfers to / from assets held for sale - - - - - - 

Disposals / derecognition - - - - - - 

Amortisation at 31 March 2021 6,258 - - - - 6,258 

Net book value at 31 March 2021 6,243 - 9,135 - 1,112 16,490 

Net book value at 1 April 2020 5,245 - - 7,119 1,112 13,476 

The gross carrying amounts of fully amortised intangible assets as at 31st March 2021 is £5,371k.
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Note 15.2 Intangible assets - 2019/20

Software  

licences

Licences & 

trademarks

Internally 

generated 

information 

technology

Intangible 

assets under 

construction

Other 

(purchased) Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2019 - as previously 

stated 6,769 - - 6,342 1,112 14,223 

Transfers by absorption - - - - - - 

Additions 2,917 - - 777 - 3,694 

Impairments - - - - - - 

Reversals of impairments - - - - - - 

Revaluations - - - - - - 

Reclassifications 1,168 - - - - 1,168 

Transfers to / from assets held for sale - - - - - - 

Disposals / derecognition - - - - - - 

Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2020 10,854 - - 7,119 1,112 19,085 

Amortisation at 1 April 2019 - as previously stated 5,442 - - - - 5,442 

Transfers by absorption - - - - - - 

Provided during the year 167 - - - - 167 

Impairments - - - - - - 

Reversals of impairments - - - - - - 

Revaluations - - - - - - 

Reclassifications - - - - - - 

Transfers to / from assets held for sale - - - - - - 

Disposals / derecognition - - - - - - 

Amortisation at 31 March 2020 5,609 - - - - 5,609 

Net book value at 31 March 2020 5,245 - - 7,119 1,112 13,476 

Net book value at 1 April 2019 1,327 - - 6,342 1,112 8,781 
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Note 16.1 Property, plant and equipment - 2020/21

Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets 

under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2020 - brought forward 21,464 206,070 7,720 678 81,177 282 27,049 2,519 346,959 

Transfers by absorption - - - - - - - - - 

Additions - 495 - 16,929 9,138 - 4,453 - 31,015 

Impairments - (19,833) (139) - - - - - (19,972)

Reversals of impairments - 2,514 - - - - - - 2,514 

Revaluations - 5,286 310 - - - - - 5,596 

Reclassifications - 12,657 - (13,585) 243 - 859 - 174 

Transfers to / from assets held for sale - - - - - - - - - 

Disposals / derecognition - - - - (22) - - - (22)

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2021 21,464 207,189 7,891 4,022 90,536 282 32,361 2,519 366,264 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2020 - brought 

forward - - - - 53,017 271 18,121 2,189 73,598 

Transfers by absorption - - - - - - - - - 

Provided during the year - 9,295 112 - 4,411 3 1,996 47 15,864 

Impairments - (5,179) (25) - - - - - (5,204)

Reversals of impairments - (750) - - - - - - (750)

Revaluations - (3,366) (87) - - - - - (3,453)

Reclassifications - - - - - - - - - 

Transfers to / from assets held for sale - - - - - - - - - 

Disposals / derecognition - - - - - - - - - 

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2021 - - - - 57,428 274 20,117 2,236 80,055 

Net book value at 31 March 2021 21,464 207,189 7,891 4,022 33,108 8 12,244 283 286,209 

Net book value at 1 April 2020 21,464 206,070 7,720 678 28,160 11 8,928 330 273,361 

The gross carrying amounts of fully depreciated tangible assets as at 31st March 2021 is £51,277k
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Note 16.2 Property, plant and equipment - 2019/20

Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets 

under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2019 - as previously 

stated 21,464 212,314 7,966 4,303 74,385 282 24,556 2,519 347,789 

Transfers by absorption - - - - - - - - - 

Additions 129 5,820 - 7,757 2,777 - 1,346 - 17,829 

Impairments (129) (18,140) (246) - - - - - (18,515)

Reversals of impairments - 330 - - - - - - 330 
Revaluations - 694 - - - - - - 694 

Reclassifications - 5,052 - (11,382) 4,015 - 1,147 - (1,168)

Transfers to / from assets held for sale - - - - - - - - - 

Disposals / derecognition - - - - - - - - - 

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2020 21,464 206,070 7,720 678 81,177 282 27,049 2,519 346,959 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2019 - as 

previously stated - - - - 49,320 268 16,385 2,142 68,115 

Transfers by absorption - - - - - - - - - 

Provided during the year - 9,470 108 - 3,697 3 1,736 47 15,061 

Impairments - (7,324) (108) - - - - - (7,432)

Reversals of impairments - (692) - - - - - - (692)
Revaluations - (1,454) - - - - - - (1,454)
Reclassifications - - - - - - - - - 

Transfers to / from assets held for sale - - - - - - - - - 

Disposals / derecognition - - - - - - - - - 
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2020 - - - - 53,017 271 18,121 2,189 73,598 

Net book value at 31 March 2020 21,464 206,070 7,720 678 28,160 11 8,928 330 273,361 

Net book value at 1 April 2019 21,464 212,314 7,966 4,303 25,065 14 8,171 377 279,674 
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Note 16.3 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2020/21

Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value at 31 March 2021

Owned - purchased 20,993 196,803 5,406 4,022 30,018 8 12,137 129 269,516 

Finance leased - - 2,485 - 264 - - - 2,749 

On-SoFP PFI contracts and other service concession 

arrangements - - - - - - - - - 

Off-SoFP PFI residual interests - - - - - - - - - 

Owned - donated/granted 471 10,386 - - 2,826 - 107 154 13,944 

NBV total at 31 March 2021 21,464 207,189 7,891 4,022 33,108 8 12,244 283 286,209 

Note 16.4 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2019/20

Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value at 31 March 2020

Owned - purchased 21,464 196,600 7,612 678 24,463 11 8,928 330 260,086 

Finance leased - 2,073 - - 140 - - - 2,213 

On-SoFP PFI contracts and other service concession 

arrangements - - - - - - - - - 

Off-SoFP PFI residual interests - - - - - - - - - 

Owned - donated/granted* - 7,397 108 - 3,557 - - - 11,062 

NBV total at 31 March 2020 21,464 206,070 7,720 678 28,160 11 8,928 330 273,361 

*Values in the note 16.4 should be £256,949k for Owned – purchased, and £14,199k for Owned – donated/granted, whereas in prior year it was stated as shown in note 16.4 above.

Page 38 of 57



Note 17 Donations of property, plant and equipment

There is no difference between the cash provided and the fair value of the assets acquired.

Note 18 Revaluations of property, plant and equipment

Note 19.1 Investment Property

The trust had no investments in 2020/21.

Note 19.2 Investment property income and expenses

The trust had no investment property income and expense in 2020/21.

The date of the valuation was 31st March 2021 and was carried out by the District Valuer. It was a desktop exercise 

using the latest BCIS indices and local market conditions to value Buildings, Dwellings and Land on an alternative site 

basis, with site optimisation applied.
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Note 20 Investments in associates and joint ventures

Note 21 Other investments / financial assets (non-current)

The trust has no investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates or unconsolidated entities.

The trust has no other investments in 2020/21.
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Note 22 Disclosure of interests in other entities

Note 23 Inventories

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Drugs 3,150 3,481 

Work In progress - - 

Consumables 4,896 4,688 

Energy 56 19 

Other 92 91 

Total inventories 8,194 8,279 

of which:

Held at fair value less costs to sell - - 

Inventories recognised in expenses for the year were £37,493k (2019/20: £60,991k).  Write-down of inventories 

recognised as expenses for the year were £94k (2019/20: £0k).

In response to the COVID 19 pandemic, the Department of Health and Social Care centrally procured personal 

protective equipment and passed these to NHS providers free of charge. During 2020/21 the trust received £7,780k of 

items purchased by DHSC.

The trust has no interests in unconsolidated subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates or unconsolidated entities.

These inventories were recognised as additions to inventory at deemed cost with the corresponding benefit 

recognised in income. The utilisation of these items is included in the expenses disclosed above.
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Note 24.1 Receivables

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Current

Contract receivables 20,291 32,477 

Contract assets - - 

Capital receivables - - 

Allowance for impaired contract receivables / assets (886) (1,006)

Allowance for other impaired receivables (821) (207)

Deposits and advances - - 

Prepayments (non-PFI) 2,769 1,937 

PFI prepayments - capital contributions - - 

PFI lifecycle prepayments - - 

Interest receivable - - 

Finance lease receivables - - 

PDC dividend receivable 903 15 

VAT receivable 983 161 

Corporation and other taxes receivable - - 

Other receivables - - 

Total current receivables 23,239 33,377 

Non-current

Contract receivables - - 

Contract assets - - 

Capital receivables - - 

Allowance for impaired contract receivables / assets - - 

Allowance for other impaired receivables - - 

Deposits and advances - - 

Prepayments (non-PFI) - - 

PFI prepayments - capital contributions - - 

PFI lifecycle prepayments - - 

Interest receivable - - 

Finance lease receivables - - 

VAT receivable - - 

Corporation and other taxes receivable - - 

Other receivables 1,276 1,087 

Total non-current receivables 1,276 1,087 

Of which receivable from NHS and DHSC group bodies: 

Current 13,857 24,667 

Non-current 1,276 1,087 
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# Note 24.2 Allowances for credit losses

Contract 

receivables 

and contract 

assets

All other 

receivables

Contract 

receivables 

and contract 

assets

All other 

receivables

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Allowances as at 1 April - brought forward 1,006 207 947 207 

Transfers by absorption - - - - 

New allowances arising 214 614 59 - 

Changes in existing allowances - - - - 

Reversals of allowances - - - - 

Utilisation of allowances (write offs) (334) - - - 

Changes arising following modification of contractual 

cash flows - - - - 

Foreign exchange and other changes - - - - 

Allowances as at 31 Mar 2021 886 821 1,006 207 

# Note 24.3 Exposure to credit risk

Because the majority of the trust's revenue comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the trust has low 

exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at 31st March 2021 are in receivables from customers, as 

disclosed in the trade and other receivables note to the accounts.

2019/202020/21
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# Note 25 Other assets

The trust has no other assets.

# Note 26.1 Non-current assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups

# Note 26.2 Liabilities in disposal groups

The trust has no liabilities in disposal groups.

The Board has not declared any assets being surplus to requirements in 2020/21.
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# Note 27.1 Cash and cash equivalents movements

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

At 1 April 19,814 13,499 

Prior period adjustments - 

At 1 April (restated) 19,814 13,499 

Transfers by absorption - - 

Net change in year 24,063 6,315 

At 31 March 43,877 19,814 

Broken down into:

Cash at commercial banks and in hand 253 155 

Cash with the Government Banking Service 43,624 19,659 

Deposits with the National Loan Fund - - 

Other current investments - - 

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 43,877 19,814 

Bank overdrafts (GBS and commercial banks) - - 

Drawdown in committed facility - - 

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF 43,877 19,814 

# Note 27.2 Third party assets held by the trust

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Bank balances - - 

Monies on deposit - - 

Total third party assets - - 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, in hand and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are readily 

convertible investments of known value which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust held cash and cash equivalents which relate to monies held by the 

Trust on behalf of patients or other parties and in which the trust has no beneficial interest. This has been excluded from 

the cash and cash equivalents figure reported in the accounts.
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Note 28.1 Trade and other payables

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Current 

Trade payables 13,548 5,060 

Capital payables 7,319 1,734 

Accruals 14,749 10,352 

Receipts in advance and payments on account - - 

PFI lifecycle replacement received in advance - - 

Social security costs 4,058 3,667 

VAT payables - - 

Other taxes payable 3,900 3,190 

PDC dividend payable - - 

Other payables 4,414 4,463 

Total current trade and other payables 47,988 28,466 

Non-current

Total non-current trade and other payables - - 

Of which payables from NHS and DHSC group bodies: 

Current 2,750 6,591 

Non-current - - 

Note 28.2 Early retirements in NHS payables above

The trust has no early retirements in NHS payables above.

Page 46 of 57



Note 29 Other liabilities

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Current 

Deferred income: contract liabilities 2,481 1,750 

Deferred grants - - 

Deferred PFI credits / income - - 

Lease incentives - - 

Other deferred income 13 - 

Total other current liabilities 2,494 1,750 

Non-current

Total other non-current liabilities - - 

Note 30.1 Borrowings

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Current 

Loans from DHSC 1,801 1,806 

Obligations under finance leases 38 44 

Total current borrowings 1,839 1,850 

Non-current

Loans from DHSC 12,984 14,756 

Obligations under finance leases 2,171 2,169 

Total non-current borrowings 15,155 16,925 
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Note 30.2 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities - 2020/21

Loans 

from 

DHSC

Other 

loans

Finance 

leases

PFI and 

LIFT 

schemes Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Carrying value at 1 April 2020 16,562 - 2,213 - 18,775 

Cash movements:

Financing cash flows - payments and receipts of 

principal (1,772) - (4) - (1,776)

Financing cash flows - payments of interest (463) - (158) - (621)

Non-cash movements:

Transfers by absorption - - - - - 

Additions - - - - - 

Application of effective interest rate 458 - 158 - 616 

Change in effective interest rate - - - - - 

Changes in fair value - - - - - 

Early terminations - - - - - 

Other changes - - - - - 

Carrying value at 31 March 2021 14,785 - 2,209 - 16,994 

Note 30.3 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities - 2019/20

Loans 

from 

DHSC

Other 

loans

Finance 

leases

PFI and 

LIFT 

schemes Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Carrying value at 1 April 2019 18,339 - 2,256 - 20,595 

Prior period adjustment - - - - - 

Carrying value at 1 April 2018 - restated 18,339 - 2,256 - 20,595 

Cash movements:

Financing cash flows - payments and receipts of 

principal (1,772) - (43) - (1,815)

Financing cash flows - payments of interest (501) - (165) - (666)

Non-cash movements:

Transfers by absorption - - - - - 

Additions - - - - - 

Application of effective interest rate 496 - 165 - 661 

Change in effective interest rate - - - - - 

Changes in fair value - - - - - 

Early terminations - - - - - 

Other changes - - - - - 

Carrying value at 31 March 2020 16,562 - 2,213 - 18,775 

Note 31 Other financial liabilities

The Trust has no other financial liabilities.
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# Note 32 Finance leases

# Note 32.1 Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust as a lessor

There are no future lease receipts due under finance lease agreements where 

Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust is the lessor.

# Note 32.2 Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust as a lessee

Obligations under finance leases where the trust is the lessee.

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Gross lease liabilities 11,336 11,498 

of which liabilities are due:

- not later than one year; 200 207 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 735 732 

- later than five years. 10,401 10,559 

Finance charges allocated to future periods (9,127) (9,285)

Net lease liabilities 2,209 2,213 

of which payable:

- not later than one year; 38 44 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 105 101 

- later than five years. 2,066 2,068 

Total of future minimum sublease payments to be received at the reporting date - - 

Contingent rent recognised as expense in the period (152) (151)
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# Note 33.1 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis 

Pensions: 

early 

departure 

costs

Pensions: 

injury 

benefits Legal claims Other Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

At 1 April 2020 853 1,678 145 1,087 3,764 

Transfers by absorption - - - - - 

Change in the discount rate 12 80 - 189 281 

Arising during the year 4 - 147 1,501 1,652 

Utilised during the year (123) (107) - - (230)

Reclassified to liabilities held in disposal groups - - - - - 

Reversed unused (6) (314) (16) - (336)

Unwinding of discount (4) (8) - - (12)

At 31 March 2021 736 1,329 276 2,777 5,119 

Expected timing of cash flows: 

- not later than one year; 121 79 276 375 851 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 433 414 - 1,126 1,973 

- later than five years. 182 836 0 1,276 2,295 

Total 736 1,329 276 2,777 5,119 

Pension costs are based upon known amounts that will have to be paid to the NHS Pension Agency in respect of staff who have retired 

early. By their very nature, provisions are estimates, though informed. For the calculation of pension and injury benefit liabilities, government 

actuary figures for expected mortality have been used and for legal claims, data is provided by the NHS Litigation Authority.

Other includes an estimate of the provisions arising under the clinicians pensions tax scheme. NHS England has used information provided 

by the Government Actuaries Department and NHS Business Services Authority to calculate an ‘average discounted value per nomination’. 

This figure per individual of £3,927 (2019/20: £3,345) has been multiplied by the number of eligible clinicians within the Trust and will be 

refined in future years.
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# Note 33.2 Clinical negligence liabilities

# Note 34 Contingent assets and liabilities

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Value of contingent liabilities 

NHS Litigation Authority legal claims (60) (47)

Gross value of contingent liabilities (60) (47)

Amounts recoverable against liabilities - - 

Net value of contingent liabilities (60) (47)

Net value of contingent assets - - 

# Note 35 Contractual capital commitments

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Property, plant and equipment 5,764 1,461 

Intangible assets - - 

Total 5,764 1,461 

# Note 36 Other financial commitments

The trust has no other financial commitments.

At 31 March 2021, £281,569k was included in provisions of NHS Litigation Authority in respect of clinical negligence 

liabilities of Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (31 March 2020: £245,768k).

The foundation trust has no contingent liabilities other than those advised by the NHSLA as at 31st March 2021 shown 

above.
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Note 37 Financial instruments

Note 37.1 Financial risk management

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or 

changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. Because of the continuing service provider relationship that the trust has 

with commissioners and the way those commissioners are financed, the trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by 

business entities. Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed 

companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The trust has some powers to borrow or invest surplus funds. 

Financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the 

trust in undertaking its activities.

The trust's treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the 

trust's standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the board of directors. The trust's treasury activity is subject to review by 

the trust's internal auditors.

Currency risk

The trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and 

sterling based. The trust has no overseas operations. The trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

Interest rate risk

The trust borrows from government for capital expenditure. The borrowings are for 1 – 25 years, in line with the life of the associated 

assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The trust therefore has low exposure to 

interest rate fluctuations.

Credit risk

Because the majority of the trust’s revenue comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the trust has low exposure to credit 

risk. The maximum exposures as at 31st March 2021 are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other 

receivables note to the accounts.

Liquidity risk

The trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), which are financed from 

resources voted annually by Parliament. The trust funds its capital expenditure from a combination of its own self-generated funds 

and capital investment loans with reference to NHS Improvement's Continuity of Services Risk Rating. The trust is not, therefore, 

exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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Note 37.2 Carrying values of financial assets

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2021

Held at 

amortised 

cost

Held at 

fair value 

through I&E

Held at 

fair value 

through OCI

Total 

book value

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 19,860 - - 19,860 

Other investments / financial assets - - - - 

Cash and cash equivalents 43,877 - - 43,877 

Total at 31 March 2021 63,737 - - 63,737 

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2020

Held at 

amortised 

cost

Held at 

fair value 

through I&E

Held at 

fair value 

through OCI

Total 

book value

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 32,351 - - 32,351 

Other investments / financial assets - - - - 

Cash and cash equivalents 19,814 - - 19,814 

Total at 31 March 2020 52,165 - - 52,165 

Note 37.3 Carrying values of financial liabilities

Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2021

Held at 

amortised 

cost

Held at 

fair value 

through I&E

Total 

book value

£000 £000 £000 

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 14,785 - 14,785 

Obligations under finance leases 2,209 - 2,209 

Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concession contracts - - - 

Other borrowings - - - 

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 35,693 - 35,693 

Other financial liabilities - - - 

Provisions under contract - - - 

52,687 - 52,687 

Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2020

Held at 

amortised 

cost

Held at 

fair value 

through I&E

Total 

book value

£000 £000 £000 

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 16,562 - 16,562 

Obligations under finance leases 2,213 - 2,213 

Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concession contracts - - - 

Other borrowings - - - 

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 17,540 - 17,540 

Other financial liabilities - - - 

Provisions under contract - - - 

36,315 - 36,315 Total at 31 March 2020

Total at 31 March 2021
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# Note 37.4 Maturity of financial liabilities

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020 restated*

£000 £000 

In one year or less 38,087 19,982 

In more than one year but not more than five years 6,559 7,687 

In more than five years 20,462 21,682 

Total 65,108 49,351 

# Note 37.5 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

There are no financial assets held at book value or fair value by the trust.

* This disclosure has previously been prepared using discounted cash flows. The comparatives have therefore been 

restated on an undiscounted basis.

The following maturity profile of financial liabilities is based on the contractual undiscounted cash flows. This differs to 

the amounts recognised in the statement of financial position which are discounted to present value.
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Note 38 Losses and special payments

Total 

number of 

cases

Total value 

of cases

Total 

number of 

cases

Total value 

of cases

Number £000 Number £000 

Losses

Cash losses - - - - 

Fruitless payments and constructive losses - - - - 

Bad debts and claims abandoned 56 334 - - 

Stores losses and damage to property - - - - 

Total losses 56 334 - - 

Special payments

Compensation under court order or legally binding 

arbitration award - - - - 

Extra-contractual payments - - - - 

Ex-gratia payments 36 70 62 65 

Special severance payments - - - - 

Extra-statutory and extra-regulatory payments - - - - 

Total special payments 36 70 62 65 

Total losses and special payments 92 404 62 65 

Compensation payments received - - 

2020/21 2019/20
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Note 39 Related parties

2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 £000 £000 

NHS West Sussex CCG (previously Horsham & Midsussex, Coastal West Sussex and Crawley 

CCGs) 785 3,528 449 4,602 

NHS England 2,335 12,235 1,557 11 

NHS Brighton and Hove CCG 58 127 - - 

NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCG - 239 - 144 

Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust 1,355 1,220 307 156 

Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 2,815 1,664 36 215 

Portsmouth Hospitals University NHS Trust (previously Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust) 1,096 1,176 35 96 

Health Education England 339 94 1,012 14 

NHS Litigation Authority - - 17 - 

Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust 2,047 2,173 - 2,079 

Western Sussex Hospitals Charities and Other Related Charities 139 17 - - 

Total 10,969 22,473 3,413 7,317 

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 £000 £000 

University of Sussex (related to Kirsten Baker, Non-Executive Director Adviser
1
) 347 238 - - 

St Barnabas Hospice (related to Mike Rymer, Non Executive Director
2
) - 291 - 9 

2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 £000 £000 

NHS West Sussex CCG (previously Horsham & Midsussex, Coastal West Sussex and Crawley 

CCGs) 376,845 342,748 449 - 

NHS England 80,925 73,962 23 32 

NHS Brighton and Hove CCG 6,828 6,412 - - 

NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCG 7,303 6,948 - - 

Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust 1,701 3,272 261 203 

Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 3,220 3,761 265 392 

Portsmouth Hospitals University NHS Trust (previously Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust) 3,838 4,090 241 483

Health Education England 13,764 13,494 - 3 

NHS Litigation Authority - - 16,193 14,230 

Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust 2,272 2,317 2,168 3,239 

Western Sussex Hospitals Charities and Other Related Charities 112 184 

Total 496,808 457,188 19,600 18,582 

Notes to the above

1) K Baker is a Member of Council at the University of Sussex.

2) M Rymer was a co-opted member of the Quality Assurance Committee at St Barnabas Hospice 

2019/20.

Income Expenditure

Income Expenditure

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as the parent Department of the trust and is therefore a related party.  During the year Western Sussex Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust has had a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for which the Department is regarded as the 

parent Department.  Material transactions with these entities are summarised in the tables below.  

On 1st April 2017, the trust (WSH) entered into a long-term agreement with NHS Improvement and Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust (BSUH).  This 

agreement provides for collaboration between the Trusts, including arrangements for board membership and governance in common, as well as the provision of 

management support to BSUH by WSH. The initial term of this agreement was for three years which was extended for a further year. On 1st April 2021 WSH acquired the 

assets & liabilities of BSUH under section 56A of the NHS Act 2006. The newly merged trust is known as University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust from this 

date.

Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Trust is sole corporate trustee of Western Sussex Hospitals Charitable Trust, from whom the Trust has received revenue and capital 

payments. 

Receivables Payables
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Note 40 Events after the reporting date

On 1 April 2021, Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust acquired the assets, liabilities and operations of Brighton and Sussex University 

Hospitals NHS Trust, forming University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust through merger by acquisition under section 56A of the NHS Act 2006.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS OF 
UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS SUSSEX  NHS FOUNDATION TRUST IN RESPECT OF 
THE 2020/21 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF WESTERN SUSSEX UNIVERSITY 
HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for the 
year ended 31 March 2021 which comprise the Trust Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Trust 
Statement of Financial Position, the Trust Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Trust  
Statement of Cash Flows, the Trust  Statement of changes in equity and the related notes 1 to 40, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2020/21 HM 
Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual (the 2020/21 FReM) to the extent that they are meaningful and 
appropriate to NHS foundation trusts. 
 
In our opinion the financial statements: 
 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of Western Sussex Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 2021 and of its income and expenditure and 
income for the year then ended; and 

• have been prepared properly in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care’s 
Group Accounting Manual 2020/21 and the directions under paragraphs 24 and 25 of 
Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012). 

 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report below. We are 
independent of the Foundation Trust in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard and the 
Comptroller and Auditor General’s (C&AG) AGN01 and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 
 
Emphasis of matter – Acquisition by merger of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS 
Trust, 1 April 2021 

We draw attention to Note 1 in relation to Going concern and Note 40 Events after the reporting date 
of the financial statements, which describes the acquisition by merger by the Foundation Trust of 
Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust on 1 April 2021 and the transfer of the Trust’s 
assets, liabilities and operations to University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust (the name of 
the new merged entity). Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Accountable Officer’s use of the 
going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the  Foundation 
Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of 12 months from when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. 



Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Accountable Officer with respect to going concern 
are described in the relevant sections of this report.  However, because not all future events or 
conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the Foundation Trust’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. 
 

Other information  

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  The directors are responsible for the other information 
contained within the annual report. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a 
material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are 
required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Code of Audit Practice issued by the NAO 
 
In our opinion: 

• the information given in the performance report and accountability report for the financial year 
for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; 
and 

  

• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff report identified as subject to audit has been properly 
prepared in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2020/21. 

 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
The Code of Audit Practice requires us to report to you if: 

• We issue a report in the public interest under schedule 10(3) of the National Health Service 

Act 2006; 

• We refer the matter to the regulator under schedule 10(6) of the National Health Service Act 

2006 because we have reason to believe that the Trust, or a director or officer of the Trust, is 

about to make, or has made, a decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or 

has taken, unlawful action likely to cause a loss or deficiency; 

• We are not satisfied that the Trust has put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources; 

• we have been unable to satisfy ourselves that the Annual Governance Statement, and other 

information published with the financial statements meets the disclosure requirements set out 

in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2020/21 and is not misleading or 

inconsistent with other information forthcoming from the audit; or 

• we have been unable to satisfy ourselves that proper practices have been observed in the 

compilation of the financial statements. 

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 

 



The NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2020/21 requires us to report to you if in our 
opinion, information in the Annual Report is: 

• materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements; or 

• apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge of the 

NHS Foundation Trust acquired in the course of performing our audit; or  

• otherwise misleading. 

 
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 

 
Responsibilities of Accountable Officer 
 
As explained more fully in the Accountable Officer’s responsibilities statement, the Accountable 
Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines  is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is 
responsible for assessing the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Council 
of Governors intend to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
As explained in the statement of the Accountable Officer's responsibilities, as the Accountable Officer 
of the Trust, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the Trust's resources. 

 
Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements.   
 
Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud  
 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or 
intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. The extent to which our procedures are capable 
of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below. However, the primary responsibility for the 
prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with governance of the entity and 
management. 

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Trust 
and determined that the most significant are the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by 
the Health and Social Care Act 2012), as well as relevant employment laws of the United Kingdom. In 
addition, the Trust has to comply with laws and regulations in the areas of anti-bribery and corruption, 
data protection and health & safety.  

We understood how Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust is complying with those 
frameworks by understanding the incentive, opportunities and motives for non-compliance, including 
inquiring of management, internal audit and those charged with governance and obtaining and 
reviewing documentation relating to the procedures in place to identify, evaluate and comply with laws 
and regulations, and whether they are aware of instances of non-compliance. We corroborated this 
through our review of the Trust’s board minutes and through enquiry of employees to verify Trust 
policies, and through the inspection of HR policies and other information. Based on this understanding 



we designed our audit procedures to identify non-compliance with such laws and regulations. Our 
procedures had a focus on compliance with the accounting framework through obtaining sufficient 
audit evidence in line with the level of risk identified and with relevant legislation. 

We assessed the susceptibility of the Trust’s financial statements to material misstatement, including 
how fraud might occur by understanding the potential incentives and pressures for management to 
manipulate the financial statements, and performed procedures to understand the areas in which this 
would most likely arise. Based on our risk assessment procedures, we identified manipulation of 
reported financial performance through improper recognition of revenue, inappropriate capitalisation 
of revenue expenditure and management override of controls to be our fraud risks.  

To address our fraud risk around the manipulation of reported financial performance through improper 
recognition of revenue, we reviewed the Trust’s manual year end receivables and payables accruals, 
challenging assumptions and corroborating the income to appropriate evidence. We tested year-end 
cut-off arrangements by selecting samples of income and expenditure from either side of the 31 
March 2021 balance sheet date and reviewing to supporting evidence to ensure these were recorded 
in the appropriate financial year. We also undertook cut-off testing of expenditure as at month 6 of the 
financial year to establish whether the Trust had incorrectly included expenditure relating to later 
months that would trigger reimbursement and top-up funding for that period of the financial year that it 
would otherwise not be entitled to.  

To address our fraud risk of inappropriate capitalisation of revenue expenditure we tested a sample of 
the Trust’s capitalised expenditure to ensure the capitalisation criteria were properly met and the 
expenditure was genuine. 

To address our fraud risk of management override of controls, we tested specific journal entries 
identified by applying risk criteria to the entire population of journals. For each journal selected, we 
tested specific transactions back to source documentation to confirm that the journals were authorised 
and accounted for appropriately. 

 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

 
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 

 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the 
guidance on the specified reporting criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 
2021, as to whether the Foundation Trust had proper arrangements for financial sustainability, 
governance and improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  The Comptroller and Auditor 
General determined these criteria as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit 
Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Foundation Trust put in place proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 
2021. 
 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, 
we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant 
respects, the Foundation Trust had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
 
We are required under schedule 10(1)(d) of the National Health Service Act 2006 to be satisfied that 
the Foundation Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to 
you if the Trust has not made proper arrangement for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in the use of resources.  
 
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Foundation 
Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are 
operating effectively. 

 
 



Certificate 
 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Western Sussex Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office on behalf of the 
Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG). 
  

 
Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of University Sussex Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust in accordance with Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006 and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the Council of Governors, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.  

 

 
Suresh Patel 
Ernst & Young LLP (Local auditor) 
Southampton 
15 June 2021 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 



 


